IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

INDICATE FULL CAPTION:

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC, No. 34402 Electronically Filed
— Aprig8202203:03 p.m.

Appellant, DOCKETING EiizabeinENBrown

VS. CIVIL AR p§ Supreme Court

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, DARCI
CREECY, TARYN CREECY, ISATIAH
KHOSROF, and LLOYD CREECY,

Respondents.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Appellants must complete this docketing statement in compliance with NRAP 14(a). The
purpose of the docketing statement is to assist the Supreme Court in screening jurisdiction,
identifying issues on appeal, assessing presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals under
NRAP 17, scheduling cases for oral argument and settlement conferences, classifying cases for
expedited treatment and assignment to the Court of Appeals, and compiling statistical
information.

WARNING

This statement must be completed fully, accurately and on time. NRAP 14(c). The Supreme
Court may impose sanctions on counsel or appellant if it appears that the information provided
1s incomplete or inaccurate. Id. Failure to fill out the statement completely or to file it in a
timely manner constitutes grounds for the imposition of sanctions, including a fine and/or
dismissal of the appeal.

A complete list of the documents that must be attached appears as Question 27 on this docketing
statement. Failure to attach all required documents will result in the delay of your appeal and
may result in the imposition of sanctions.

This court has noted that when attorneys do not take seriously their obligations under NRAP 14
to complete the docketing statement properly and conscientiously, they waste the valuable
judicial resources of this court, making the imposition of sanctions appropriate. See KDI Sylvan
Pools v. Workman, 107 Nev. 340, 344, 810 P.2d 1217, 1220 (1991). Please use tab dividers to
separate any attached documents.
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1. Judicial District Eighth Department 30

County Clark Judge Jerry Wiese

District Ct. Case No. A-19-788787-C

2. Attorney filing this docketing statement:

Attorney Adam Garth Telephone 702-693-4335

Firm Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP

Address 6385 S. Roainbow Blvd.,
Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89118

Client(s) VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC

If this is a joint statement by multiple appellants, add the names and addresses of other counsel and

the names of their clients on an additional sheet accompanied by a certification that they concur in the
filing of this statement.

3. Attorney(s) representing respondents(s):

Attorney Paul Padda Telephone 702-366-1888

Firm PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

Address 4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89103

Client(s) ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, DARCI CREECY, TARYN CREECY, ISATAH K

Attorney Telephone

Firm
Address

Client(s)

(List additional counsel on separate sheet if necessary)



4. Nature of disposition below (check all that apply):

[] Judgment after bench trial [] Dismissal:

[] Judgment after jury verdict [] Lack of jurisdiction

Summary judgment [] Failure to state a claim

[] Default judgment [] Failure to prosecute

Grant/Denial of NRCP 60(b) relief [] Other (specify):

[] Grant/Denial of injunction [ Divorce Decree:

[[] Grant/Denial of declaratory relief [] Original [] Modification

[] Review of agency determination X Other disposition (specify): Denial of Fees/Cost

5. Does this appeal raise issues concerning any of the following?

[] Child Custody
[] Venue

[] Termination of parental rights

6. Pending and prior proceedings in this court. List the case name and docket number
of all appeals or original proceedings presently or previously pending before this court which
are related to this appeal:

Supreme Court Case No. 82250

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA ex rel. THE
COUNTY OF CLARK, AND THE HONORABLE JUDGE JERRY A. WIESE 1I,
Respondent,

7. Pending and prior proceedings in other courts. List the case name, number and
court of all pending and prior proceedings in other courts which are related to this appeal
(e.g., bankruptcy, consolidated or bifurcated proceedings) and their dates of disposition:

None.



8. Nature of the action. Briefly describe the nature of the action and the result below:

This is a professional negligence case that arises out of the care and treatment Defendant
Valley Health System, LLC as well as co-defendant physicians provided to decedent Rebecca
Powell from May 3-11, 2017. Plaintiffs commenced their action in this matter on February
4, 2019 alleging professional negligence. NRS 41A.097(2) imposes a statute of limitations of
3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of
reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever occurs first.

CHH moved for summary judgment on September 2, 2020, which motion was denied by the
District Court on October 29, 2020. By way of writ petition to the Nevada Supreme Court,
the Supreme Court agreed to hear the writ petition. On October 18, 2021, the Nevada
Supreme Court issued an order granting the CHH’s writ petition and directing the Supreme
Court Clerk to issue a writ of mandamus directing this Court to vacate is order denying
CHH’s motion for summary judgment and enter summary judgment in favor of all
defendants. The District Court entered judgment in favor of Defendants on November 19,
2021, and the Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed the same day.

9. Issues on appeal. State concisely the principal issue(s) in this appeal (attach separate
sheets as necessary):

Summary judgment in favor of Defendants entitles them to an award of attorneys’ fees
pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. 17.117, and interpreting case authority. Moreover, NRS §§
7.085 and 18.010(2) along with EDCR 7.60 entitle CHH to costs and attorney fees due to the
Plaintiffs’ frivolous filing of a lawsuit 8 months after the statute of limitations expired, with
proof the exclusively provided, demonstrating that they possessed inquiry notice of the
alleged malpractice as early as the date of decedent’s death, but no later than June 11, 2017;
however, they chose to file a lawsuit in February, 2019, long after the one year statute of
limitations expired. Plaintiffs failed to timely move to retax costs, but the District Court
refused to award costs. Moreover, the District Court further denied Defendant Valley
Health's separate motion for costs and attorneys' fees. Both denials were a manifest abuse of
discretion in light of the evidence submitted in the motion and the memorandum of costs,
and further that the District Court refused to conduct a hearing at which all evidence of
costs and fees could be presented and disputed by Plaintiffs.

10. Pending proceedings in this court raising the same or similar issues. Ifyou are
aware of any proceedings presently pending before this court which raises the same or
similar issues raised in this appeal, list the case name and docket numbers and identify the
same or similar issue raised:

We are unaware of pending proceedings on these issues.



11. Constitutional issues. If this appeal challenges the constitutionality of a statute, and
the state, any state agency, or any officer or employee thereof is not a party to this appeal,
have you notified the clerk of this court and the attorney general in accordance with NRAP 44

and NRS 30.130?
N/A
[]Yes
[] No

If not, explain:

12. Other issues. Does this appeal involve any of the following issues?

[] Reversal of well-settled Nevada precedent (identify the case(s))
[] An issue arising under the United States and/or Nevada Constitutions
[] A substantial issue of first impression

[] An issue of public policy

An issue where en banc consideration is necessary to maintain uniformity of this
court's decisions

[] A ballot question
If so, explain: N/A



13. Assignment to the Court of Appeals or retention in the Supreme Court. Briefly
set forth whether the matter is presumptively retained by the Supreme Court or assigned to
the Court of Appeals under NRAP 17, and cite the subparagraph(s) of the Rule under which
the matter falls. If appellant believes that the Supreme Court should retain the case despite
its presumptive assignment to the Court of Appeals, identify the specific issue(s) or circum-
stance(s) that warrant retaining the case, and include an explanation of their importance or
significance:

This appeal may be assigned to the Court of Appeals in accordance with NRAP 17(b)(5) and
(7) in that it involves the District Court's refusal to sign a judgment for costs which were
undisputed by plaintiff after the Supreme Court's reversal of the District Court and granting
Defendants' motion for summary judgment, as well as for a separate motion for additional
costs and attorneys' fees for Plaintiffs' initiation and maintenance of a case which they knew
was filed well beyond the statute of limitations for which they had inquiry notice more than
one year before the commencement of the action.

14. Trial. If this action proceeded to trial, how many days did the trial last? O

Was it a bench or jury trial? N/A

15. Judicial Disqualification. Do you intend to file a motion to disqualify or have a
justice recuse him/herself from participation in this appeal? If so, which Justice?
No.



TIMELINESS OF NOTICE OF APPEAL

16. Date of entry of written judgment or order appealed from Feb 15, 2022

If no written judgment or order was filed in the district court, explain the basis for
seeking appellate review:

17. Date written notice of entry of judgment or order was served Feb 16, 2022

Was service by:
[] Delivery
Mail/electronic/fax

18. If the time for filing the notice of appeal was tolled by a post-judgment motion
(NRCP 50(b), 52(b), or 59)
(a) Specify the type of motion, the date and method of service of the motion, and
the date of filing.

] NRCP 50(b) Date of filing
] NRCP 52(b) Date of filing

[ NRCP 59 Date of filing

NOTE: Motions made pursuant to NRCP 60 or motions for rehearing or reconsideration may toll the
time for filing a notice of appeal. See AA Primo Builders v. Washington, 126 Nev. , 245
P.3d 1190 (2010).

(b) Date of entry of written order resolving tolling motion

(c) Date written notice of entry of order resolving tolling motion was served

Was service by:
[] Delivery
[] Mail



19. Date notice of appeal filed Mar 14, 2022

If more than one party has appealed from the judgment or order, list the date each
notice of appeal was filed and i1dentify by name the party filing the notice of appeal:

20. Specify statute or rule governing the time limit for filing the notice of appeal,
e.g., NRAP 4(a) or other

NRAP 4(a), NRCP 60 & See AA Primo Builders v. Washington, 126 Nev. , 245 P.3d 1190

SUBSTANTIVE APPEALABILITY

21. Specify the statute or other authority granting this court jurisdiction to review
the judgment or order appealed from:

(a)
NRAP 3A(Db)(1) ] NRS 38.205
[] NRAP 3A(b)(2) ] NRS 233B.150
] NRAP 3A(b)(3) ] NRS 703.376

X Other (specify) NRCP 58(b)(1)

(b) Explain how each authority provides a basis for appeal from the judgment or order:
NRCP 58 calls for entry of judgment which must be signed and approved by the court which
the District Court refused to sign.

NRAP 3A(b)(1) is a final judgment of the District Court which denied a request for costs and
fees after dismissal of plaintiffs' case pursuant to a writ of mandamus by this Court issued
on October 18, 2021 directing entry of summary judgment by the District Court due to its
manifest abuse of discretion in failing to grant summary judgment to Defendants.



22. List all parties involved in the action or consolidated actions in the district court:
(a) Parties:
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through BRIAN POWELL, as Special

Administrator; DARCI CREECY; TARYN CREECY, ISATAH KHOSROF, LLOYD
CREECY, Plaintiffs.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC, DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO, M.D., DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D.; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., Defendants.

(b) If all parties in the district court are not parties to this appeal, explain in detail why
those parties are not involved in this appeal, e.g., formally dismissed, not served, or
other:

DR. DIONICE S. JULIANO, M.D., DR. CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D.; DR.
VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D. are not parties to this appeal due to their own separate
motion pertaining to costs and fees and a memorandum of costs. Plaintiffs are

pursuing a separate appeal which granted said Defendants' costs and fees in part
in Case No. 84424.

23. Give a brief description (3 to 5 words) of each party's separate claims,
counterclaims, cross-claims, or third-party claims and the date of formal
disposition of each claim.

Plaintiffs - claims dismissed on summary judgment

Defendant Valley Heath System, LLC - judgment per memorandum of costs denied and
motion for costs and fees denied.

24. Did the judgment or order appealed from adjudicate ALL the claims alleged
below and the rights and liabilities of ALL the parties to the action or consolidated
actions below?

Yes
[1 No

25. If you answered "No" to question 24, complete the following:

(a) Specify the claims remaining pending below:
N/A



(b) Specify the parties remaining below:
N/A

(c) Did the district court certify the judgment or order appealed from as a final judgment
pursuant to NRCP 54(b)?

[]Yes
X No

(d) Did the district court make an express determination, pursuant to NRCP 54(b), that
there is no just reason for delay and an express direction for the entry of judgment?

[]Yes
X No

26. If you answered "No" to any part of question 25, explain the basis for seeking
appellate review (e.g., order is independently appealable under NRAP 3A(b)):
Order is independently appealable under NRAP 3(A)(b) as it pertains to costs owed in
accordance with N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), and EDCR 7.60 after final
disposition of plaintiffs' case and dismissal of all of plaintiffs' claims.

27. Attach file-stamped copies of the following documents:

e The latest-filed complaint, counterclaims, cross-claims, and third-party claims

e Any tolling motion(s) and order(s) resolving tolling motion(s)

e Orders of NRCP 41(a) dismissals formally resolving each claim, counterclaims, cross-
claims and/or third-party claims asserted in the action or consolidated action below,
even if not at issue on appeal
Any other order challenged on appeal
Notices of entry for each attached order



VERIFICATION

I declare under penalty of perjury that I have read this docketing statement, that
the information provided in this docketing statement is true and complete to the

best of my knowledge, information and belief, and that I have attached all required
documents to this docketing statement.

Valley Health System LLC Adam Garth

Name of appellant Name of counsel of record
Apr 18, 2022 /s/ Adam Garth

Date Signature of counsel of record

Clark County, Nevada
State and county where signed

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I certify that on the 18th day of April , 2022 , I served a copy of this

completed docketing statement upon all counsel of record:

[] By personally serving it upon him/her; or

By mailing it by first class mail with sufficient postage prepaid to the following
address(es): (NOTE: If all names and addresses cannot fit below, please list names
below and attach a separate sheet with the addresses.)

Dated this 18th day of April , 2022

/s/ Heidi Brown
Signature




Defendant Valley Health
System, LLC d/b/a Centennial
Hills Hospital Medical
Center’s Motion for
Reconsideration Regarding its
Motion for Attorneys’ Fees
Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68,
N.R.S.8817.117, 7.085,
18.010(2), and E.C.R. 7.60
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Electronically Filed
2/23/2022 12:48 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
MRCN Cﬁi«n—f‘ 'ﬁ;“""""

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical

Center
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No.: 30
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as | DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually; SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S
Plaintiffs, MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION
REGARDING ITS MOTION FOR
VS. ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO

N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085,
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60

business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; HEARING REQUESTED
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

Defendants by and through their counsel of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of the
Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, hereby file their Motion for Attorneys’
Fees Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

This Motion is based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities below, the pleadings
and papers on file herein, any oral argument which may be entertained by the Court at the hearing

of this matter and the Declaration of Adam Garth, below.

4889-5292-6479.1

Case Number: A-19-788787-C



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

DATED this 23" day of February, 2022

4889-5292-6479.1

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By

/s/ Adam Garth

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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DECLARATION OF ADAM GARTH IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’
FEES

I, Adam Garth, declare under penalty of perjury as follows:

1. I am a partner at Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP, and am duly licensed to
practice law in the State of Nevada. I am competent to testify to the matters set forth herein, and
will do so if called upon.

2. I am one of the attorneys of record representing Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center (“Defendant” or “CHH”) in the above-entitled
action, currently pending in Department 30 of the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State of
Nevada, Case No. A-19-788787-C.

3. I make this Declaration on behalf of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM,
LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION FOR
RECONSIDERATION REGARDING ITS MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO
N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60.

4. I have been counsel of record for Defendants for much of this case, including for all
times that fees are being sought with this Motion for post-NRCP Rule 68 fees and costs, and much
pre-NRCP Rule 68 fees and costs.

5. On August 28, 2020, Defendant served an Offer of Judgment on Plaintiff pursuant
to N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. 17.115", and Busick v. Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437 P.3d
1050 (2019) for a waiver of any presently or potentially recoverable costs in full and final settlement
of the matter. At the time of the Offer, Defendants’ expended costs and fees totaled $58,514.36.
The Offer was not accepted by Plaintiff and expired on September 11, 2020.

6. Since the date the Offer of Judgment: I billed 405.6 hours for a total charge to the
client of $91,260; S. Brent Vogel, Esq. billed 39.8 hours for a total charge to the client of $8,955;
Heather Armantrout, Esq. billed 33.1 hours for a total charge to the client of $6,404.85. I have
personal knowledge of Mr. Vogel and Ms. Armantrout’s work on this matter and I have personally

reviewed their billing entries for the time period in question.

! Currently N.R.S. 17.117.

4889-5292-6479.1 3
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7. Since the date of the Offer of Judgment, paralegals in my office have billed the
following in this matter: Arielle Atkinson billed 46.9 hours for a total charge to the client of $4,221;
and Joshua Daor billed 0.1 hours for a total charge to the client of $9. I have personal knowledge
of Ms. Atkinson and Mr. Daor’s work on this matter, and I have personally reviewed their billing
entries for the time period in question.

8. The billing records are attached hereto along with all costs and disbursements
incurred in this case which are true and accurate copies of said records and are maintained in the
course of our firm’s business®.

0. I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

FURTHER YOUR DECLARANT SAYETH NAUGHT.
/s/Adam Garth
Adam Garth, Esq.

No notarization required pursuant to NRS 53.045

2 Exhibit “E” hereto

4889-5292-6479.1 4
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is a professional negligence case that arises out of the care and treatment Defendant
Valley Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center (“Defendant” or “CHH”)
as well as co-defendant physicians provided to decedent Rebecca Powell from May 3-11, 2017.

CHH moved this Court on November 22, 2021 for $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per
N.R.C.P.68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant
to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.> Plaintiffs opposed said motion,* with a reply by
CHH interposed in further support of its motion.’

By order of this Court dated, February 15, 2022 and served with notice of entry on February
16, 2022.° this Court denied CHH’s motion, claiming that it was not sufficiently supported with
invoices and billing statements reflecting every moment of work performed on this case, that
somehow the declaration of an officer of the Court attesting to the hours spent by all timekeepers
on this case was insufficient. Additionally, this Court denied the request to conduct an in camera
hearing at which time any supporting evidence could be presented before opposing counsel and the
Court without having to publicly trot out CHH’s private bills and expenses related hereto. Annexed
hereto are 195 pages of bills and invoices reflecting every moment of professional time billed on
this matter, all invoices from medical experts necessarily engaged to defend CHH, as well as all
other costs and disbursements attendant to this litigation.” As is plainly evident from this evidence,
CHH incurred substantial costs associated with the defense of this case. Plaintiffs not only lost, but

after having caused CHH to litigate this case, but also forced the case to proceed during a lengthy

3 Exhibit “A” hereto
4 Exhibit “B” hereto
> Exhibit “C” hereto
6 Exhibit “D” hereto
7 Exhibit “E” hereto

4889-5292-6479.1 5
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appeal incurring even greater expense. Said appeal resulted in a final determination that the
evidence which Plaintiffs exclusively possessed demonstrated that this lawsuit was void from its
inception. A price must be paid for flagrantly untenable pursuits.

There are two issues afoot which this Court conflated, namely the memorandum of costs and
disbursements previously submitted totaling $42,492.038, an amount which is undisputed, and for
which this Court has refused to sign a judgment,” and the additional costs, disbursements and
attorneys fees addressed by CHH’s instant motion and the initial motion which sought $110,930.85
in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees
and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. As a further reminder, this
Court previously denied Plaintiffs’ motion to extend time to retax costs'” attendant to the
memorandum of costs for the aforenoted $42,492.03,!! an amount which itself is undisputed and for
which a judgment must be signed and entered.

Additionally, this Court implied that the amount of attorneys’ fees specified in CHH’s
motion is somehow excessive, by asserting that it far exceeded those of co-defense counsel is
concerning.'> CHH’s counsel spearheaded considerable motions and engaged in extensive appellate
practice due to this Court’s refusal to either dismiss this case from its inception, or at the very least,
grant summary judgment when the uncontroverted evidence necessitated that result. These
extraordinary legal fees resulted from having to engage in extensive discovery, engaging multiple
experts due to the Plaintiffs’ blunderbuss of allegations, the law of ostensible agency which
implicated CHH in any alleged negligence of any physician credentialed at its hospital, the multiple

stays this Court denied while the appeal was pending, coupled with Plaintiffs’ counsel’s refusal to

8 Exhibit “F” hereto
? Exhibit “G” hereto
19 Exhibit “H” hereto
' Exhibit “F”

12 Exhibit “D”, p. 11

4889-5292-6479.1 6
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consent to a stay of proceedings while the appeal was pending. All of these actions combined with
the finding of the Supreme Court that this Court manifestly abused its discretion in failing to grant
summary judgment in the wake of the overwhelming evidence requiring dismissal is what brought
us to this place. Plaintiffs’ counsel and his clients cost CHH over $200,000. CHH did not
commence these proceedings, Plaintiffs did. CHH did cause itself to incur huge amounts of legal
fees and costs due to Plaintiffs’ untimely lawsuit, Plaintiff did. CHH should not have to underwrite
a frivolous lawsuit which was given breath in the wake of overwhelming evidence that dismissal
was not only warranted, but required.

What is more concerning is the finding that “the Court notes that although the Court found
insufficient evidence to establish irrefutably that the statute of limitations had expired, Defense
counsel was successful in convincing the Supreme Court of that, and consequently, Defendants
prevailed.”"® The record needs to be corrected here — there was no convincing the Supreme Court
of anything. The Supreme Court reviewed the entirety of the record, the same one that was before
this Court. The Supreme Court held that this Court “manifestly abused its discretion when it denied
summary judgment.”

A manifest abuse of discretion is "[a] clearly erroneous interpretation of the

law or a clearly erroneous application of a law or rule." Steward v. McDonald,

330 Ark. 837, 958 S.W.2d 297, 300 (Ark. 1997); see Jones Rigging and

Heavy Hauling v. Parker, 347 Ark. 628, 66 S.W.3d 599, 602 (Ark. 2002)

(stating that a manifest abuse of discretion "is one exercised improvidently or

thoughtlessly and without due consideration"); Blair v. Zoning Hearing Hd.

of Tp. of Pike, 676 A.2d 760, 761 (Pa. Commw. Ct. 1996) ("[M]anifest abuse

of discretion does not result from a mere error in judgment, but occurs when

the law is overridden or misapplied, or when the judgment exercised is
manifestly unreasonable or the result of partiality, prejudice, bias or ill will.").

State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court of Nev., 127 Nev. 927, 932, 267 P.3d 777, 780 (2011). Under

13 Court’s February 15, 2022 order, pp. 11-12

4889-5292-6479.1 7
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the Supreme Court’s own definition, a manifest abuse of discretion is one where a court so
erroneously interprets the law or rule, or where the result is so unreasonable that it demonstrates
prejudice, partiality or bias that it must be corrected. Such is the case here. In light of the Supreme
Court’s finding in this regard, it remains abundantly clear that this matter was frivolously brought
and frivolously maintained. Under those circumstances, the law provides for and even requires the
recovery of costs, disbursements and attorneys’ fees. To deny same disregards the Supreme Court’s
conclusion as well as the laws and cases interpreting them requiring the impositions of costs and
attorneys’ fees on the counsel who perpetrated the frivolous action.

Therefore, we end the introduction where we began. CHH submitted its memorandum of
costs and disbursements.!* That memorandum was not challenged. Plaintiffs missed the deadline
for doing so, and this Court agreed and denied Plaintiffs an extension of time to retax costs.'” By
so doing, CHH’s memorandum of costs is unopposed and a judgment is required to be signed and
entered stemming directly therefrom.'® This Court cannot revisit an issue which has been finally
decided and therefore, at a minimum, a judgment for the unchallenged $42,492.03 in statutory costs
and disbursements must be signed.!”

Separate and apart from the $42,492.03, are the additional costs, disbursements and fees to
which the underlying motion was addressed. In light of the Supreme Court’s findings, as well as
the materials annexed hereto, additional costs, disbursements and attorneys’ fees are more than
warranted and justified to the extent of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§
17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 7.085,

18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

14 Exhibit “F”
" Exhibit “H”
16 Exhibit “F”
171d.
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As previously noted in CHH’s prior motion on this issue, Plaintiffs made multiple allegations
concerning the cause of death. First, Plaintiffs asserted that Ms. Powell died from a Cymbalta
overdose and that the administration of the Ativan to calm her during her CT procedure suppressed
her breathing which caused her death. In order to debunk those theories, CHH engaged Dr. Ruffalo,
a pharmacology and anesthesiology expert, whose report completely eviscerated Plaintiffs’
accusations in this regard. This forced Plaintiffs to abandon their initial theory of the case as outlined
in their Complaint and concoct another unsupported liability theory. Dr. Ruffalo’s itemized bills
are attached hereto documenting his extensive review of the records, his research of applicable
literature supportive of his findings, and his drafting of both an initial expert report and rebuttal
report addressing the respective Plaintiffs’ experts accusations.!® His bills alone total $16,500."

Second, Plaintiffs implicated the care and treatment rendered by critical care physicians and
hospitalist physicians credentialed by CHH but not employed by CHH. Under the ostensible agency
theory, CHH would potentially be vicariously liable for any alleged professional negligence of these
individuals. As such, CHH needed to employ the services of Abraham Ishaaya, MD, a critical care
physician, and Hiren Shah, MD, a hospitalist, in order to review the care and treatment provided to
Ms. Powell by their respective counterparts in order to debunk the allegations leveled by Plaintiffs
against physicians in those respective specialties. Dr. Shah did not provide us bills for his services,
so those were not included in this motion. Dr. Ishaaya did provide his itemized bills which are
referenced herein.?® Drs. Shah and Ishaaya each demonstrated that the theories upon which
Plaintiffs based their lawsuit were unsubstantiated by medical science. They each conducted
comprehensive reviews of the decedent’s medical records and reviewed the theories and literature

propounded by Plaintiffs’ experts. This took a substantial amount of time. Dr. Ishaaya’s bills total

18 Exhibit “E”, pp. 17, 38, 128
9 1d.
20 Exhibit “E”, pp. 25, 39, 105, 138, 171 and 195
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$25,355.2!

When Plaintiffs’ first theory of a drug overdose by CHH and others was completely
debunked, Plaintiffs had to scramble to manufacture another theory for which they ultimately lacked
medical support. CHH’s experts even forced Plaintiffs’ experts to agree that Ms. Powell’s cause of
death was an acute event which could not have been predicted, thus destroying any notion that CHH
or anyone for whom it may have been vicariously liable, was in any way responsible for Ms.
Powell’s death.

Additionally, Plaintiffs interposed some half-baked economic loss theory based upon Brian
Powell’s supplemental interrogatory response where he merely guessed at Ms. Powell’s prior
earnings. To that end, Plaintiffs interposed an “expert report” from an economist based solely upon
the unsubstantiated guesswork of a party to this action. CHH needed to interpose a rebuttal to
Plaintiffs’ economist to discredit the unsubstantiated income theory proffered by them. Erik Volk
was engaged to do exactly that. His invoices to review of Plaintiffs’ expert report and draft a rebuttal
thereto have also been provided.?? Invoices from Mr. Volk total $4,544.10.2 Thus, expert fees
alone, without Dr. Shah’s bills, total $46,399.10.

Previously provided to this Court on the original motion were the initial expert and rebuttal
reports from CHH’s four experts which specifically addressed the allegations made by Plaintiffs as
implicated by their respective specialties.?*

As for the amount of attorneys fees and hours billed by all timekeepers in this case, as well
as other related disbursements including court filing fees and other related expenses, CHH provides

195 pages of billing records® substantiating the hundreds of hours devoted to defending CHH

21 d.

22 Exhibit “E”, pp. 146-150, 162-166
2 d.

24 Exhibit “D” to Exhibit “C” hereto
* Exhibit “E”
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against Plaintiffs’ folly. These records include time devoted to preparation and propounding of
extensive written discovery to Plaintiffs, correspondence directed at Plaintiffs lack of proper
responses to said discovery, CHH’s responses to Plaintiffs’ multiple discovery devices, consultation
with experts regarding standard of care and causation opinions, strategizing with co-defense counsel
pertaining to the dismissal of the Plaintiffs’ case, moving this Court for summary judgment, moving
this Court twice for a stay of proceedings pending the appeal, interposing a writ application to the
Nevada Supreme Court, moving for a stay in the Nevada Supreme Court, preparing for a mediation
which was eventually obviated by the Supreme Court’s decision which included the preparation of
an extensive mediation brief, as well as the collection of Plaintiffs’ prior medical records and
analysis of more than 1100 pages of records from CHH concerning Ms. Powell’s subject hospital
stay.

In essence, this was a Herculean effort to defend a case on multiple tracks — (1) litigation in
this Court due to the forced push to trial when summary judgment should have been clearly granted,
and (2) in the Nevada Supreme Court to present the overwhelming and obvious evidence which was
ignored in CHH’s motion for summary judgment regarding Plaintiffs’ possession of irrefutable
evidence of inquiry notice to commence the running of the statute of limitations. CHH’s costs, fees
and disbursements (which are unrelated to the undisputed $42,492.03 for which a judgment must be
entered) total $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36
in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60 (a
total of $169,445.21). When added to the undisputed $42,492.03, CHH incurred $211,937.24 n
costs, fees and disbursements.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. A Motion to Reconsider is Both Timely And Appropriate

EDCR 2.24 states in pertinent part:

4889-5292-6479.1 11
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(a) No motion once heard and disposed of may be renewed in the same

cause, nor may the same matters therein embraced be reheard, unless by leave

of the court granted upon motion therefor, after notice of such motion to the

adverse parties.

(b) A party seeking reconsideration of a ruling of the court, other than any

order that may be addressed by motion pursuant to NRCP 50(b), 52(b), 59 or

60, must file a motion for such relief within 14 days after service of written

notice of the order or judgment unless the time is shortened or enlarged by

order.

The implicated order was served with notice of entry on February 16, 2022 (Exhibit “D”)
making this motion timely.

“A district court may reconsider a previously decided issue if substantially different evidence
is subsequently introduced or the decision is clearly erroneous.” Masonry & Tile Contractors v.
Jolley, Urga & Wirth Ass'n, 113 Nev. 737, 741, 941 P.2d 486, 489 (1997). Based upon the evidence
attached hereto and which was originally submitted to this Court in support of CHH’s motion, CHH
requests that this Court reconsider its order and impose the additional $169,445.21 in costs,
disbursements and attorneys’ fees attendant to the defense of this case, over and above the
$42,492.03 in undisputed costs and disbursements to which CHH is entitled by law and for which
this Court denied Plaintiffs’ motion to retax. Moreover, this Court must sign the judgment for CHH’s

$42,492.03 in undisputed costs. See, NRCP 58(b)(1).

B. An Award of Attorneys’ Fees is Appropriate

Plaintiffs rejected CHH’s Offer of Judgment and then failed to obtain a more favorable
judgment. Therefore, CHH is entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees under N.R.C.P. 68(f) and N.R.S.
17.117(10).

Rule 68 (1), Penalties for Rejection of Offer, provides as follows:

(1) In general. If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more
favorable judgment:

4889-5292-6479.1 12
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(B) the offeree must pay the offeror’s post-offer costs and expenses,
including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for
each expert witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare for
and conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the judgment from the
time of the offer to the time of entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney
fees, if any be allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of
the offer.

Similarly, N.R.S. 17.117, Offers of judgment, provides:

(10) If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable
judgment:

(a) The offeree may not recover any costs, expenses or attorney’s fees
and may not recover interest for the period after the service of the offer and
before the judgment; and

(b) The offeree must pay the offeror’s post-offer costs and expenses,

including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for

each expert witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare for

and conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the judgment from the

time of the offer to the time of the entry of the judgment and reasonable

attorney’s fees, if any allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time

of the offer.

This Court has discretion under N.R.C.P. 68(f) and N.R.S. 17.117(10) to award attorneys’
fees when the offeror prevailed and the offeree failed to obtain a more favorable judgment. While
exercising this discretion, a Court must consider the following factors: (1) whether the offeree
brought his claims in good faith; (2) whether the offeror’s offer of judgment was also brought in
good faith in both timing and amount; (3) whether the offeree’s decision to reject the offer of
judgment was in bad faith or grossly unreasonable; and (4) whether the amount of offeror’s
requested fees is reasonable and justified. Schouweiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 833, 917 P.2d
786 (1985). To not award costs and fees in light of the overwhelming evidence in this case directly
violates the very purpose of the statutes allowing for same.

The circumstances of CHH’s Offer of Judgment (premised on the waiver of an existing or

potential right to attorneys’ fees and costs) was accepted and analyzed as a proper Offer of Judgment

by the Nevada Supreme Court in Busick v. Trainer, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437 P.3d 1050
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(2019). In Busick, the Court upheld the trial court’s award of attorneys’ fees and costs to the
defendant following a verdict in favor of the defendant/physician. Id. at *6-7.

Generally, the “district court may not award attorney fees absent authority under a statute,
rule, or contract.” Albios v. Horizon Cmtys., Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022 (2006).
Pursuant to N.R.S. 17.115 [the predecessor to N.R.S. 17.117] and N.R.C.P. 68, “a party is entitled
to recover certain costs and reasonable attorney fees that it incurs after the making an unimproved-
upon offer of judgment.” Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 268, 350 P.3d 1139 (2015).

In this case, CHH served an Offer of Judgment on Plaintiffs for waiver of any presently or
potentially recoverable costs in full and final settlement of the claims. Plaintiffs rejected this Offer
of Judgment by failing to accept it within 14 days. N.RC.P. 68(e) and N.R.S. 17.117(6). As this
Court was directed by the Supreme Court to vacate its order denying summary judgment to CHH
and instead issue an order granting CHH’s summary judgment motion, Plaintiffs failed to obtain
more a favorable judgment than the one offered to them in CHH’s Offer of Judgment. Thus,
pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.117, this Court has discretion to award CHH its attorneys’
fees.

All factors to be considered in awarding attorneys’ fees under the current circumstances
weigh in favor of Defendants. First, Plaintiffs did not bring his claims against CHH in good faith.
The Nevada Supreme Court confirmed this fact by finding as follows:

Here, irrefutable evidence demonstrates that the real parties in interest

were on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017 at the latest, when real party in

interest Brian Powell, special administrator for the estate, filed a complaint

with the State Board of Nursing. There, Brian alleged that the decedent,

Rebecca Powell, "went into respiratory distress" and her health care providers

did not appropriately monitor her, abandoning her care and causing her death.

Thus, Brian's own allegations in this Board complaint demonstrate that he had

enough information to allege a prima facie claim for professional negligence-

that in treating Rebecca, her health care providers failed "to use the reasonable

care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by

similarly trained and experienced providers of health care." NRS 41A.015
(defining professional negligence); Winn, 128 Nev. at 252-53; 277 P.3d at
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462 (explaining that a "plaintiffs general belief that someone's negligence
may have caused his or her injury" triggers inquiry notice).> That the real
parties in interest received Rebecca's death certificate 17 days later,
erroneously listing her cause of death as suicide, does not change this
conclusion.* Thus, the real parties in interest had until June 11, 2018, at the
latest, to file their professional negligence claim. Therefore, their February 4,
2019 complaint was untimely.

3 The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry
notice even earlier. For example, real parties in interest
had observed in real time, following a short period of
recovery, the rapid deterioration of Powell's health while
in petitioners' care. Additionally, Brian had filed a
complaint with the Nevada Department of Health and
Human Services (NDHHS) on or before May 23, 2017.
Similar to the Nursing Board complaint, this complaint
alleged facts, such as the petitioners' failure to upgrade
care, sterilize sutures properly, and monitor Powell, that
suggest he already believed, and knew of facts to support
his belief, that negligent treatment caused Powell's death
by the time he made these complaints to NDHHS and the
Nursing Board.

4 The real parties in interest do not adequately address
why tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing
that the limitation period for a professional negligence claim
"is tolled for any period during which the provider of health
care has concealed any act, error or omission upon which the
action is based"). Even if they did, such an argument would be
unavailing, as the medical records provided were sufficient for
their expert witness to conclude that petitioners were negligent
in Powell's care. See Winn, 128 Nev. at 255, 277 P.3d at 464
(holding that tolling under NRS 41A.097(3) is only
appropriate where the intentionally concealed medical records
were "material" to the professional negligence claims).
Finally, we have not extended the doctrine of equitable tolling
to NRS 41A.097(2), and the real parties in interest do not
adequately address whether such an application is appropriate
under these facts. See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden Rest., 122
Nev. 317,330n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006) (refusing
to consider arguments that a party did not cogently argue or
support with relevant authority).

Given that uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that the petitioners
are entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the complaint is
time-barred under NRS 41A.097(2), see NRCP 56(a); Wood, 121 Nev. at 729,
121 P.3d at 1029 (recognizing that courts must grant summary judgment
when the pleadings and all other evidence on file, viewed in a light most
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favorable to the nonmoving party, "demonstrate that no genuine issue as to

any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a

judgment as a matter of law" (internal quotations omitted)) . . .2

This Court correctly found that CHH’s offer of judgment was made in good faith and its
timing was proper.?’” However, this Court erroneously found “Plaintiff’s decision to reject the offer
and proceed to trial was not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith. Plaintiffs believed they had a valid
claim, and the Court cannot find that wanting some recovery, as opposed to $0.00, to be ‘grossly
unreasonable’ or in ‘bad faith>.”?® This finding is unreasonable in light of the Supreme Court’s
conclusions in this case. The Supreme Court determined that Plaintiffs were certainly on notice of
any alleged malpractice no more than one month after decedent’s death. The Court also determined
that the very records upon which Plaintiffs based their case were in their possession long before the
statute of limitations expired and that they knowingly initiated complaints to State agencies
manifesting definitive knowledge and belief of malpractice. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs chose to initiate
a lawsuit which was dead on arrival, continued to maintain it even after irrefutable evidence
demonstrated its untenability, and then used every opportunity to prevent the expenditure of
additional resources in order to prove the impropriety of the lawsuit. Plaintiffs were given every
opportunity to exit the matter gracefully, but they instead chose to pursue an untenable claim, with
knowledge they were doing so, utilizing an attorney who presented no evidence supportive of his
own personal theories, and did all of this to the financial detriment of CHH. There is a price to be

paid for that, and the statutes and case law cited above, coupled with the clear findings of the

Supreme Court, entitle CHH to be compensated, at least in part, for their losses.?’

26 Exhibit “B” to Exhibit “A” hereto, pp. 3-5 (emphasis supplied)

27 Exhibit “D” hereto, p. 11

28 1d.

2 Pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 17.117, CHH normally does not get compensated for
approximately $60,000 in pre-offer of judgment expenses it incurred, but based upon statutes and
cases cited hereinbelow, Defendants are requesting these very pre-Rule 68 costs and fees.
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Second, this Court already correctly found that CHH’s Offer of Judgment was brought in
good faith in both timing and amount. At the time of the Offer, CHH incurred over $58,000 in costs
defending Plaintiffs’ claims. The Offer was served several days prior to CHH’s motion for summary
judgment and about 1 % years from the lawsuit’s commencement. Moreover, Plaintiffs were in
possession of CHH’s respective requests for production of documents and interrogatories six weeks
prior to the motion for summary judgment having been filed, and produced they produced the
“smoking gun” documents demonstrating irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice prior to the motion
for summary judgment having been made and even while said motion was pending before this Court
prior to the final submission of the motion. Plaintiffs were on notice of the statute of limitations
issues even as early as the motion to dismiss made by predecessor counsel in July, 2019, just months
after commencing this action, yet thy still pursued their untenable claim while in full possession of
the documents which defeated it. That is bad faith, pure and simple. Given the likelihood of
Plaintiffs losing on this issue, the offered waiver of the right to seek reimbursement of costs was
reasonable in both timing and amount, especially given the multiple opportunities for Plaintiffs to
be on notice of the issue. Annexed hereto are all of the supporting documents demonstrating all
work and expenses incurred in this matter.*°

Third, Plaintiffs’ decision to reject the Offer of Judgment was made in bad faith and was
grossly unreasonable. For the reasons noted above, this Court’s decision to find otherwise was
incorrect given the Supreme Court’s findings and the facts and evidence associated therewith.
Instead of abandoning their untimely filed action, (and accepting CHH’s Offer of Judgment),
Plaintiffs simply continued to push the litigation forward, blocking every opportunity CHH provided

to “stop the financial bleeding” by staying the litigation while this case dispositive issue made its

30 Exhibit “E” hereto.
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way through the courts. They opposed two stay motions and a motion to reconsider a stay. They
opposed a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment, presenting not one shred of
evidence by anyone with personal knowledge of the facts, supporting their claim of a timely
commencement of the action. They forced CHH to incur substantial legal costs and expenses to
defend the action, requiring the engagement of counsel along with multiple experts, to pursue a
lawsuit they knew could not be maintained from the start. Furthermore, they provided unresponsive
answers to discovery requests seeking to avoid addressing the underlying claims in the lawsuit
necessitating EDCR 2..34 conferences and their supplementation of a large number of discovery
responses. At every turn and opportunity, Plaintiffs stonewalled providing materials and
information supportive of their claims while placing CHH in the position of having to incur massive
expenses to obtain that to which it was legally entitled and seek dismissal of what Plaintiffs clearly
knew was an untenable claim. The Plaintiffs’ failure to accept CHH’s Offer of Judgment was both
in bad faith and grossly unreasonable.

Finally, as set forth in detail below, the fourth factor regarding the reasonableness of CHH’s
requested attorneys’ fees also weighs in favor of CHH. Pursuant to NRCP 68, CHH may recover
their attorneys’ fees from the date of service of the Offer of Judgment to the end of the matter. In
this case, the Offer of Judgment was served on August 28, 2020 and expired on September 11, 2020.
CHH incurred a total of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees alone®! (not inclusive of expenses) from
August, 28, 2020 to the present billing cycle (which does not include all fees incurred for October,
2021). Additionally, CHH incurred $31,401.10 in disbursements including expert fees and other
expenses incurred since August, 28, 2020.>> This amount of bills is reasonable for the massive

amounts of time and energy needed to defend this case, engage in extensive written discovery to

31 Exhibit “E” hereto
32 d.
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obtain the various documents proving the late filing of the case, extensive motions and appeals
practice, and, expert time and expense due to Plaintiffs’ refusal to stipulate to stay the litigation
while the summary judgment issue made its way through the court system. Plaintiffs own actions
in this matter, including bringing it late in the first place, caused all of the expenses here. Medical
malpractice cases are complex, involve substantial amounts of expert testimony, and require a great
deal of preparation. Supporting documentation was offered to be presented to this Court for in
camerareview. Instead of granting a hearing to which Plaintiffs could interpose whatever opposition
they may have had, the Court rejected this offer and suggestion. Moreover, Plaintiffs provided not
one shred of opposition to the amount of costs and fees incurred on the original motion, even without
the attached bills. Since this Court insisted that the bills be attached, CHH has provided the entirety
thereof for judicial review and review by Plaintiffs.?

An analysis of the Beattie factors shows that an award of attorneys’ fees to Defendants from
the time of the Offer of Judgment served on Plaintiff to the present is warranted and appropriate.

C. Amount of Fees Incurred

When awarding fees in the offer of judgment context under N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.115
[currently N.R.S. 17.117], the district court must also consider the reasonableness of the fees
pursuant to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). Id. When
determining the amount of attorneys’ fees to award, the District Court has wide discretion, to be
*“tempered only by reason and fairness™ Shuette v. Beazer Homes, 121 Nev. 837, 864 (2005).2* If
the district court’s exercise of discretion is neither arbitrary nor capricious, it will not be disturbed

on appeal. Schouweiler, 101 Nev. at 833.

3 d.

34 Reasonable attorneys’ fees also include fees for paralegal and non-attorney staff “whose labor
contributes to the work product for which an attorney bills her client.” See Las Vegas Metro. Police
Dep't v. Yeghiazarian, 312 P.3d 503, 510 (Nev. 2013).
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"In determining the amount of fees to award, the [district] court is not limited to one specific
approach; its analysis may begin with any method rationally designed to calculate a reasonable
amount, so long as the requested amount is reviewed in light of the . . . Brunzell factors." See Haley
v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 128 Nev. 171 (2012); see also, Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 319
P.3d 606, 615-616, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 9 (2014).

The following four Brunzell factors are to be considered by the court:

(1) the qualities of the advocate: ability, training, education, experience,
professional standing and skill;

(2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its
importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the

prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of
the litigation;

3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and
attention given to the work;

4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were
derived.

Brunzell v. Golden Gate, at 349-50.

From August 28, 2020 to present, the attorneys’ fees incurred by CHH are as follows:

Partner Adam Garth 405.6 hours $91,260.00
Partner Brent Vogel 39.8 hours $ 8,955.00
Associate Heather Armantrout 33.1 hours $ 6,404.85
Paralegal Arielle Atkinson 46.9 hours $ 4,221.00
Paralegal Joshua Daor 0.1 hours $ 90.00
Total $110,930.8535

Mr. Garth and Mr. Vogel are experienced litigators that focus exclusively on medical
malpractice. Both have practiced over either close to or equal to 30 years each and are partners at
Lewis Brisbois. They both billed $225/hour on this matter. Where appropriate, work was also

assigned to associate attorneys ($193.50/hour) and paralegals ($90/hour).

35 Exhibit “E” hereto
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Medical malpractice cases are complex and require an in-depth understanding of both unique
legal issues as well as the medical care and course that is at issue. Plaintiffs claimed that they were
entitled to $105,000,000.00 in damages including $172,728.04 billed by CHH as a recoverable
expense, plus a loss of earning capacity of $1,348,596. There were multiple highly skilled expert
witnesses presented by both parties. Further, nearly 14 months have passed since CHH’s Offer of
Judgment expired, including the participation a motion for summary judgment, two motions to stay
proceedings (one in this Court and one in Supreme Court), a writ petition to the Nevada Supreme
Court plus all that it implies, and extensive written discovery.

Defendants’ requested attorneys’ fees are well below the amounts Nevada courts have found
reasonable. Defendants are only requesting attorneys’ fees at a rate of $225 and $193.50 per hour,
and a paralegal rate of $90 per hour, which is a fraction of the rates recognized that Nevada courts
have found reasonable.

A consideration of the Brunzell factors shows that the recovery of the entire billed amount
of feels from August 28, 2020 to present is entirely appropriate.

D. Award of Pre-NRCP Rule 68 Offer of Judgment Costs and Fees Pursuant to
NRS 7.085

NRS § 7.085 provides the following:
1. If a court finds that an attorney has:

(a) Filed, maintained or defended a civil action or proceeding in any court
in this State and such action or defense is not well-grounded in fact or is
not warranted by existing law or by an argument for changing the
existing law that is made in good faith; or

(b) Unreasonably and vexatiously extended a civil action or proceeding
before any court in this State, the court shall require the attorney
personally to pay the additional costs, expenses and attorney’s fees
reasonably incurred because of such conduct.

2. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this section in favor

of awarding costs, expenses and attorney’s fees in all appropriate
situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the court award costs,
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expenses and attorney’s fees pursuant to this section and impose sanctions

pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate

situations to punish for and deter frivolous or vexatious claims and

defenses because such claims and defenses overburden limited judicial

resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and

increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional

services to the public.

NRS § 7.085 (emphasis supplied).

As clearly documented above, Plaintiffs brought this action in the first place already having
personally alleged medical negligence pertaining to CHH to third parties, i.e., two State agencies.
They went to the trouble of obtaining a Special Administrator for decedent’s estate for the express
purpose of obtaining her medical records from CHH which they received. Not only did they receive
the records, their counsel, with unmitigated gall, suggested that CHH was obligated to prove that
Plaintiffs received the medical records. Plaintiffs’ counsel completely disregarded NRS 47.250(13)
in which a rebuttable presumption is created “[t]hat a letter duly directed and mailed was received
in the regular course of the mail.” CHH submitted the declarations of two witnesses with personal
knowledge of the facts outlining their procedures for handling incoming medical records requests,
the specifics of how such procedures were implemented in this case, and that the medical records
here were mailed to the Plaintiffs twice, all within one month of decedent’s death. Plaintiffs’ counsel
produced nothing in rebuttal except his false and improper claim that CHH was required to prove
Plaintiffs actually received the records. Plaintiffs themselves never denied receiving them. What
made his statement even more disingenuous was the fact that he gave the very records to Dr. Hashim,
his own expert, for review. Dr. Hashim stated that he reviewed the records and formulated an
opinion which counsel used to file his Complaint. Plaintiffs’ counsel even denied asserting a
fraudulent concealment argument and this Court found no such argument advanced by Plaintiffs. In

a footnote, the Nevada Supreme Court stated “The real parties in interest do not adequately

address why tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the limitation period for
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a professional negligence claim "is tolled for any period during which the provider of health care
has concealed any act, error or omission upon which the action is based"). Even if they did, such
an argument would be unavailing, as the medical records provided were sufficient for their
expert witness to conclude that petitioners were negligent in Powell's care.”*® Therefore, there
was no evidence that Plaintiffs lacked sufficient documentation to formulate their claim and the
Supreme Court confirmed it.

As noted by a sister Department, “NRS 7.085 essentially provides, where an attorney
violates NRS 18.010(2), NRCP 11 or EDCR 7.60, the delinquent lawyer may be required to
personally pay the additional costs, expenses and/or attorney's fees in all appropriate situations.
Notably, as shown above, NRS 18.010(2)(b), EDCR 7.60 and NRS 7.085 do not require Defendants
to be "prevailing parties" and attorneys' fees may be awarded without regard to the recovery sought.”
Berberich v. S. Highland Cmty. Ass'n, 2019 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 130, *11 (Nev. Dist. Ct., Case No.
A-16-731824-C, January 29, 2019).

Furthermore,

Nevada's statutory interpretation rules also support treating NRCP 11 and

NRS 7.085 as separate sanctioning mechanisms. This court has "previously

indicated that the rules of statutory interpretation apply to Nevada's Rules of

Civil Procedure." Webb, ex rel. Webb v. Clark Cnty. Sch. Dist., 125 Nev. 611,

618, 218 P.3d 1239, 1244 (2009) (citing Moseley, 124 Nev. at 662 n.20, 188

P.3d at 1142 n.20). Further, "whenever possible, a court will interpret a rule

or statute in harmony with other rules or statutes." Nev. Power Co. v.

Haggerty, 115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999); see also Bowyer,

107 Nev. at 627-28, 817 P.2d at 1178. The simplest way to reconcile NRCP

11 and NRS 7.085 is to do what federal courts have done with FRCP 11 and

§ 1927; treat the rule and statute as independent methods for district courts to

award attorney fees for misconduct. Therefore, we conclude NRCP 11 does

not supersede NRS 7.085.

Watson Rounds, P.C. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev. 783, 789, 358 P.3d 228, 232 (2015).

36 Exhibit “B” to Exhibit “A” hereto, note 4 (emphasis supplied)
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Hereinabove is a long documented recitation of case law and facts which specifically and
directly contradict anything and everything advanced by Plaintiffs’ counsel in this matter. Plaintiffs’
counsel did everything he could to force CHH to incur expenses. He filed a case well beyond the
statute of limitations, despite clear case law demonstrating when inquiry notice commences. He
was faced with two motions on the issue and misrepresented the facts. He provided not one shred
of evidence to support his personal theories about confusion, refusing and unable to produce any
supporting evidence. He provided no support for a suggestion of fraudulent concealment, and
opposed any motions for a stay of proceedings while the statute of limitations issue made its way
through the appellate system. In short, Plaintiffs’ counsel advanced a case which was dead on
arrival. He knew it, was reminded of it, and pursued it anyway, hoping for a judicial lifeline. The
Supreme Court made certain to cover all possible avenues for Plaintiffs’ counsel’s attempt to scurry
away from his late and improper case filing. Adding insult to injury, he did everything he could to
increase expenses. Elections have consequences. Those consequences are sanctions under NRS
7.085 which include the $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses incurred from the
commencement of this litigation. Based upon Plaintiffs counsel’s violation of the two prongs of
NRS 7.085, the Supreme Court has determined:

The language of NRS 7.085 is straightforward. Subsection 1 of NRS 7.085

provides that district courts "shall" hold attorneys "personally" liable for

"additional costs, expenses and attorney's fees" under certain circumstances.

If the statutory conditions are met, '"the court shall" impose a sanction

of taxable fees and costs '"reasonably incurred because of such

conduct." Id With respect to "such conduct," the statute requires no more than

what it states: in relevant part, that "a court find[] that an attorney has" (i)

"[brought or] maintained ... a civil action" that (ii) either (a) "is not well-

grounded in fact," (b) "is not warranted by existing law," or (c¢) "is not

warranted ... by a[] [good faith] argument for changing the existing law." See

NRS 7.085(1)(a). Subsection 2 requires Nevada courts to "liberally construe"

subsection 1 "in favor of awarding costs, expenses and attorney's fees in all

appropriate situations." NRS 7.085(2) (emphasis added).

Washington v. AA Primo Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co., 440 P.3d 49 (Nev. 2019) (Emphasis supplied).
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“The statutes are clear—parties who bring and maintain an action without grounds shall have
attorney fees imposed against them.” Lopez v. Corral, Nos. 51541, 51972, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 69, at
*24,2010 WL 5541115 (Dec. 20, 2010).

There is no clearer case for the imposition of attorney’s fees than this one. Plaintiffs’ motion
case was entirely frivolous as it was knowingly filed beyond the statute of limitations. For this
Court to hold otherwise, especially in light of the Supreme Court’s findings that the overwhelming
evidence of statute of limitations breach by Plaintiffs required this Court to dismiss their case, and
the failure to do so was a manifest abuse of discretion. Even if it was not known from the outset,
which the evidence clearly demonstrated that it was, it became abundantly clear that the Plaintiffs
themselves not only suspected, but actually accused CHH of malpractice and sought investigations
by the State into their allegations. Plaintiffs supplied the very evidence damning their own
assertions of “confusion” which make Plaintiffs’ counsel’s advancement thereof all the more
egregious.

Thus, in addition to all NRCP Rule 68 post offer fees and costs, CHH requests that sanctions
be imposed against Plaintiffs’ counsel for all pre-NRCP Rule 68 costs and fees totaling $58,514.36
in accordance with NRS 7.085.

E. EDCR 7.60 Authorizes the Imposition of Fines, Costs, and/or Attorneys’ Fees

Due to an Attorney’s Presentation of Frivolous Opposition to a Motion or Who
Multiplies the Proceeding in a Case to Increase Costs

EDCR 7.60(b) provides:

(b) The court may, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose
upon an attorney or a party any and all sanctions which may, under
the facts of the case, be reasonable, including the imposition of fines,
costs or attorney's fees when an attorney or a party without just cause:
(1) Presents to the court a motion or an opposition to a motion which
is obviously frivolous, unnecessary or unwarranted.

(2) Fails to prepare for a presentation.

(3) So multiplies the proceeding in a case as to increase costs
unreasonably and vexatiously.

(4) Fails or refuses to comply with these rules.
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(5) Fails or refuses to comply with any order of a judge of the court.

The facts pertaining to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s conduct here are fully documented above. They
commenced and maintained a completely unsustainable action from the beginning. They knowingly
possessed the full medical file. They went to court to obtain an authorization to get the medical file.
They never denied receiving the medicals, and in fact, utilized the medicals they did receive to
obtain a medical affidavit for use with the Complaint. They knowingly possessed multiple
complaints to State agencies alleging malpractice against CHH and requesting formal investigations
thereof. Then, for purposes of the motion for summary judgment, Plaintiffs’ counsel feigned
confusion on his client’s behalf as to decedent’s cause of death (a fact which none of the Plaintiffs
confirmed in any sworn statement or testimony). After creating chaos for no reason, when given
the opportunity to prevent CHH from incurring further costs, Plaintiffs’ counsel opposed any request
for a stay of proceedings, three times in this case, requiring the continued discovery process, expert
evaluations and export reporting. They refused to agree to postpone the trial date to allow this matter
to make its way through the Supreme Court, with knowledge that the Court would be ruling one
way or another on this case dispositive issue. In all, Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly caused enormous
costs on CHH only to have the very issues raised in this Court result in a total dismissal. CHH
should not be required to pay for Plaintiffs’ folly, especially when Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely
looked to increase expenses while pursuing a defunct case from the outset. Thus, EDCR 7.60
provides a further avenue of deterrence to attorneys, like Plaintiffs’ counsel, who engage in these
unnecessary and flagrantly frivolous lawsuits which are dead before they are even filed, justifying
an award of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36
in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

F. CHH Is Also Entitled to Its Fees and Costs Per NRS 18.010(2)

Likewise, CHH is entitled to an award of his attorney’s fees and costs under NRS

4889-5292-6479.1 26




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

§18.010(2)(b), which provides in pertinent part:

In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific statute
[see NRS § 7.085 above], the court may make an allowance of attorney’s fees
to a prevailing party:

(b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that the claim,
counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or defense of the opposing
party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the
prevailing party. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this
paragraph in favor of awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. It
is the intent of the Legislature that the court award attorney's fees pursuant to
this paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules
of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter
frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses
overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of
meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and
providing professional services to the public.

For the reasons discussed above, CHH respectfully requests an award of attorney’s fees and
costs that it incurred in this matter, and enter an order awarding $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per
N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant
to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. All of this is in addition to the undisputed $42,492.03
in costs and disbursements allowed by law and which have been fully justified by this Court’s denial
of Plaintiffs’ motion to extend time to retax the costs to which they relate. If there is no dispute as
to the costs and disbursements, a judgment must be signed pursuant to NRCP 58(b)(1).

III. CONCLUSION

Based upon the legal authority and reasons stated above, Defendants respectfully request the
Court grant their Motion and award them $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and
N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§
7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. Moreover, this Court must sign the judgment already submitted

to it for the undisputed $42,492.03 in costs to which CHH is already entitled by law.
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DATED this 23" day of February 2022.

4889-5292-6479.1

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By

/s/ Adam Garth

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley

Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 23 day of February, 2022, a true and correct copy
of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS
HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION REGARDING
ITS MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117,
7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60 was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court
using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record,

who have agreed to receive electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq. John H. Cotton, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Brad Shipley, Esq.

4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
Las Vegas, NV 89103 7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Tel: 702.366.1888 Las Vegas, NV 89117

Fax: 702.366.1940 Tel: 702.832.5909
psp@paulpaddalaw.com Fax: 702.832.5910

Attorneys for Plaintiffs jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com

bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/ Heidi Brown
An Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

4889-5292-6479.1 29




EXHIBIT A



10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Electronically Filed
11/22/2021 11:35 AM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
S. BRENT VOGEL Cﬁ;‘.ﬁ ﬁ L‘-“""

Nevada Bar No. 6858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No.: 30
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as | DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S
Plaintiffs, MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES
PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§
VS. 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing HEARING REQUESTED
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

Defendants by and through their counsel of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of the
Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, hereby file their Motion for Attorneys’
Fees Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

This Motion is based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities below, the pleadings

and papers on file herein, any oral argument which may be entertained by the Court at the hearing

4825-3665-2287.1
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10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

of this matter and the Declaration of Adam Garth, below.

DATED this 22" day of November, 2021

4825-3665-2287.1

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By

/s/ Adam Garth

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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DECLARATION OF ADAM GARTH IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’

FEES

I, Adam Garth, declare under penalty of perjury as follows:

1.

I am a partner at Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP, and am duly licensed to practice
law in the State of Nevada. I am competent to testify to the matters set forth herein, and will
do so if called upon.

I am one of the attorneys of record representing Defendant Valley Health System, LL.C dba
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center (“Defendant” or “CHH”) in the above-entitled
action, currently pending in Department 30 of the Eighth Judicial District Court for the State
of Nevada, Case No. A-19-788787-C.

I make this Declaration on behalf of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC
DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION FOR
ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2),
AND EDCR 7.60.

I have been counsel of record for Defendants for much of this case, including for all times
that fees are being sought with this Motion for post-NRCP Rule 68 fees and costs, and much
pre-NRCP Rule 68 fees and costs.

On August 28, 2020, Defendant served an Offer of Judgment on Plaintiff pursuant to
N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. 17.115", and Busick v. Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437
P.3d 1050 (2019) for a waiver of any presently or potentially recoverable costs in full and
final settlement of the matter. At the time of the Offer, Defendants’ expended costs and fees
totaled $58,514.36. The Offer was not accepted by Plaintiff and expired on September 11,
2020.

Since the date the Offer of Judgment: I billed 405.6 hours for a total charge to the client of
$91,260; S. Brent Vogel, Esq. billed 39.8 hours for a total charge to the client of $8,955;

Heather Armantrout, Esq. billed 33.1 hours for a total charge to the client of $6,404.85. 1

! Currently N.R.S. 17.117.

4825-3665-2287.1 3
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have personal knowledge of Mr. Vogel and Ms. Armantrout’s work on this matter and I have
personally reviewed their billing entries for the time period in question.

7. Since the date of the Offer of Judgment, paralegals in my office have billed the following in
this matter: Arielle Atkinson billed 46.9 hours for a total charge to the client of $4,221; and
Joshua Daor billed 0.1 hours for a total charge to the client of $9. I have personal knowledge
of Ms. Atkinson and Mr. Daor’s work on this matter, and I have personally reviewed their
billing entries for the time period in question.

8. The billing records are available for the Court’s in camera review, if requested.

9. Ideclare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

FURTHER YOUR DECLARANT SAYETH NAUGHT.
/s/Adam Garth
Adam Garth, Esq.

No notarization required pursuant to NRS 53.045
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is a professional negligence case that arises out of the care and treatment Defendant
Valley Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center (“Defendant” or “CHH”)
as well as co-defendant physicians provided to decedent Rebecca Powell from May 3-11, 2017.
According to the Complaint, Rebecca Powell overdosed on Benadryl, Cymbalta, and Ambien on
May 3, 2017. Plaintiffs further alleged that EMS was called and came to Ms. Powell’s aid,
discovering her with labored breathing and vomit on her face. Plaintiffs alleged that Ms. Powell
was transported to CHH where she was admitted.

Plaintiffs claim on May 10, 2017, Ms. Powell complained of shortness of breath, weakness,
and a drowning feeling, and Defendant Vishal Shah, MD, ordered Ativan to be administered via [V
push. Plaintiffs assert that on May 11, 2017, Defendant Conrado Concio, MD, ordered two doses
of Ativan via IV push.

To assess her complaints, Plaintiffs alleged that a chest CT was ordered, but chest CT was
not performed due to Ms. Powell’s anxiety, and she was returned to her room. Plaintiffs further
alleged that Ms. Powell was placed in a room with a camera monitor.

Plaintiffs’ expert stated in his affidavit used to support the Complaint that pursuant to the
doctor’s orders, a dose of Ativan was administered at 03:27. Thereafter, Ms. Powell allegedly
suffered acute respiratory failure, which resulted in her death on May 11, 2017.

Plaintiffs commenced their action in this matter on February 4, 2019 alleging professional
negligence. NRS 41A.097(2) imposes a statute of limitations of 3 years after the date of injury or 1
year after the plaintiff discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered
the injury, whichever occurs first. In this case, decedent’s date of death of May 11, 2017 presents
the earliest date for accrual of the statute of limitations.

On May 25, 2017, MRO, a medical records retrieval service responsible for supplying
medical records to those requesting same on behalf of CHH, received a request for medical records
from Plaintiff Taryn Creecy along with a copy of a court order requiring that Centennial Hills

Hospital provide a complete copy of Rebecca Powell’s medical chart.

4825-3665-2287.1 5
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On June 2, 2017, the request for the medical records for Mrs. Powell was processed by MRO
personnel. On June 5, 2017, MRO determined that the records for Mrs. Powell were requested by
Taryn Creecy, her daughter, that the records were requested to be sent to a post office box, and
verified the court order for same. On June 7, 2017, MRO invoiced Ms. Creecy which included all
fees associated with the provision of 1165 pages of Mrs. Powell’s medical records from CHH. The
1165 pages invoiced represented the entirety of medical records for Mrs. Powell with no exclusions.
On June 12, 2017, MRO received payment for the 1165 pages of records and the next day, June 13,
2017, MRO sent out the complete 1165 pages to Ms. Creecy to the address provided on the request.

MRO received the package back from the United States Postal Service due to
undeliverability to the addressee on June 23, 2017. MRO contacted Ms. Creecy on June 28, 2017
regarding the returned records, and she advised MRO that the post office box to which she requested
the records be sent was in the name of her father, Brian Powell, and that the Post Office likely
returned them since she was an unknown recipient at the post office box. She thereafter requested
that MRO resend the records to him at that post office box address. On June 29, 2017, MRO re-
sent the records addressed to Mr. Powell at the post office box previously provided, and MRO never
received the records back thereafter.

MRO provided copies of all medical records for Mrs. Powell and no records for this patient
were excluded from that packet. CHH’s custodian of records stated that she compared the 1165
pages of records supplied in June, 2017 to Ms. Creecy to CHH’s electronic medical records system
and she verified that the totality of the medical records for Ms. Powell was provided to Ms. Creecy
without excluding any records.

Contemporaneously with Plaintiffs’ obtaining Ms. Powell’s medical records from CHH,
Plaintiff Brian Powell personally initiated two investigations with State agencies including the
Nevada Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”) and the Nevada State Nursing Board.
Plaintiffs failed to disclose Mr. Powell’s complaint to HHS, but they did disclose HHS’s May 23,
2017 acknowledgement of his complaint alleging patient neglect (presumably the complaint Mr.
Powell initiated was prior to May 23, 2017). Mr. Powell’s complaint to the Nursing Board dated

June 11, 2017 alleges that CHH’s nursing staff failed to properly monitor Ms. Powell, that her care

4825-3665-2287.1 6
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was “abandoned by the nursing staff”, and that she passed away as a result of these alleged failures.
Moreover, Mr. Powell stated “Now I ask that you advocate for her, investigate, and ensure that this
doesn’t happen again.”

On February 4, 2019, which was one year, eight months, and twenty-four days after Ms.
Powell’s death, Plaintiffs filed the subject Complaint. Plaintiffs included the Affidavit of Sami
Hashim, MD, which set forth alleged breaches of the standard of care.

Plaintiffs’ claims sounded in professional negligence, which subjected the claims to NRS
41A.097(2)’s one-year statute of limitations requirement. Since Plaintiffs failed to file their
Complaint within one-year after they discovered or through the use of reasonable diligence should
have discovered the injury, CHH’s Motion for Summary Judgment was eventually granted after a
writ of mandamus petition was filed, accepted and ruled upon by the Nevada Supreme Court.

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68, CHH served Plaintiff with an Offer of Judgment on August 28,
2020.2 In that Offer of Judgment, Defendants offered to waive any presently or potentially
recoverable costs in full and final settlement of the claims. At the time of the Offer, Defendants’
incurred costs were $58,514.36. The Offer was not accepted by Plaintiff and expired on September
11, 2020.

The statute of limitations issue was first presented to this Court on June 19, 2019 by way of
a motion to dismiss by predecessor counsel. This Court held a hearing on September 25, 2019 and
denied that motion along other motions to dismiss and the respective joinders thereto.

Thereafter, the parties engaged in extensive written discovery. Discovery disputes emerged
during that time necessitating conferences pursuant to EDCR 2.34 and supplements to previously
provided requests for production and interrogatories. Moreover, due to the wide ranging allegations
in this matter and considering CHH’s potential liability not only as a direct defendant, but also under
the concept of ostensible agency, CHH engaged three medical experts to address the issues raised
by Plaintiffs, namely a pharmacologist, a hospitalist and an intensivist. In response to Plaintiffs’

expert disclosure, CHH engaged in an economist to rebut the Plaintiffs’ economist’s report which

2 See Offer of Judgment, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.
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was predicated on not one shred of evidence, but based upon a supplemental interrogatory response
from the decedent’s ex-husband (dated one day before the economist’s report), who provided no
basis for his guess about his ex-wife’s prior earnings.

During discovery, Plaintiffs produced records demonstrating that Plaintiffs specifically
notified two State agencies of their concerns about the decedent’s treatment at CHH. They
specifically alleged malpractice on CHH’s part, and requested investigations by those agencies into
their allegations of malpractice by CHH, both of which were initiated just days after the decedent’s
death. Moreover, Plaintiffs did not deny obtaining the decedent’s medical records from CHH in
June, 2017, several weeks after the decedent’s death, but their counsel attempted to impose an
improper burden on CHH to prove Plaintiffs received the medical records which were sent, in
derogation of the statutory presumption that documents mailed are presumed received unless
sufficient evidence of non-receipt is demonstrated. No such demonstration occurred here.
Moreover, Plaintiffs obtained the medical affidavit of a physician to support their Complaint who
based his opinions on the very medical records Plaintiffs obtained from CHH (since the case had
not yet been filed and there was no other avenue for Plaintiffs to have obtained said records).

CHH filed its motion for summary judgment on September 2, 2020 providing proof of the
medical record request from CHH and the corresponding mailing thereof. Moreover, CHH provided
Plaintiffs own documents to the respective State agencies alleging the malpractice which is the
subject of this action. All of these materials definitively demonstrated that Plaintiffs were on inquiry
notice within days of the decedent’s death, but at the latest, a month thereafter.

On October 29, 2020, this Court issued an order denying CHH’s motion for summary
judgment finding a question of fact as to when Plaintiffs received inquiry notice based upon
Plaintiffs’ counsel’s representation, without any declaration or affidavit by one with personal
knowledge of the facts, that Plaintiffs’ may have been confused as to the decedent’s cause of death,
which the Court believed was confirmed by the February 5, 2018 HHS report.

CHH thereafter moved this Court for a stay pending the filing of a writ petition to the Nevada
Supreme Court predicated on the denial of CHH’s motion for summary judgment. Plaintiffs

vehemently opposed CHH’s stay motion, and this Court denied the stay motion on December 17,
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2020.

On December 22, 2020, CHH filed its writ petition with the Nevada Supreme Court. The
Supreme Court requested answering and reply briefs on the aforesaid petition. Upon receipt of said
order, CHH moved this Court to reconsider its decision to stay the proceedings in an effort to avoid
future litigation costs. Again, Plaintiffs’ vehemently opposed the stay. This Court entered an order
on April 28, 2021 denying CHH’s motion to reconsider the stay. On April 22, 2021, CHH moved
in Supreme Court for a stay. Once again, Plaintiffs opposed the motion and the Supreme Court
denied the stay motion. Litigation proceeded with greatly increased costs for things such as expert
exchanges, leaving only depositions of the parties and experts to be conducted.

On October 18, 2021, The Nevada Supreme Court issued an order granting the CHH’s writ
petition and directing the Supreme Court Clerk to issue a writ of mandamus directing this Court to
vacate is order denying CHH’s motion for summary judgment and enter summary judgment in favor
of all defendants.?

The Court entered judgment in favor of Defendants on November 19, 2021, and the Notice
of Entry of Judgement was filed the same day.* Summary judgment in favor of Defendants entitles
them to an award of attorneys’ fees pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. 17.117, and interpreting case
authority. Moreover, NRS §§ 7.085 and 18.010(2) along with EDCR 7.60 entitle CHH to costs and
attorney fees due to the Plaintiffs’ frivolous filing of a lawsuit 8 months after the statute of
limitations expired, with proof the exclusively provided, demonstrating that they possessed inquiry
notice of the alleged malpractice as early as the date of decedent’s death, but no later than June 11,
2017; however, they chose to file a lawsuit in February, 2019, long after the one year statute of
limitations expired. Those statutes and rules, along with the cases interpreting them justify the
requested costs and fees.

/1
/1

3 See Order Granting Petition, Exhibit “B” hereto

4 See Order with Notice of entry, attached hereto as Exhibit “C”.
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II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A.

An Award of Attorneys’ Fees is Appropriate

Plaintiff rejected CHH’s Offer of Judgment and then failed to obtain a more favorable

judgment. Therefore, CHH is entitled to reasonable attorneys’ fees under N.R.C.P. 68(f) and N.R.S.

17.117(10).

Rule 68 (f), Penalties for Rejection of Offer, provides as follows:

(1) In general. If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more

favorable judgment:

(B) the offeree must pay the offeror’s post-offer costs and expenses,

including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for each
expert witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare for and
conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the judgment from the time of
the offer to the time of entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney fees, if any
be allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer.

Similarly, N.R.S. 17.117, Offers of judgment, provides:
(10) If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtain a more favorable judgment:

(a) The offeree may not recover any costs, expenses or attorney’s fees and
may not recover interest for the period after the service of the offer and before the
judgment; and

(b) The offeree must pay the offeror’s post-offer costs and expenses,
including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by the offeror for each
expert witness whose services were reasonably necessary to prepare for and
conduct the trial of the case, applicable interest on the judgment from the time of
the offer to the time of the entry of the judgment and reasonable attorney’s fees, if
any allowed, actually incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer.

This Court has discretion under N.R.C.P. 68(f) and N.R.S. 17.117(10) to award attorneys’

fees when the offeror prevailed and the offeree failed to obtain a more favorable judgment. While

exercising this discretion, a Court must consider the following factors: (1) whether the offeree

brought his claims in good faith; (2) whether the offeror’s offer of judgment was also brought in

good faith in both timing and amount; (3) whether the offeree’s decision to reject the offer of

judgment was in bad faith or grossly unreasonable; and (4) whether the amount of offeror’s

requested fees is reasonable and justified. Schouweiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 833,917 P.2d

4825-3665-2287.1
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786 (1985).

The circumstances of CHH’s Offer of Judgment (premised on the waiver of an existing or
potential right to attorneys’ fees and costs) was accepted and analyzed as a proper Offer of Judgment
by the Nevada Supreme Court in Busick v. Trainer, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 437 P.3d 1050
(2019). In Busick, the Court upheld the trial court’s award of attorneys’ fees and costs to the
defendant following a verdict in favor of the defendant/physician. Id. at *6-7.

Generally, the “district court may not award attorney fees absent authority under a statute,
rule, or contract.” Albios v. Horizon Cmtys., Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022 (2006).
Pursuant to N.R.S. 17.115 [the predecessor to N.R.S. 17.117] and N.R.C.P. 68, “a party is entitled
to recover certain costs and reasonable attorney fees that it incurs after the making an unimproved-
upon offer of judgment.” Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 268, 350 P.3d 1139 (2015).

In this case, CHH served an Offer of Judgment on Plaintiffs for waiver of any presently or
potentially recoverable costs in full and final settlement of the claims. Plaintiffs rejected this Offer
of Judgment by failing to accept it within 14 days. N.RC.P. 68(e) and N.R.S. 17.117(6). As this
Court was directed by the Supreme Court to vacate its order denying summary judgment to CHH
and instead issue an order granting CHH’s summary judgment motion, Plaintiffs failed to obtain
more a favorable judgment than the one offered to them in CHH’s Offer of Judgment. Thus,
pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.117, this Court has discretion to award CHH its attorneys’
fees.

All factors to be considered in awarding attorneys’ fees under the current circumstances
weigh in favor of Defendants. First, Plaintiffs did not bring his claims against CHH in good faith.
The Nevada Supreme Court confirmed this fact by finding as follows:

Here, irrefutable evidence demonstrates that the real parties in
interest were on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017 at the latest, when
real party in interest Brian Powell, special administrator for the estate,
filed a complaint with the State Board of Nursing. There, Brian
alleged that the decedent, Rebecca Powell, "went into respiratory
distress" and her health care providers did not appropriately monitor
her, abandoning her care and causing her death. Thus, Brian's own
allegations in this Board complaint demonstrate that he had enough
information to allege a prima facie claim for professional negligence-

that in treating Rebecca, her health care providers failed "to use the
reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar
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circumstances by similarly trained and experienced providers of
health care." NRS 41A.015 (defining professional negligence); Winn,
128 Nev. at 252-53; 277 P.3d at 462 (explaining that a "plaintiffs
general belief that someone's ne§ligence may have caused his or her
injury" triggers inquiry notice).” That the real parties in interest
received Rebecca's death certificate 17 days later, erroneously
listing her cause of death as suicide, does not change this
conclusion.* Thus, the real parties in interest had until June 11, 2018,
at the latest, to file their professional negligence claim. Therefore,
their February 4, 2019 complaint was untimely.

3 The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry notice
even earlier. For example, real parties in interest had
observed in real time, following a short period of recovery,
the rapid deterioration of Powell's health while in petitioners'
care. Additionally, Brian had filed a complaint with the
Nevada Department of Health and Human Services
(NDHHS) on or before May 23, 2017. Similar to the Nursing
Board complaint, this complaint alleged facts, such as the
petitioners' failure to upgrade care, sterilize sutures properly,
and monitor Powell, that suggest he already believed, and
knew of facts to support his belief, that negligent treatment
caused Powell's death by the time he made these complaints
to NDHHS and the Nursing Board.

4 The real parties in interest do not adequately address why
tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the
limitation period for a professional negligence claim "is tolled for
any period during which the provider of health care has concealed
any act, error or omission upon which the action is based"). Even
if they did, such an argument would be unavailing, as the medical
records provided were sufficient for their expert witness to
conclude that petitioners were negligent in Powell's care. See
Winn, 128 Nev. at 255,277 P.3d at 464 (holding that tolling under
NRS 41A.097(3) is only appropriate where the intentionally
concealed medical records were "material" to the professional
negligence claims). Finally, we have not extended the doctrine of
equitable tolling to NRS 41A.097(2), and the real parties in
interest do not adequately address whether such an application is
appropriate under these facts. See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden
Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (20006)
(refusing to consider arguments that a party did not cogently
argue or support with relevant authority).

Given that uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that the
petitioners are entitled to judgment as a matter of law because
the complaint is time-barred under NRS 41A.097(2), see NRCP
56(a); Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029 (recognizing that
courts must grant summary judgment when the pleadings and all other
evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving
party, "demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact
[remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a
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matter of law" (internal quotations omitted)) . . .°

The Supreme Court determined that Plaintiffs were certainly on notice of any alleged malpractice
no more than one month after decedent’s death. The Court also determined that the very records
upon which Plaintiffs based their case were in their possession long before the statute of limitations
expired and that they knowingly initiated complaints to State agencies manifesting definitive
knowledge and belief of malpractice. Nevertheless, Plaintiffs chose to initiate a lawsuit which was
dead on arrival, continued to maintain it even after irrefutable evidence demonstrated its
untenability, and then used every opportunity to prevent the expenditure of additional resources in
order to prove the impropriety of the lawsuit. Plaintiffs were given every opportunity to exit the
matter gracefully, but they instead chose to pursue an untenable claim, with knowledge they were
doing so, utilizing an attorney who presented no evidence supportive of his own personal theories,
and did all of this to the financial detriment of CHH. There is a price to be paid for that, and the
statutes and case law cited above, coupled with the clear findings of the Supreme Court, entitle CHH
to be compensated, at least in part, for their losses.

Second, CHH’s Offer of Judgment was brought in good faith in both timing and amount. At
the time of the Offer, CHH incurred over $58,000 in costs defending Plaintiffs’ claims. The Offer
was served several days prior to CHH’s motion for summary judgment and about 1 2 years from
the lawsuit’s commencement. Moreover, Plaintiffs were in possession of CHH’s respective requests
for production of documents and interrogatories six weeks prior to the motion for summary
judgment having been filed, and produced they produced the “smoking gun” documents
demonstrating irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice prior to the motion for summary judgment
having been made and even while said motion was pending before this Court prior to the final
submission of the motion. Plaintiffs were on notice of the statute of limitations issues even as early

as the motion to dismiss made by predecessor counsel in July, 2019, just months after commencing

5 Exhibit “B” hereto, pp. 3-5 (emphasis supplied)

® Pursuant to NRCP 68 and NRS 17.117, CHH normally does not get compensated for
approximately $60,000 in pre-offer of judgment expenses it incurred, but based upon statutes and
cases cited hereinbelow, Defendants are requesting these very pre-Rule 68 costs and fees.
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this action, yet thy still pursued their untenable claim while in full possession of the documents
which defeated it. That is bad faith, pure and simple. Given the likelihood of Plaintiffs losing on
this issue, the offered waiver of the right to seek reimbursement of costs was reasonable in both
timing and amount, especially given the multiple opportunities for Plaintiffs to be on notice of the
issue.

Third, Plaintiffs’ decision to reject the Offer of Judgment was in bad faith and grossly
unreasonable. Instead of abandoning their untimely filed action, (and accepting CHH’s Offer of
Judgment), Plaintiffs simply continued to push the litigation forward, blocking every opportunity
CHH provided to “stop the financial bleeding” by staying the litigation while this case dispositive
issue made its way through the courts. They opposed two stay motions and a motion to reconsider
a stay. They opposed a motion to dismiss and a motion for summary judgment, presenting not one
shred of evidence by anyone with personal knowledge of the facts, supporting their claim of a timely
commencement of the action. They forced CHH to incur substantial legal costs and expenses to
defend the action, requiring the engagement of counsel along with multiple experts, to pursue a
lawsuit they knew could not be maintained from the start. Furthermore, they provided unresponsive
answers to discovery requests seeking to avoid addressing the underlying claims in the lawsuit
necessitating EDCR 2..34 conferences and their supplementation of a large number of discovery
responses. At every turn and opportunity, Plaintiffs stonewalled providing materials and
information supportive of their claims while placing CHH in the position of having to incur massive
expenses to obtain that to which it was legally entitled and seek dismissal of what Plaintiffs clearly
knew was an untenable claim. The Plaintiffs’ failure to accept CHH’s Offer of Judgment was both
in bad faith and grossly unreasonable.

Finally, as set forth in detail below, the fourth factor regarding the reasonableness of CHH’s
requested attorneys’ fees also weighs in favor of CHH. Pursuant to NRCP 68, CHH may recover
their attorneys’ fees from the date of service of the Offer of Judgment to the end of the matter. In
this case, the Offer of Judgment was served on August 28, 2020 and expired on September 11, 2020.

CHH incurred a total of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees alone (not inclusive of expenses)

from August, 28, 2020 to the present billing cycle (which does not include all fees incurred for
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October, 2021). Additionally, CHH incurred $31,401.10 in disbursements including expert fees and
other expenses incurred since August, 28, 2020. This amount of bills is reasonable for the massive
amounts of time and energy needed to defend this case, engage in extensive written discovery to
obtain the various documents proving the late filing of the case, extensive motions and appeals
practice, and, expert time and expense due to Plaintiffs’ refusal to stipulate to stay the litigation
while the summary judgment issue made its way through the court system. Plaintiffs own actions
in this matter, including brining it late in the first place, caused all of the expenses here. Medical
malpractice cases are complex, involve substantial amounts of expert testimony, and require a great
deal of preparation. Supporting documentation for every time entry is available for in camera
review by this Court. The bills have not been attached hereto in order to preserve the attorney-client
privilege and protect the information contained within the descriptions of the attorney billing. These
fees were all reasonable and justified for the defense of claim against Defendants.

An analysis of the Beattie factors shows that an award of attorneys’ fees to Defendants from
the time of the Offer of Judgment served on Plaintiff to the present is warranted and appropriate.

B. Amount of Fees Incurred

When awarding fees in the offer of judgment context under N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.115
[currently N.R.S. 17.117], the district court must also consider the reasonableness of the fees
pursuant to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). Id. When
determining the amount of attorneys’ fees to award, the District Court has wide discretion, to be
*“tempered only by reason and fairness” Shuette v. Beazer Homes, 121 Nev. 837, 864 (2005).” If
the district court’s exercise of discretion is neither arbitrary nor capricious, it will not be disturbed
on appeal. Schouweiler, 101 Nev. at 833.

"In determining the amount of fees to award, the [district] court is not limited to one specific

approach; its analysis may begin with any method rationally designed to calculate a reasonable

7 Reasonable attorneys’ fees also include fees for paralegal and non-attorney staff “whose
labor contributes to the work product for which an attorney bills her client.” See Las Vegas
Metro. Police Dep't v. Yeghiazarian, 312 P.3d 503, 510 (Nev. 2013).
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amount, so long as the requested amount is reviewed in light of the . . . Brunzell factors." See Haley
v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 128 Nev. 171 (2012); see also, Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 319
P.3d 606, 615-616, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 9 (2014).

The following four Brunzell factors are to be considered by the court:

(1) the qualities of the advocate: ability, training, education, experience, professional
standing and skill;

(2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its importance, time
and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and character of the

parties where they affect the importance of the litigation;

3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention given to the
work;

(4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived.

Brunzell v. Golden Gate, at 349-50.

From August 28, 2020 to present, the attorneys’ fees incurred by CHH are as follows:

Partner Adam Garth 405.6 hours $91,260.00
Partner Brent Vogel 39.8 hours $ 8,955.00
Associate Heather Armantrout 33.1 hours $ 6,404.85
Paralegal Arielle Atkinson 46.9 hours $ 4,221.00
Paralegal Joshua Daor 0.1 hours $  90.00
Total $110,930.85

Mr. Garth and Mr. Vogel are experienced litigators that focus exclusively on medical
malpractice. Both have practiced over either close to or equal to 30 years each and are partners at
Lewis Brisbois. They both billed $225/hour on this matter. Where appropriate, work was also
assigned to associate attorneys ($193.50/hour) and paralegals ($90/hour).

Medical malpractice cases are complex and require an in-depth understanding of both unique
legal issues as well as the medical care and course that is at issue. Plaintiffs claimed that they were
entitled to $105,000,000.00 in damages including $172,728.04 billed by CHH as a recoverable

expense, plus a loss of earning capacity of $1,348,596. There were multiple highly skilled expert
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witnesses presented by both parties. Further, nearly 14 months have passed since CHH’s Offer of
Judgment expired, including the participation a motion for summary judgment, two motions to stay
proceedings (one in this Court and one in Supreme Court), a writ petition to the Nevada Supreme
Court plus all that it implies, and extensive written discovery.

Defendants’ requested attorneys’ fees are well below the amounts Nevada courts have found
reasonable. Defendants are only requesting attorneys’ fees at a rate of $225 and $193.50 per hour,
and a paralegal rate of $90 per hour, which is a fraction of the rates recognized that Nevada courts
have found reasonable.

A consideration of the Brunzell factors shows that the recovery of the entire billed amount
of feels from August 28, 2020 to present is entirely appropriate.

C. Award of Pre-NRCP Rule 68 Offer of Judgment Costs and Fees Pursuant to
NRS 7.085

NRS § 7.085 provides the following:
1. If a court finds that an attorney has:

(a) Filed, maintained or defended a civil action or proceeding in
any court in this State and such action or defense is not well-
grounded in fact or is not warranted by existing law or by an
argument for changing the existing law that is made in good faith;
or

(b) Unreasonably and vexatiously extended a civil action or
proceeding before any court in this State, the court shall require
the attorney personally to pay the additional costs, expenses and
attorney’s fees reasonably incurred because of such conduct.

2. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this section
in favor of awarding costs, expenses and attorney’s fees in all
appropriate situations. It is the intent of the Legislature that the
court award costs, expenses and attorney’s fees pursuant to this
section and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules
of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and
deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such
claims and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder
the timely resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs
of engaging in business and providing professional services to the
public.

NRS § 7.085 (emphasis supplied).

As clearly documented above, Plaintiffs brought this action in the first place already having
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personally alleged medical negligence pertaining to CHH to third parties, i.e., two State agencies.
They went to the trouble of obtaining a Special Administrator for decedent’s estate for the express
purpose of obtaining her medical records from CHH which they received. Not only did they receive
the records, their counsel, with unmitigated gall, suggested that CHH was obligated to prove that
Plaintiffs received the medical records. Plaintiffs’ counsel completely disregarded NRS 47.250(13)
in which a rebuttable presumption is created “[t]hat a letter duly directed and mailed was received
in the regular course of the mail.” CHH submitted the declarations of two witnesses with personal
knowledge of the facts outlining their procedures for handling incoming medical records requests,
the specifics of how such procedures were implemented in this case, and that the medical records
here were mailed to the Plaintiffs twice, all within one month of decedent’s death. Plaintiffs’ counsel
produced nothing in rebuttal except his false and improper claim that CHH was required to prove
Plaintiffs actually received the records. Plaintiffs themselves never denied receiving them. What
made his statement even more disingenuous was the fact that he gave the very records to Dr. Hashim,
his own expert, for review. Dr. Hashim stated that he reviewed the records and formulated an
opinion which counsel used to file his Complaint. Plaintiffs’ counsel even denied asserting a
fraudulent concealment argument and this Court found no such argument advanced by Plaintiffs. In
a footnote, the Nevada Supreme Court stated “The real parties in interest do not adequately
address why tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the limitation period for
a professional negligence claim "is tolled for any period during which the provider of health care
has concealed any act, error or omission upon which the action is based"). Even if they did, such
an argument would be unavailing, as the medical records provided were sufficient for their
expert witness to conclude that petitioners were negligent in Powell's care.”® Therefore, there
was no evidence that Plaintiffs lacked sufficient documentation to formulate their claim and the
Supreme Court confirmed it.

As noted by a sister Department, “NRS 7.085 essentially provides, where an attorney

violates NRS 18.010(2), NRCP 11 or EDCR 7.60, the delinquent lawyer may be required to

8 Exhibit “B”, note 4 (emphasis supplied)
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personally pay the additional costs, expenses and/or attorney's fees in all appropriate situations.
Notably, as shown above, NRS 18.010(2)(b), EDCR 7.60 and NRS 7.085 do not require Defendants
to be "prevailing parties" and attorneys' fees may be awarded without regard to the recovery sought.”
Berberich v. S. Highland Cmty. Ass'n, 2019 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 130, *11 (Nev. Dist. Ct., Case No.
A-16-731824-C, January 29, 2019).
Furthermore,

Nevada's statutory interpretation rules also support treating NRCP 11

and NRS 7.085 as separate sanctioning mechanisms. This court has

"previously indicated that the rules of statutory interpretation apply to

Nevada's Rules of Civil Procedure." Webb, ex rel. Webb v. Clark

Cnty. Sch. Dist., 125 Nev. 611, 618, 218 P.3d 1239, 1244 (2009)

(citing Moseley, 124 Nev. at 662 n.20, 188 P.3d at 1142 n.20).

Further, "whenever possible, a court will interpret a rule or statute in

harmony with other rules or statutes." Nev. Power Co. v. Haggerty,

115 Nev. 353, 364, 989 P.2d 870, 877 (1999); see also Bowyer, 107

Nev. at 627-28, 817 P.2d at 1178. The simplest way to reconcile

NRCP 11 and NRS 7.085 is to do what federal courts have done with

FRCP 11 and § 1927; treat the rule and statute as independent

methods for district courts to award attorney fees for misconduct.

Therefore, we conclude NRCP 11 does not supersede NRS 7.085.
Watson Rounds, P.C. v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 131 Nev. 783, 789, 358 P.3d 228, 232 (2015).

Hereinabove is a long documented recitation of case law and facts which specifically and

directly contradict anything and everything advanced by Plaintiffs’ counsel in this matter. Plaintiffs’
counsel did everything he could to force CHH to incur expenses. He filed a case well beyond the
statute of limitations, despite clear case law demonstrating when inquiry notice commences. He
was faced with two motions on the issue and misrepresented the facts. He provided not one shred
of evidence to support his personal theories about confusion, refusing and unable to produce any
supporting evidence. He provided no support for a suggestion of fraudulent concealment, and
opposed any motions for a stay of proceedings while the statute of limitations issue made its way
through the appellate system. In short, Plaintiffs’ counsel advanced a case which was dead on
arrival. He knew it, was reminded of it, and pursued it anyway, hoping for a judicial lifeline. The
Supreme Court made certain to cover all possible avenues for Plaintiffs’ counsel’s attempt to scurry

away from his late and improper case filing. Adding insult to injury, he did everything he could to

increase expenses. Elections have consequences. Those consequences are sanctions under NRS

4825-3665-2287.1 19




10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

7.085 which include the $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses incurred from the
commencement of this litigation. Based upon Plaintiffs counsel’s violation of the two prongs of
NRS 7.085, the Supreme Court has determined:

The language of NRS 7.085 is straightforward. Subsection 1 of NRS
7.085 provides that district courts '"shall" hold attorneys
"personally" liable for "additional costs, expenses and attorney's fees"
under certain circumstances. If the statutory conditions are met,
"the court shall" impose a sanction of taxable fees and costs
"reasonably incurred because of such conduct." Id With respect to
"such conduct," the statute requires no more than what it states: in
relevant part, that "a court find[] that an attorney has" (i) "[brought
or] maintained ... a civil action" that (ii) either (a) "is not well-
grounded in fact," (b) "is not warranted by existing law," or (c) "is not
warranted ... by a[] [good faith] argument for changing the existing
law." See NRS 7.085(1)(a). Subsection 2 requires Nevada courts to
"liberally construe" subsection 1 "in favor of awarding costs,
expenses and attorney's fees in all appropriate situations." NRS

7.085(2) (emphasis added).
Washington v. AA Primo Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co., 440 P.3d 49 (Nev. 2019) (Emphasis supplied).
“The statutes are clear—parties who bring and maintain an action without grounds shall have
attorney fees imposed against them.” Lopez v. Corral, Nos. 51541, 51972, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 69, at
*24,2010 WL 5541115 (Dec. 20, 2010).

There is no clearer case for the imposition of attorney’s fees than this one. Plaintiffs’ motion
case was entirely frivolous as it was knowingly filed beyond the statute of limitations. Even if it
was not known from the outset, which the evidence clearly demonstrated that it was, it became
abundantly clear that the Plaintiffs themselves not only suspected, but actually accused CHH of
malpractice and sought investigations by the State into their allegations. Plaintiffs supplied the very
evidence damning their own assertions of “confusion” which make Plaintiffs’ counsel’s
advancement thereof all the more egregious.

Thus, in addition to all NRCP Rule 68 post offer fees and costs, CHH requests that sanctions
be imposed against Plaintiffs’ counsel for all pre-NRCP Rule 68 costs and fees totaling $58,514.36
in accordance with NRS 7.085.

D. EDCR 7.60 Authorizes the Imposition of Fines, Costs, and/or Attorneys’ Fees

Due to an Attorney’s Presentation of Frivolous Opposition to a Motion or
Who Multiplies the Proceeding in a Case to Increase Costs

EDCR 7.60(b) provides:
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(b) The court may, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose
upon an attorney or a party any and all sanctions which may, under
the facts of the case, be reasonable, including the imposition of fines,
costs or attorney's fees when an attorney or a party without just cause:
(1) Presents to the court a motion or an opposition to a motion which
is obviously frivolous, unnecessary or unwarranted.

(2) Fails to prepare for a presentation.

(3) So multiplies the proceeding in a case as to increase costs
unreasonably and vexatiously.

(4) Fails or refuses to comply with these rules.

(5) Fails or refuses to comply with any order of a judge of the court.

The facts pertaining to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s conduct here are fully documented above. They
commenced and maintained a completely unsustainable action from the beginning. They knowingly
possessed the full medical file. They went to court to obtain an authorization to get the medical file.
They never denied receiving the medicals, and in fact, utilized the medicals they did receive to
obtain a medical affidavit for use with the Complaint. They knowingly possessed multiple
complaints to State agencies alleging malpractice against CHH and requesting formal investigations
thereof. Then, for purposes of the motion for summary judgment, Plaintiffs’ counsel feigned
confusion on his client’s behalf as to decedent’s cause of death (a fact which none of the Plaintiffs
confirmed in any sworn statement or testimony). After creating chaos for no reason, when given
the opportunity to prevent CHH from incurring further costs, Plaintiffs’ counsel opposed any request
for a stay of proceedings, three times in this case, requiring the continued discovery process, expert
evaluations and export reporting. They refused to agree to postpone the trial date to allow this matter
to make its way through the Supreme Court, with knowledge that the Court would be ruling one
way or another on this case dispositive issue. In all, Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly caused enormous
costs on CHH only to have the very issues raised in this Court result in a total dismissal. CHH
should not be required to pay for Plaintiffs’ folly, especially when Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely
looked to increase expenses while pursuing a defunct case from the outset. Thus, EDCR 7.60
provides a further avenue of deterrence to attorneys, like Plaintiffs’ counsel, who engage in these
unnecessary and flagrantly frivolous lawsuits which are dead before they are even filed, justifying
an award of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36
in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

/17
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E.

Likewise, CHH is entitled to an award of his attorney’s fees and costs under NRS

CHH Is Also Entitled to Its Fees and Costs Per NRS 18.010(2)

§18.010(2)(b), which provides in pertinent part:

For the reasons discussed above, CHH respectfully requests an award of attorney’s fees and
costs that it incurred in this matter, and enter an order awarding $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per

N.R.C.P.68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant

In addition to the cases where an allowance is authorized by specific
statute [see NRS § 7.085 above], the court may make an allowance of
attorney’s fees to a prevailing party:

(b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that
the claim, counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or
defense of the opposing party was brought or maintained without
reasonable ground or to harass the prevailing party. The court shall
liberally construe the provisions of this paragraph in favor of
awarding attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. It is the intent of
the Legislature that the court award attorney's fees pursuant to this
paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada
Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and
deter frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims
and defenses overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely
resolution of meritorious claims and increase the costs of engaging in
business and providing professional services to the public.

to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

III. CONCLUSION

Based upon the legal authority and reasons stated above, Defendants respectfully request the
Court grant their Motion and award them $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and
N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§

7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

/17
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DATED this 22" day of November 2021.

4825-3665-2287.1

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By

/s/ Adam Garth

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 006858

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Tel. 702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley

Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 22°¢ day of November, 2021, a true and correct copy

of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS

HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO

N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60 was served by electronically

filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and serving all parties

with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89103

Tel: 702.366.1888

Fax: 702.366.1940
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

4825-3665-2287.1

John H. Cotton, Esq.

Brad Shipley, Esq.

JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Tel: 702.832.5909

Fax: 702.832.5910
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/ Roya Rokni

An Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/28/2020 1:22 PM

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLp
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;

DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No.: 30

TARYN CREECY, individually and as an

Heir; ISAIAH KHORSOF, individually and as | DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, SYSTEM, LLC’S RULE 68 OFFER TO
PLAINTIFFS

Plaintiffs,
VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

TO: ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through BRIAN POWELL, as Special
Administrator; DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; TARYN CREECY, individually and as
an Heir; ISAIAH KHORSOF, individually and as an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

Plaintiffs; and

4830-8843-2841.1
Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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TO: Paul S. Padda, Esq., PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC, 4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300,
Las Vegas, NV 89103, their attorneys:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to the provisions of N.R.C.P. 68 and Busick v.
Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 2019 WL 1422712 (Nev., March 28, 2019), 437 P.3d 1050,
Defendants VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as “Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center”), a foreign limited liability company (“Defendant), by and through its counsel of
record, S. Brent Vogel, Esq. and Adam Garth, Esq. of LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH
LLP, hereby offer to waive any presently or potentially recoverable attorney’s fees and costs in full
and final settlement of the above-referenced case. At this time, Defendant has incurred $53,389.90
in attorney’s fees and $5,124.46 in costs.

This Offer shall not be construed to allow Plaintiffs to seek costs, attorney’s fees, or
prejudgment interest from the Court in addition to the amount stated in the Offer, should Plaintiffs
accept the Offer.

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68, this Offer shall be open for a period of fourteen (14) days from the
date of service. In the event this Offer is accepted by Plaintiffs, Defendant will obtain a dismissal
of the claim as provided by N.R.C.P. 68(d), rather than to allow judgment to be entered against
Defendant. Accordingly, and pursuant to these rules and statutes, judgment against Defendant could
not be entered unless ordered by the District Court.

I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
I
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This Offer is made solely for the purposes intended by N.R.C.P. 68, and is not to be construed
as an admission in any form, shape or manner that Defendant is liable for any of the allegations
made by Plaintiffs in the Complaint. Nor is it an admission that Plaintiffs are entitled to any relief,
including, but not limited to, an award of damages, attorney's fees, costs or interest. By virtue of

this Offer, Defendant waives no defenses asserted in their Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

DATED this 28" day of August, 2020

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 6858
ADAM GARTH
Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 28" day of August, 2020, a true and correct copy

of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’S RULE 68 OFFER TO
PLAINTIFFS was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-

File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to

receive electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89103

Tel: 702.366.1888

Fax: 702.366.1940
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

4830-8843-2841.1

John H. Cotton, Esq.

Brad Shipley, Esq.

JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Tel: 702.832.5909

Fax: 702.832.5910
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/ Roya Rokni
Roya Rokni, an Employee of

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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Electronically Filed
11/19/2021 4:28 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
NEOJ Cﬁi«n—f‘ 'ﬁ;“""""

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 06858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

T: 702.893.3383

F: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No. 30
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as | NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that an ORDER was entered with the Court in the above-
captioned matter on the 19" day of November 2021, a copy of which is attached hereto.
/1
/1
/1
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DATED this 19" day of November, 2021.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By  /s/ Adam Garth

S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 06858
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center

4848-5891-8909.1 Page 2 of 3




LEWIS
BRISBOIS
BISGAARD
&SMITHLLP

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

A W ON

o e

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 19" day of November, 2021, a true and correct copy of

NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the

Court using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on

record, who have agreed to receive electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89103

Tel: 702.366.1888

Fax: 702.366.1940
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

4848-5891-8909.1

John H. Cotton, Esq.

Brad Shipley, Esq.

JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Las Vegas, NV 89117

Tel: 702.832.5909

Fax: 702.832.5910
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/ Roya Rokni

An Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
11/19/2021 8:23 AM

ORDR

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

Electronically Filed
11/19/2021 8:22 AM

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir;
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

Case No. A-19-788787-C
Dept. No.: 30

ORDER VACATING PRIOR ORDER
DENYING DEFENDANT VALLEY
HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA
CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL
MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION FOR
SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
GRANTING SAID DEFENDANT’S
MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
PER MANDAMUS OF NEVADA
SUPREME COURT

This matter, coming before this Honorable Court on November 18,2021 at 10:30 a.m. in

accordance with the order granting the petition for a writ of mandamus issued by the Nevada

Supreme Court dated October 18, 2021, directing that this Court vacate its order of October 29,

2020, which previously denied Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’s motion for

4890-8211-2258.1
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summary judgment and co-defendants Concio and Shah’s joinder thereto (collectively
“Defendants”), and ordering this Court to issue an order entering summary judgment in favor of
said Defendants due to the expiration of the statute of limitations, with Paul S. Padda, Esq. and
Srilata Shah, Esq. of PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC, appearing on behalf of Plaintiffs, Adam Garth,
Esq., S. Brent Vogel, Esq. and Shady Sirsy, Esq., of the Law Offices of LEWIS BRISBOIS
BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, appearing on behalf of the Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM,
LLC and John H. Cotton, Esq. and Brad Shipley, Esq. of JOHN H. COTTON AND ASSOCIATES,
appearing on behalf of DR. CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D. and DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D,
with the Honorable Court having reviewed the order of the Nevada Supreme Court, finds and orders
as follows:

THE COURT FINDS that Defendants argued that undisputed evidence demonstrated
Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice of their alleged professional negligence, wrongful death, and
negligent infliction of emotional distress claims by June 11, 2017, at the latest, and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that Defendants contended that Plaintiffs’ February 4,
2019 complaint was time-barred under NRS 41A.097(2) (providing that plaintiffs must bring an
action for injury or death based onthe negligence of a health care provider within three years of the
date of injury and within one year of discovering the injury, whichever occurs first), and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that the term injury in NRS 41A.097 means “legal injury.”
Massey v. Litton, 99 Nev. 723, 726, 669 P.2d 248, 251 (1983). A plaintiff "discovers his legal injury
when he knows or, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts that would
put a reasonable person on inquiry notice of his cause of action." Id. at 728, 669 P.2d at 252. A
plaintiff “is put on ‘inquiry notice’ when he or she should have known of facts that ‘would lead an
ordinarily prudent person to investigate the matter further.”” Winn v. Sunrise Hosp. & Med. Ctr.,
128 Nev. 246,252,277P.3d 458,462 (2012) (quoting Inquiry Notice, Black's Law Dictionary (9th
ed. 2009)), and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that while the accrual date for NRS 41A.097(2)’s one-
year period is generally a question for the trier of fact, this Court may decide the accrual date as a

matter of law when the evidence is irrefutable. Winn, 128 Nev. at 251, 277 P.3d at 462, and

4890-8211-2258.1 2
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THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that here, irrefutable evidence demonstrated that
Plaintiffs were on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017, at the latest, when Plaintiff Brian Powell, special
administrator for the estate, filed a complaint with the State Board of Nursing. There, Brian alleged
that the decedent, Rebecca Powell, “went into respiratory distress” and her health care providers did
not appropriately monitor her, abandoning her care and causing her death, and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that Brian Powell’s own allegations in the aforesaid
Board complaint demonstrate that he had enough information to allege a prima facie claim for
professional negligence-that in treating Rebecca Powell, her health care providers failed “to use the
reasonable care, skill or knowledge ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained
and experienced providers of health care.” NRS 41A.015 (defining professional negligence); Winn,
128 Nev. at 252-53; 277 P.3d at 462 (explaining that a “plaintiffs general belief that someone's
negligence may have caused his or her injury” triggers inquiry notice), and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that the evidence shows that Plaintiff Brian Powell was
likely on inquiry notice even earlier than the aforesaid Board complaint, wherein Plaintiffs alleged
they had observed in real time, following a short period of recovery, the rapid deterioration of
Rebecca Powell’s health while in Defendants’ care, and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that Plaintiff Brian Powell filed a complaint with the
Nevada Department of Health and Human Services (NDHHS) on or before May 23, 2017. Similar
to the Nursing Board complaint, this complaint alleged facts, such as the Defendants’ failure to
upgrade care, sterilize sutures properly, and monitor RebeccaPowell, all of which suggesthe already
believed, and knew of facts to support his belief, that negligent treatment caused Rebecca Powell's
death by the time he made these complaints to NDHHS and the Nursing Board, and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that even though Plaintiffs received Rebecca Powell's
death certificate 17 days later, erroneously listing her cause of death as suicide, that fact did not
change the conclusion that Plaintiffs received inquiry notice prior to that date, and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that Plaintiffs did not adequately address why tolling
should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the limitation period for a professional

negligence claim “is tolled for any period during which the provider of health care has concealed

4890-8211-2258.1 3
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any act, error or omission upon which the action is based”), and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that even if Plaintiffs did adequately address the tolling
issue, such an argument would be unavailing, as the medical records provided were sufficient for
their expert witness to conclude that petitioners were negligent in Rebecca Powell’s care. See Winn,
128 Nev. at 255,277 P.3d at 464 (holding that tolling under NRS 41A.097(3) is only appropriate
where the intentionally concealed medical records were “material” to the professional negligence
claims), and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS thatthe doctrine of equitable tollinghas notbeen extended
to NRS 41A.097(2), and

THIS COURT FURTHER FINDS that Plaintiffs did not adequately address whether such
an application of equitable tolling is appropriate under these facts. See Edwards v. Emperor's
Garden Rest., 122 Nev. 317,330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006) (refusing to consider
arguments that a party did not cogently argue or support with relevant authority), and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that Plaintiffs had until June 11,2018, at the latest, to file
their professional negligence claim, making Plaintiffs’ February 4, 2019 complaint untimely, and

THE COURT FURTHER FINDS that given the uncontroverted evidence demonstrating that
Defendants were entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the complaint was time-barred
under NRS 41A.097(2), see NRCP 56(a); Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 1029 (recognizing
that courts must grant summary judgment when the pleadings and all other evidence on file, viewed
in a light most favorable to the nonmoving party, "demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any
material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law"
(internal quotations omitted));

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Court’s prior order
of October 29,2020 denying VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’s motion for summary judgment
and co-defendants’ joinder thereto is vacated in its entirety, and
/17
/1]

/]
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IT IS HEREBY FURTHER ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that Defendant
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’s motion for summary judgment and co-defendants’ joinders

thereto are granted in their entirety due to the untimely filing of this action by Plaintiffs.
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Dated:

DATED this  day of November, 2021.

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Srilata Shah, Esq,

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, NV 89103

Tel: 702.366.1888
Fax:702.366.1940
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DATED this 18t day of November, 2021

/s/ Brad Shipley
John H. Cotton, Esq.
Brad Shipley, Esq.
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89117
Tel: 702.832.5909
Fax:702.832.5910
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,

M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

4890-8211-2258.1

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

DATED this 18" day of November, 2021

/s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6858
ADAM GARTH, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 15045
SHADY SIRSY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 15818
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH
LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health
System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center




From: Brad Shipley

To: Garth, Adam; Srilata Shah; Paul Padda

Cc: Vogel. Brent; Rokni, Roya; Sirsy, Shady; San Juan. Maria

Subject: [EXT] RE: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Date: Friday, November 12, 2021 10:00:14 AM

Attachments: image001.png

Caution:This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

Adam,
| believe the bracketed word [proposed] in the title caption should be removed before submission to the court, but please
use my e-signature with or without making that change. Thank you for taking the time to draft the order.

Brad Shipley, Esq.

John H. Cotton & Associates, Ltd.
7900 W. Sahara ave. #200

Las Vegas, NV 89117

bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com
702 832 5909

From: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com>

Sent: Friday, November 12, 2021 8:50 AM

To: Srilata Shah <sri@paulpaddalaw.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>; Brad Shipley
<bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; Sirsy, Shady
<Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com>; San Juan, Maria <Maria.SanJuan@lewisbrisbois.com>; John Cotton
<jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com>

Subject: FW: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Importance: High

Counsel,

As a reminder, we have not heard from any party with respect to an agreement on submitting the proposed order to the
Court. Given that the hearing is scheduled for 11/18, we previously indicated that if we did not hear from all parties by
12:00 noon today, we would proceed to submit this order to the court indicating no agreement between the parties.
Please advise your position on this proposed order. Many thanks.

Adam Garth

Adam Garth

Partner
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com
T:702.693.4335 F:702.366.9563

6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600, Las Vegas, NV 89118 | LewisBrisbois.com

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations nationwide.



This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not the
intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then delete
this email and any attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored.

From: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com>

Sent: Tuesday, November 9, 2021 10:33 AM

To: Srilata Shah <sri@paulpaddalaw.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>; Brad Shipley
<bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; San Juan, Maria
<Maria.SanJuan@lewisbrisbois.com>; Sirsy, Shady <Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com>; jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
Subject: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Importance: High

Counsel:

Attached is a proposed order reflecting the Supreme Court's ruling on the writ petition for Judge Wiese's consideration and signature. In
accordance with the Supreme Court's order, Judge Wiese was directed to vacate his order denying the respective summary judgment
motions and issuing a new order granting said motions. This proposed order does exactly that and reflects the rationale utilized by the
Supreme Court in its decision. It is our intention to submit this proposed order to Judge Wiese in advance of the hearing he scheduled for
November 18, 2021. Please respond whether we have your consent to use your e-signature on the proposed order prior to submission. If
you have proposed changes, please advise accordingly and we can see whether they can be incorporated. We would like to submit the order
on or before Friday, November 12, 2021, so please indicate your agreement to the order or if you have an objection. If we do not hear from
you by before 11/12 by 12:00 noon, we will submit the order with a letter of explanation as to those parties unwilling to sign and they will
have an opportunity to submit any competing order to the Court. Many thanks for your attention to this matter.

Adam Garth

Adam Garth

Partner

Las Vegas Rainbow
702.693.4335 or x7024335



From: Garth. Adam

To: Paul Padda; Srilata Shah; Brad Shipley
Cc: Vogel. Brent; Rokni. Roya; Sirsy, Shady; San Juan. Maria; jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
Subject: RE: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Date: Friday, November 12, 2021 9:59:40 AM
Attachments: image001.png
image002.png

We are not willing to do that. As you were unwilling to stay anything at our request, we will return the courtesy.

From: Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>

Sent: Friday, November 12, 2021 9:56 AM

To: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com>; Srilata Shah <sri@paulpaddalaw.com>; Brad Shipley
<bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; Sirsy, Shady
<Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com>; San Juan, Maria <Maria.SanJuan@|ewisbrisbois.com>; jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
Subject: [EXT] RE: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"

Caution:This email originated from outside of the organization. Do not click links or open attachments unless you
recognize the sender and know the content is safe.

As you know, there is a motion for rehearing pending in the Supreme Court. Given that fact,
and the lack of prejudice to Defendants, please advise if Defendants are willing to stay
enforcement of the Supreme Court’s decision which is the subject of a motion for rehearing?
Thanks.

Paul S. Padda, Esq.
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
Websites: paulpaddalaw.com

Nevada Office:

4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

California Office:

One California Plaza

300 South Grand Avenue, Suite 3840
Los Angeles, California 90071

Tele: (213) 423-7788

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: The information in this electronic mail communication contains confidential information
which is the property of the sender and may be protected by the attorney-client privilege and/or attorney work product

doctrine. It is intended solely for the addressee. Access to this e-mail by anyone else is unauthorized by the sender. If you
are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any disclosure, copying, or distribution of the contents of this

e-mail transmission or the taking or omission of any action in reliance thereon or pursuant thereto, is prohibited, and may
be unlawful. If you received this e-mail in error, please notify us immediately of your receipt of this message by e-mail and

destroy this communication, any attachments, and all copies thereof. Thank you for your cooperation.

From: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@|ewisbrisbois.com>



Sent: Friday, November 12, 2021 8:50 AM

To: Srilata Shah <sri@paulpaddalaw.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>; Brad Shipley
<bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; Sirsy, Shady
<Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com>; San Juan, Maria <Maria.SanJuan@lewisbrisbois.com>; jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
Subject: FW: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Importance: High

Counsel,

As a reminder, we have not heard from any party with respect to an agreement on submitting the proposed order to the
Court. Given that the hearing is scheduled for 11/18, we previously indicated that if we did not hear from all parties by
12:00 noon today, we would proceed to submit this order to the court indicating no agreement between the parties.
Please advise your position on this proposed order. Many thanks.

Adam Garth

Adam Garth
Partner
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

T:702.693.4335 F: 702.366.9563

6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600, Las Vegas, NV 89118 | LewisBrisbois.com

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations nationwide.

This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use of the intended recipient. If you are not the
intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then delete
this email and any attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored.

From: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@|ewisbrisbois.com>

Sent: Tuesday, November 9, 2021 10:33 AM

To: Srilata Shah <sri@paulpaddalaw.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>; Brad Shipley

<bshipl jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; San Juan, Maria
<Maria.SanJuan@lewisbrisbois.com>; Sirsy, Shady <Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com>; jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
Subject: Adam Garth sent you "Powell v Valley - Proposed Order Vacating Prior MSJ and Ordering SJ on SOL"
Importance: High

Counsel:

Attached is a proposed order reflecting the Supreme Court's ruling on the writ petition for Judge Wiese's consideration and signature. In
accordance with the Supreme Court's order, Judge Wiese was directed to vacate his order denying the respective summary judgment
motions and issuing a new order granting said motions. This proposed order does exactly that and reflects the rationale utilized by the
Supreme Court in its decision. It is our intention to submit this proposed order to Judge Wiese in advance of the hearing he scheduled for
November 18, 2021. Please respond whether we have your consent to use your e-signature on the proposed order prior to submission. If
you have proposed changes, please advise accordingly and we can see whether they can be incorporated. We would like to submit the order
on or before Friday, November 12, 2021, so please indicate your agreement to the order or if you have an objection. If we do not hear from
you by before 11/12 by 12:00 noon, we will submit the order with a letter of explanation as to those parties unwilling to sign and they will
have an opportunity to submit any competing order to the Court. Many thanks for your attention to this matter.

Adam Garth

Adam Garth



Partner
Las Vegas Rainbow
702.693.4335 or x7024335
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estate of Rebecca Powell,
Plaintiff(s)

VS.

Valley Health System, LLC,
Defendant(s)

CASE NO: A-19-788787-C

DEPT. NO. Department 30

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all
recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 11/19/2021
Paul Padda
S. Vogel
Jody Foote
Jessica Pincombe
John Cotton
Paul Padda
Brad Shipley
Tony Abbatangelo
Adam Garth

Roya Rokni

psp@paulpaddalaw.com
brent.vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
jfoote@jhcottonlaw.com
jpincombe@jhcottonlaw.com
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com
civil@paulpaddalaw.com
bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com
Tony@thevegaslawyers.com
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

roya.rokni(@lewisbrisbois.com
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Diana Escobedo
Srilata Shah
Shady Sirsy
Maria San Juan

Karen Cormier

diana@paulpaddalaw.com
sri@paulpaddalaw.com
Shady.Sirsy@lewisbrisbois.com
maria.sanjuan@lewisbrisbois.com

karen@paulpaddalaw.com
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PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10417

Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com
SRILATA R. SHAH, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6820

Email: sri@paulpaddalaw.com

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
Brian Powell as Special Administrator; DARCI
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"Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 « Fax (702) 366-1940
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4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
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CREECY, individually;, TARYN CREECY,

individually; ISATIAH KHOSROF,

individually; LLOYD CREECY, individually;
Plaintiffs,

VS,

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing

CASE NO. A-19-788787-C

DEPT. 30

PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH
SYSTEM LLC’S MOTION FOR
ATTORNEYS’ FEES

N NN NN NN NN -
N NN N L A WN = S O

business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, MJUD. an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, MD. an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

|

Plaintiffs ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Brian Powell as Special
Administrator; DARCI CREECY, individually; TARYN CREECY, individually; ISAIAH

KHOSROF, individually; LLOYD CREECY, individually submit this opposition to Defendant,

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees

1

Case Number: A-19-788787-C




PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 « Fax (702) 366-1940
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VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’s (doing business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”) (“Centennial Hills””) Motion for Attorneys’ Fees.

For the reasons set forth below, this Court should deny Centennial Hills’ Motion for
Attorneys’ Fees. In support of this opposition, Plaintiffs rely upon the memorandum of points
and authorities below, all papers on file in this litigation, Centennial Hills’ Offer of Judgment
and any additional argument the Court may permit. See Defendant’s Offer of Judgment to
Plaintiffs attached as Exhibit 1.

1. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

This is a medical malpractice/wrongful death case where Ms. Rebecca Powell, age 41,
died while in the care of Defendant, Valley Health Systems, LLC doing business as Centennial
Hills Hospital Medical Center (“Centennial Hills”) on account of negligence by the hospital and
its medical personnel. Ms. Powell was the mother of three children, Isiah, Taryn and Darci.

On May 3, 2017, Ms. Powell was found by EMS at her home. Ms. Powell was
unconscious, labored in her breathing, and had vomit on her face. EMS provided emergency care
and transported her to Centennial Hills where she was admitted. Ms. Powell continued to improve
during her admission. However, on May 10, 2017, Ms. Powell complained of shortness of breath,
weakness, and a “drowning” feeling. In response to these complaints, Defendant Dr. Shah ordered
Ativan to be administered via an IV push. On May 11, 2017, Dr. Concio ordered two more doses
of Ativan and ordered several tests, including a chest CT to be performed. However, the CT could
not be performed due to Ms. Powell’s inability to remain still during the test. Ms. Powell was
returned to her room where she was supposed to be monitored by a camera. Another dose of
Ativan was ordered at 3:27 AM on May 11, 2017. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Powell suffered acute
respiratory failure, resulting in her death on May 11, 2017.

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees

2
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According to Plaintiff, Brian Powell, Ms. Powell’s former husband, he could not visit with
Ms. Powell while she was in the hospital because he was “turned away by the nurses.” However,
he stated under oath that, following Ms. Powell’s death on May 11, 2017, “I did meet with Taryn,
Isaiah and one of Rebecca’s friends to speak with the doctor and risk manager after Rebecca’s
death, but they didn’t provide any information.” See Responses to Defendant Valley Health
Systems First Set of Interrogatories to Plaintiff Estate of Rebecca Powell T hrough Brian Powell
As Special Administrator, attached as Exhibit 2, 11:17-21. At this time, the family received no
concrete facts or answers from Centennial Hills or its medical personnel as to the circumstances
surrounding her death.

In search of further answers, Plaintiff Brian Powell, Special Administrator of Rebecca
Powell’s’ estate filed a complaint with the Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”)
sometime before May 23, 2017, requesting that the agency investigate the care and services
received by Ms. Powell. Plaintiff, Taryn Creecy, ordered Ms. Powell's medical records on May
25, 2017, however, there were issues with delivery, and it is unclear exactly when Plaintiff
received them. Additionally, Plaintiff Brian Powell filed a Complaint with the Nevada State
Board of Nursing on June 11, 2017.

On June 28, 2017, approximately six weeks after the death of Ms. Powell, Plaintiffs
received the Certificate of Death, issued by HHS which stated Ms. Powell’s cause of death as a
suicide due to “Complications of Duloxetine (Cymbalta) Intoxication.”

By letter dated February 5, 2018, HHS notified Mr. Powell that it conducted an
“investigation” of the facility and concluded that Centennial Hills committed “violation(s) with
rules and/or regulations.” HHS’s report noted several deficiencies in the medical care provided
to Ms. Powell including, among other things, that Ms. Powell was exhibiting symptoms that

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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should have triggered a higher level of care (“the physician should have been notified, the RRT
activated, and the level of care upgraded”). See State of Nevada Department of Health and Human
Services Letter and Report, attached as Exhibit 3. The HHS Report of Investigation stands in
stark contrast to the Certificate of Death which inaccurately declared Ms. Powell’s death a
suicide. This was the first time that Plaintiffs learned the cause of death listed on Ms. Powell’s
Certificate of Death was inaccurate. Within one year of the HHS investigative report dated
February 5, 2018, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint in the Eighth Judicial District Court on February 4,
2019, in compliance with NRS 41 A.097(2)(a) and (c).

II. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 4, 2019, Plaintiffs, filed a lawsuit alleging negligence/medical malpractice,
wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085, and negligent infliction of emotional distress against
Defendants, Valley Health Systems (doing business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), Universal Health Services, Inc., Dr. Dionice S. Juliano, M.D., Dr. Conrado C.D. and
Dr. Vishal S. Shah M.D. and Doe Defendants. In compliance with NRS 41A.071, the Complaint
included an affidavit from Dr. Sami Hashim in support of their first cause of action alleging
negligence/medical malpractice.

On June 12, 2019, Defendants Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano, filed a Motion to Dismiss
pursuant to Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure [“NRCP”] 12(b)(5) alleging that Plaintiffs failed to
timely file their Complaint within the statute of limitations pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2) and failed
to meet the threshold requirements of NRS 41A.071 for the claims of negligent infliction of
emotional distress and professional negligence.

On June 13, 2019, Defendant Dr. Shah filed a Joinder to Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano’s
Motion to Dismiss. On June 26, 2019, Defendant Centennial Hills also filed a Joinder to Dr.

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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Concio and Dr. Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss. On June 19, 2019, Defendant Centennial Hills filed
a separate Motion to Dismiss pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5) alleging Plaintiffs failed to timely file
their Complaint within the statute of limitations time of one year pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2)
and requested dismissal of Plaintiffs’ Complaint. On August 13, 2019, Plaintiffs filed their
Opposition to the Motion to Dismiss filed by Defendants.

On September 23, 2019, Defendant, Universal Health Services, Inc. Joinders to
Defendants Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss. On September 23, 2019, Defendant
Universal Health Services, Inc. filed a Joinder to Motion to Dismiss. On September 25, 2019,
counsel for Centennial Hills presented oral arguments to the District Court on their Motion to
Dismiss. Judge Wiese denied Centennial Hills’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint based
upon NRS 41A.097(2) and NRCP 12(b)(5).

After considering the papers on file and arguments of counsel, the District Court issued
an Order dated February 6, 2021. Under the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, Judge
Wiese addressed the statute of limitations arguments noting that the Supreme Court has been
clear that the standard of when a claimant “kmew or reasonably should have known?” is
generally an issue of fact for a jury to decide. See, Order Denying Defendants Conrado
Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D. ‘s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint attached as
Exhibit 4, 2:24-26. Additionally, in the Order dated February 6, 2021, this Court denied
Defendants Dr. Concio and Dr. Juliano’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and
subsequent Joinders. In a companion Order dated February 6, 2021, the Court also denied
Centennial Hills’ Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and subsequent Joinders to that
motion. See Order Denying Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s Motion to
Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint attached as Exhibit 5.

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC's Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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Dr. Concio, Dr. Juliano and Dr. Shah filed their answer on October 2,2019. On April 15,
2020, Centennial Hills filed its Answer to Plaintiffs Complaint.

In July of 2020, Centennial Hills served 86 Requests for Production of Documents
including 16 additional special requests to Plaintiffs. Discovery requests also included
Interrogatories to Plaintiffs. Responses to the discovery were provided in August and September
of 2020 by Plaintiffs.

On August 28, 2020 Centennial Hills served its Offer of Judgment to Plaintiffs which
offered no money but simply offered “to waive any presently or potentially recoverable attorney’s
fees and costs in full and final settlement of the . . . case.” See Defendant Valley Health Systems,
LLC ‘s Rule 68 Offer to Plaintiff’s attached as Exhibit 1. The Offer claimed that “[a]t this time,
Defendant has incurred $53,389.90 in attorney’s fees and $5,124.46 in costs.” Id. No billing
statements or invoices documenting Centennial’s purported fees and costs were attached to the
Offer. Id.

On September 2, 2020, Centennial Hills and Universal Health Services filed a Motion for
Summary Judgment based upon the expiration of the Statute of Limitations contained in NRS
41A.097. On September 3, 2020, co-defendants Dr. Concio, Dr. Shah, and Dr. Juliano joined
Centennial Hills’ Motion for Summary Judgment.

On September 16, 2020, Plaintiffs filed their Opposition to Centennial Hills’ Motion for
Summary Judgment. The Opposition pointed out that Centennial Hills had previously raised the
identical arguments in their prior Motion to Dismiss and had joined co-defendants Motion also
seeking a dismissal based on the expiration of the statute of limitations. Because the prior Motions

to Dismiss were denied by the Court after hearing oral arguments from counsel, Plaintiffs also

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion F or Attorneys’ Fees
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requested reasonable fees and costs for the violation of EDCR 2.24 which disallows the filing of
the same motion without seeking leave of Court.

On October 21, 2020, Centennial Hills filed its reply to Plaintiffs opposition. On October
21, 2020, co-defendants Dr. Concio, Dr. Shah, and Dr. Juliano filed a Joinder to Centennial Hills’
reply.

In an Order dated October 29, 2020, this Court denied several motions and joinders
including Centennial Hills’ Motion for Summary Judgment based upon the expiration of the
Statute of Limitations contained in NRS 41A.097.

In the Order filed October 29, 2020, Judge Wiese held that “This Court is not to grant a
Motion to Dismiss or a Motion for Summary Judgment on the issue of a violation of the Statute
of Limitations, unless the facts and evidence irrefutably demonstrate that Plaintiff was put on
inquiry notice more than one year prior to the filing of the complaint. See ORDER, attached as
Exhibit 6, 5:4-11. “This Court does not find that such evidence is irrefutable, and that there
remains a genuine issue of material fact as to when the Plaintiffs were actually put on
inquiry notice. /d. Such issue is an issue of fact, appropriate for determination by the trier of
fact. Id. “Consequently, Summary Judgment would not be appropriate, and the Motion for
Summary Judgment, and the Joinders thereto, must be denied.” Id.

On November 5, 2020, Centennial Hills filed a Motion Seeking a Stay of the lower court
proceedings pending a resolution of an appellate issue pursuant to NRAP 8(a)(1)(A). On
November 19, 2020, Plaintiffs filed an Opposition to Centennial Hills Motion Requesting a Stay.
On December 17, 2020, the District Court denied Centennial Hills’ Motion for Stay. In denying
the stay the District Court again reiterated its reasoning for denying Centennial’s Motion for
Summary Judgment by stating that “the Court cannot find that the Defendants are likely to prevail

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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on the merits, as this Court previously found, and continues to believe, that the Death Certificate
identifying Ms. Powell's cause of death as a "suicide," may have tolled the statute of limitations,
in that such a conclusion or determination by the Medical Examiner, would clearly not suggest
"negligence” on the part of any medical care provider. See Order Denying Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC’s Motion to Stay on Order Shortening Time, attached as Exhibit 7, 5:7-10.
Although Defendants suggest that Plaintiffs possessed inquiry notice much earlier, the Court
could not find that the families questioning of the cause of death equated with inquiry notice of
negligence. Consequently, this Court concluded that “when the Plaintiffs knew or should have
known, of the alleged negligence of the Defendants, was an issue of fact which overcame the
Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently, the Court cannot find that there is a
likelihood of success on the merits.” Id.

On December 22, 2020, Centennial Hills filed a Writ Petition with the Nevada Supreme
Court. The Supreme Court requested answering and reply briefs on the Writ Petition. On March
30, 2021, Plaintiffs filed their Response to the Writ Petition. Centennial Hills filed their Reply to
the Writ Petition on April 22, 2021. Centennial Hills moved this Court to reconsider its decision
to stay the proceedings. On April 28, 2021, this Court denied Centennial Hills Motion to
Reconsider Stay. On April 22, 2021, Centennial Hills requested the Supreme Court for a stay
and the Supreme Court denied the stay.

On October 18, 2021, the Supreme Court issued an Order granting Centennial Hills’ Writ
Petition and directing this Court to vacate its Order denying Centennial Hills Motion for Summary
Judgment and entering Summary Judgment in favor of all the Defendants.

Centennial Hills now seeks attorneys’ fees in the instant Motion. Plaintiffs request this
Court to deny Centennial Hills Motion for Attorneys’ Fees as the filing of the medical

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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malpractice, wrongful death, and negligent infliction of emotional distress complaint on behalf
of the estate and surviving children of Rebecca Powell was not frivolous, and the claims for
wrongful death/medical malpractice and negligent infliction of emotional distress were brought
in good faith.

As the record reflects, this Court repeatedly denied several applications for Motions to
Dismiss based on the expiration of the statute of limitations and Motions for Summary Judgment
arguing the expiration of the statute of limitations by Defendants and found the filing of Plaintiffs
suit to be meritorious and within the statute of limitations.

Centennial Hills did not “win” this matter on its merits. The case was not tried on the facts
or merits and a jury did not find in Defendants’ favor. The Supreme Court reversed the decision
of this Court on their interpretation of the facts regarding inquiry notice. The Supreme Court
incorrectly reversed Judge Wiese’s decision on Centennial Hills Motion for Summary judgment
which results in a dismissal of the case based on the Supreme Court’s interpretation of the facts
as to when all the Plaintiffs learned of the wrongful death/medical malpractice claims against
Centennial Hills and the treating physicians. Plaintiffs are challenging the Nevada Supreme
Court’s October 18, 2021, decision and filing a Petition for En Banc Reconsideration.

This opposition is submitted to Centennial Hills Motion for Attorneys’ Fees pursuant to

NRCP 68, NRS 17.117, 7.085, 18.010 (2), and EDCR 7.60.

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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III. MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

A. THIS COURT HAS THE DISCRETION TO DENY CENTENNIAL
HILLS> APPLICATION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES BASED ON THE
BEATTIE FACTORS.

The irrefutable facts of this case are as follows: This is a case where a 41-year-old mother
of three died while hospitalized at Centennial Hills. The coroner’s office noted Ms. Powell’s death
to be suicide. It was not until Ms. Powell’s ex-husband Brian Powell, requested the HHS to
investigate the death of Ms. Powell did HHS by letter/report dated February 5, 2018, inform Mr.
Powell that it conducted an “investigation™ of the facility and concluded that Centennial Hills
committed “violation(s) with rules and/or regulations.”

"It is within the discretion of the trial court judge to allow attorney's fees pursuant to Rule

68" and "[u]nless the trial court's exercise of discretion is arbitrary or capricious, this court will

not disturb the lower court's ruling on appeal.” Schouweiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 833,

712 P.2d 786, 790 (1985). (Emphasis added). This Court should exercise its discretion and deny
Centennial Hills motion for attorneys’ fees as Plaintiffs’ claims had merit and continues to have
merit. The dismissal of the case on an incorrect interpretation of the facts and application of
inquiry notice to all the named Plaintiffs by the Supreme Court does not make the claims of
Plaintiffs any less meritorious.

Moreover, Pursuant to NRCP 68!, a party is not entitled to attorney’s fees simply because
it served an offer of judgment on the opposing party and that party failed to achieve a more

favorable verdict. The purpose of NRCP 68 is to encourage settlement, it is not to force

! The same argument is applicable to NRS 17.117(10).

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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Plaintiffs’ unfairly to forego legitimate claims. See, Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 668 P.2d

268 (1983).
NRCP 68 provides that if a party rejects an offer of judgment and fails to obtain a more
favorable judgment at trial, the district court may order that party to pay the offeror reasonable

attorney fees. Pursuant to Beattie, the District Court must weigh the following four factors when

deciding whether to award attorney fees based upon an offer of judgment:
(1) whether the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith;
(2) whether the defendants' offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its
timing and amount;
(3) whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly
unreasonable or in bad faith; and
(4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount.

Beattie, 99 Nev. 588-89, 668 P.2d, 274.

1. Plaintiffs’ Claims Were Brought In Good Faith

Plaintiffs satisfy the first Beattie factor in that the Plaintiffs’ claims were brought in good

faith. The claims for medical malpractice and wrongful death are well supported by the facts of
this case and the impending death of Rebecca Powell at the age of 41. HHS found Centennial
Hills to be negligent in the care provided to Rebecca Powell at Centennial Hills. HHS’s report
dated February 5, 2018, noted several deficiencies in the medical care provided to Ms. Powell
including, among other things, that Ms. Powell was exhibiting symptoms that should have
triggered a higher level of care (“the physician should have been notified, the RRT activated, and
the level of care upgraded™). See Exhibit 3. The HHS Report of Investigation stands in stark
contrast to the Certificate of Death which inaccurately declared Ms. Powell’s death a suicide.

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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This was the first time that all the Plaintiffs learned the cause of death listed on Ms. Powell’s
Certificate of Death was inaccurate.

This Court has repeatedly found merit in Plaintiffs’ Complaint and their causes of action
for wrongful death, medical malpractice, and negligent infliction of emotional harm. Defendants
request for attorneys’ fees and costs is not justified and not warranted as the Complaint was
bought by Plaintiffs in good faith. This case was “not dead on arrival” as stated by Centennial
Hills. This case was brought because a 41 one year old mother of three died due to the negligence
of the Defendants. A price was paid by the Plaintiffs when they lost their mother who died while
in the care of Centennial Hills.

2. Defendant’s Offer Of Judgment Was Not Reasonable And Was Not
Made In Good Faith In Both Its Timing And Amount

The second factor of Beattie also weighs in favor of the Plaintiffs. Centennial Hills served
an Offer of Judgment on August 28, 2020, where they agreed to merely waive their present and
potentially recoverable attorney’s fees and costs in full and final settlement of the above-
referenced case. The Offer of Judgment, while referencing $53,389.90 in purported attorney’s
fees and $5,124.46 in purported costs, providing no documentation for Plaintiffs to evaluate the
reasonableness or accuracy of what Centennial Hills was claiming.

However, Defendant’s Offer of Judgment of $58,514.36 was not reasonable and nor was
it in good faith considering Plaintiffs’ causes of action for medical malpractice, wrongful death,
and negligent infliction of emotional harm. Plaintiffs lost their mother, who was only 41 years
old at the time of her death. It was reasonable for Plaintiffs to reject Defendants’ Offer of
Judgment as the terms of the Offer of Judgment did not provide for any monetary recovery to

Plaintiffs to compensate them for the loss of their mother. Defendants incorrectly state in their
Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
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papers that given the likelihood of losing on this issue, the offered waiver of right to seek
reimbursement of costs was reasonable in both timing and amount. On the contrary, shortly after
the expiration of the time to accept the Offer of Judgment, this Court denied Centennial Hills
Motion for Summary Judgment in October 2020 as it did not find merit in Defendant’s Motion
for Summary Judgment. An award of attorneys’ fees is not appropriate in this case as Defendants
failed to present an Offer of Judgment that would compensate Plaintiffs for their loss and the
Offer itself was not proper under Nevada law. To this point, while the Offer cites Busick v.

Trainor, 2019 WL 1422712, this is an unpublished decision by the Nevada Supreme Court. There

is no published authority in Nevada that has held that a “walk away” Offer of Judgment is a proper
Offer under NRCP 68, especially where no documentation is provided to permit a plaintiff to
evaluate the reasonableness of the claimed fees and costs. Instead, the Nevada Supreme Court
has held that where a trial court is evaluating an offer of judgment, the court may not factor in the

“inclusion of fees and costs as part of the judgment being evaluated.” McCrary v. Bianco, 122

Nev. 102, 107 (2006).

3. Plaintiffs’ Decision To Reject The Offer Of Judgment Was Not Grossly
Unreasonable Nor In Bad Faith

As stated above, Defendants Offer of Judgment did not include an amount to compensate
the Plaintiffs for the loss of their mother. Plaintiffs continued to defeat every Motion to Dismiss,
and Motion for Summary Judgement filed by all the Defendants challenging the expiration of the
statute of limitations based on inquiry notice. Centennial Hills lost every Motion to Dismiss,
Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for a Stay pending the decision on the Writ as this
Court was not convinced by Defendant that Plaintiffs filed the Complaint beyond the statute of

limitations. This Court correctly held that the facts surrounding when Plaintiffs learned of the

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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negligence to support their causes of action is an issue of fact to be determined by the jury and/or
trier of fact. It was not grossly unreasonable for Plaintiffs to reject the Offer of Judgment as no
amount was being offered in damages to the Plaintiffs. What Defendants were offering was a
waiver of their purported fees and costs in the range of $58,500. Plaintiffs were not even in a
position to verify the accuracy of the alleged fees and costs since no documentation was provided
by Centennial Hills in support of its Offer.

There was no bad faith as Plaintiffs wholeheartedly believed in their causes of action
which was supported by the report issued by HHS in February of 2018. HHS found wrongdoing
by Centennial Hills and found violations which supported the Plaintiffs causes of action for
wrongful death, medical malpractice, and negligent infliction of emotional harm. *

Plaintiffs’ decision to proceed with their causes of action was not only reasonable, and in
good faith, but the right decision at that time.

4. The Fees Sought By Centennial Hills Is Not Reasonable And Not Justified
In Amount

Based on the overall facts of this case and the procedural history of this case Plaintiffs
causes of action still have merit should this case or had this case proceeded to trial. Centennial
Hills won on a technicality and not on merit at the Supreme Court level. There was no jury that
rendered a decision after trial in Centennial Hills favor. A jury did not render a defense verdict
after trial.

Although the decision to award such fees lies within the district court's discretion, the
Nevada Supreme Court has emphasized that, while Nevada's offer of judgment provisions are
designed to encourage settlement, they should not be used as a mechanism to unfairly force

plaintiffs to forego legitimate claims. Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579. 588-89, 668 P.2d 268,

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al,
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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274 (1983). Each factor need not favor awarding attorney fees because “no one factor under

Beattie is determinative.” Yamaha Motor Co. v. Arnoult, 114 Nev. 233, 252,955 P.2d 661, 673
(1998). “[E]xplicit findings on every Beattie factor [are not] required for the district court to

adequately exercise its discretion.” Certified Fire Prot.. Inc. v. Precision Constr.. Inc., 128 Nev.

Adv. Op. 35, 283 P.3d 250, 258 (2012).

As detailed above, the Plaintiffs’ Complaint for wrongful death and medical malpractice
was brought in good faith which is well supported by the facts in the record and this Court’s
denial of several Motions by all the Defendants on the issue of the statute of limitations.
Moreover, it is Defendant continued filing of Motions based on the same theory that Plaintiffs
did not file their lawsuit within the prescribed statute of limitations that drove up Defendant’s
fees. The fees related to these relentless attempts on the same statute of limitations theory makes
Defendant’s attorney’s fees unreasonable and unjustified. Moreover, Plaintiffs are unable to
properly evaluate the reasonableness of Defendant’s attorney’s fees because they only present a
summary of the fees that have been incurred.

It is interesting to note that Defendants were willing to mediate this matter in November
of 2021 prior to the October 18, 2021, Supreme Court decision. Defendants’ willingness to
mediate further supports the merit of Plaintiffs’ claims. This Court should use its discretion and
deny the motion for attorneys’ fees.

B. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY CENTENNIAL HILLS REQUEST FOR

AN AWARD OF PRE-NRCP RULE 68 OFFER OF JUDGMENT FEES
PURSUANT TO NRS 7.085.
NRS 7.085 provides the following:
1. Ifa court finds that an attorney has:
(a) Filed, maintained, or defended a civil action or proceeding in any court

in this State and such action or defense is not well-grounded in fact or is not

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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warranted by existing law or by an argument for changing the existing law that is
made in good faith; or

(b) Unreasonably and vexatiously extended a civil action or proceeding
before any court in this State, the court shall require the attorney personally to pay
the additional costs, expenses and attorney’s fees reasonably incurred because of
such conduct.

2. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this section in favor of
awarding costs, expenses and attorney’s fees in all appropriate situations. It is the
intent of the Legislature that the court award costs, expenses and attorney’s fees
pursuant to this section and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada
Rules of Civil Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter
frivolous or vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses
overburden limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious
claims and increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional
services to the public.

As clearly documented above, Plaintiffs brought this action in good faith. None of the
provisions of NRS 7.085 apply to the facts of this case. As detailed above, Plaintiffs did not have
inquiry notice of a wrongful death and malpractice claim against the named Defendants until
February 5, 2018, when HHS found that the Defendants violated the policies and procedures

In denying Centennial Hills’ Motion for Summary Judgment, this Court concluded that
when the Plaintiffs knew or should have known, of the alleged negligence of the Defendants, was
an issue of fact which overcame the Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently,
the Court cannot find that there is a likelihood of success on the merits. Specifically, in the Order
dated February 6, 2021, this Court under the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, addressed
the statute of limitations arguments noting that the Supreme Court has been clear that the standard
of when a claimant “knew or reasonably should have known” is generally an issue of fact for a
jury to decide. Judge Wiese denied Centennial Hills’ motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint

based upon NRS 41A.097(2) and NRCP 12(b)(5). See Exhibit 5, 2:19-21.

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
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Again in denying Centennial Hills’ Motion for Stay, this Court on December 17, 2020
Order reiterated its finding that “the Court cannot find that the Defendants are likely to prevail on
the merits, as this Court previously found, and continues to believe, that the Death Certificate
identifying Ms. Powell's cause of death as a "suicide," may have tolled the statute of limitations,
in that such a conclusion or determination by the Medical Examiner, would clearly not suggest
"negligence" on the part of any medical care provider. See Exhibit 7, 5:5-12. Although the
Defendants suggest that the Plaintiffs possessed inquiry notice much earlier, the Court
could not find that the families questioning of the cause of death equated with inquiry notice
of negligence. Consequently, this Court concluded that when the Plaintiffs knew or should have
known, of the alleged negligence of the Defendants, was an issue of fact which overcame the
Defendants’ Motion for Summary Judgment. Consequently, the Court cannot find that there is a
likelihood of success on the merits.

It is absurd for Defendants to suggest that the provisions of NRS 7.085 even apply to the
facts of this case. Plaintiffs’ attorneys did not violate NRS 18.010(2), NRCP 11 or EDCR 7.60.
Defendants incorrectly malign Plaintiffs’ counsel and make untrue statements of Plaintiffs’
counsel’s misrepresentation of facts. It is Defendant’s counsel’s statements in support of the
instant motion that misrepresent the facts of this case and it is Defendant who should be
sanctioned. Plaintiffs in good faith filed a suit for wrongful death/medical malpractice against
Centennial Hills and the treating physician whose negligent actions and/or inactions led to the
death of Rebecca Powell. To belittle the death of a 41-year-old and to malign the Plaintiffs’
counsel is not only callous, but unprofessional. Plaintiffs’ counsel did nothing in this case that

would warrant the application of the sanctions suggested by defense counsel,

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley-Health System, LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
Plaintiffs’ Opposition to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s Motion For Attorneys’ Fees
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Defense counsel also insults this Court in its application for fees pursuant to NRS 7.085
as it is this Court that repeatedly found merit in Plaintiffs’ arguments and denied several motions
to dismiss and motions for summary judgment involving the issue of inquiry notice and the
expiration of the statute of limitations. Defendant provides no facts to support their application of
pre-NRCP 68 costs and fees pursuant to NRS 7.085. This Court should deny the application for
fees and costs as the Plaintiffs did not submit frivolous or vexatious claims and did not over
burden the limited judicial resources nor did it hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims.

C. EDCR 7.60 IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS OF THIS CASE AS
THE PLAINTIFFS’ ATTORNEYS DID NOT PRESENT FRIVOLOUS
OPPOSITION TO A MOTION NOR DID THEY MULTIPLY THE
PROCEEDINGS TO INCREASE THE COSTS.

Pursuant to EDCR Rule 7.60(b):

(b) The court may, after notice and an opportunity to be heard, impose
upon an attorney or a party any and all sanctions which may, under the
facts of the case, be reasonable, including the imposition of fines, costs or
attorney’s fees when an attorney or a party without just cause:

(1) Presents to the court a motion or an opposition to a motion

which is obviously frivolous, unnecessary or unwarranted.

(2) Fails to prepare for a presentation.

(3) So multiplies the proceedings in a case as to increase costs
unreasonably and vexatiously.

(4) Fails or refuses to comply with these rules.

(5) Fails or refuses to comply with any order of a judge of the

court.

It is Defendant who filed multiple motions arguing the same facts whereby increasing
their fees associate with this litigation. Plaintiffs had no option but to file oppositions to said
motions. It is Defendant who lost every motion filed in this case at the District Court level except
for the Writ Petition filed at the Supreme Court where the Supreme Court granted the Writ and
overturned the lower court’s denial of the motion for summary judgment. Moreover, Defendant

served voluminous discovery request, which also necessitated Plaintiffs’ response. Therefore, it

is evident it was Defendants, not Plaintiffs, who were proactively increasing their fees.

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC, et al.
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Centennial Hills request for the imposition of attorneys’ fees pursuant to EDCR 7.60 lacks

merit. The facts of this case do not support such award of costs and fees.

D.  CENTENNIAL HILLS IS NOT ENTITLED TO FEES UNDER NRS
18.010(2).

NRS 18.010 (2)(b) provides:

(b) Without regard to the recovery sought, when the court finds that the claim,
counterclaim, cross-claim or third-party complaint or defense of the opposing
party was brought or maintained without reasonable ground or to harass the
prevailing party. The court shall liberally construe the provisions of this
paragraph in favor of awarding attorney’s fees in all appropriate situations. It is
the intent of the Legislature that the court award attorney’s fees pursuant to this
paragraph and impose sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 of the Nevada Rules of Civil
Procedure in all appropriate situations to punish for and deter frivolous or
vexatious claims and defenses because such claims and defenses overburden
limited judicial resources, hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims and
increase the costs of engaging in business and providing professional services to
the public. (Emphasis added).

In Smith v. Crown Financial Serv. Of America, 890 P. 2d 769 (1995), the Supreme Court
held that respondents could not recover attorney fees under NRS 18.01 0(2)(b) because appellants'
action was neither groundless nor calculated to harass respondents. Therefore, the district court
erred in awarding attorney fees pursuant to NRS 18.010. Similarly, Centennial Hills cannot
recover attorneys’ fees in this matter under NRS 18.010(2)(b) because Plaintiffs Complaint was
neither groundless nor calculated to harass Defendant.

Plaintiffs filed a Complaint that was based on facts supporting the several causes of action.
Had this matter proceed to trial, Plaintiffs are confident that a jury would have awarded damages
to fully compensate the Plaintiffs for the loss of their mother. No facts have been presented by

Defendant to show that Plaintiffs brought the instant case to harass the Defendants.

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC. et al.
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IV.  CONCLUSION

Plaintiffs respectfully request that this Court deny Centennial Hills Motion For Attorneys’
Fees and grant such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

Dated this 16® day of December 2021.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

/s/ Srilata R. Shah

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 10417

Srilata R. Shah, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 6820

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to Rule 5(b) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, I certify that I am an
employee of Paul Padda Law, PLLC and that on this 16" day of December 2021, I served a true
and correct copy of the above and foregoing document PLAINTIFFS’ OPPOSITION TO
DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM LLC’S MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’

FEES on all parties/counsel of record in the above entitled matter through efileNV service.

/s/ Karen Cormier -
An Employee of Paul Padda Law, PLLC
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/28/2020 1:22 PM

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 6858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir;
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHORSOF, individually and as
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;,

Plaintiffs,

VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

TO:

Case No. A-19-788787-C
Dept. No.: 30
DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

SYSTEM, LL.C’S RULE 68 OFFER TO
PLAINTIFFS

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through BRIAN POWELL, as Special

Administrator; DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; TARYN CREECY, individually and as

an Heir; ISAIAH KHORSOF, individually and as an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

Plaintiffs; and
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TO:  Paul S. Padda, Esq., PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC, 4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300,
Las Vegas, NV 89103, their attorneys:

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to the provisions of N.R.C.P. 68 and Busick v.
Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub. LEXIS 378, 2019 WL 1422712 (Nev., March 28, 2019), 437 P.3d 1050,
Defendants VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as “Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center”), a foreign limited liability company (“Defendant”), by and through its counsel of
record, S. Brent Vogel, Esq. and Adam Garth, Esq. of LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH
LLP, hereby offer to waive any presently or potentially recoverable attorney’s fees and costs in full
and final settlement of the above-referenced case. At this time, Defendant has incurred $53,389.90
in attorney’s fees and $5,124.46 in costs.

This Offer shall not be construed to allow Plaintiffs to seek costs, attorney’s fees, or
prejudgment interest from the Court in addition to the amount stated in the Offer, should Plaintiffs
accept the Offer.

Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68, this Offer shall be open for a period of fourteen (14) days from the
date of service. In the event this Offer is accepted by Plaintiffs, Defendant will obtain a dismissal
of the claim as provided by N.R.C.P. 68(d), rather than to allow judgment to be entered against
Defendant. Accordingly, and pursuant to these rules and statutes, judgment against Defendant could
not be entered unless ordered by the District Court.

i
i
i
i
"
"
1
"
"
"

4830-8843-2841.1 2




b B WN

O G0 3 N

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

This Offer is made solely for the purposes intended by N.R.C.P. 68, and is not to be construed
as an admission in any form, shape or manner that Defendant is liable for any of the allegations
made by Plaintiffs in the Complaint. Nor is it an admission that Plaintiffs are entitled to any relief,
including, but not limited to, an award of damages, attorney's fees, costs or interest. By virtue of

this Offer, Defendant waives no defenses asserted in their Answer to Plaintiffs’ Complaint.

DATED this 28 day of August, 2020

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 6858
ADAM GARTH
Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 28" day of August, 2020, a true and correct copy
of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’S RULE 68 OFFER TO
PLAINTIFFS was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-
File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to

receive electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq. John H. Cotton, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Brad Shipley, Esq.

4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
Las Vegas, NV 89103 7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Tel: 702.366.1888 Las Vegas, NV 89117

Fax: 702.366.1940 Tel: 702.832.5909
psp@paulpaddalaw.com Fax: 702.832.5910

Attorneys for Plaintiffs jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com

bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D. and Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/Roya Rokni
Roya Rokni, an Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

4830-8843-2841.1 4
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
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4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
9/1/2020 6:47 PM

RESP

PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 10417
psp@paulpaddalaw.com
JAMES P. KELLY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 8140
Jjpk@paulpaddalaw.com
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940
Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through | CASE NO. A-19-788787-C
Brian Powell as Special Administrator; DARCI | DEPT. 30

CREECY, individually;, TARYN CREECY,
individually; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually;
LLOYD CREECY, individually;

Plaintiffs, RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’S
Vvs. FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES
TO PLAINTIFF ESTATE OF REBECCA
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing | POWELL THROUGH BRIAN POWELL
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical | AS SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation, DR. DIONICE 8.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. CONRADO
C.D. CONCIO, M.D.,, an individual; DR.
VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an individual; DOES
1-10; ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

COMES NOW Plaintiff, ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Brian Powell as
Special Administrator, by and through his attorneys of record, PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ. and

JAMES P. KELLY, ESQ., of PAUL PADDA LAW, and, pursuant to NRCP 36, hereby responds

1

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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to Defendant Valley Health System, LLC’s First Set Of Interrogatories to Plaintiff Estate of
Rebecca Powell through Brian Powell as Special Administrator, as follows:

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The following responses herein are given in good faith and are based on information and
evidence which are presently available to, and specifically known to Plaintiff. Discovery and
investigation of all the facts relating to this matter has not been completed, nor has Plaintiff
completed trial preparation. As such, Plaintiff expressly reserves the right to amend, supplement
or expand on these answers as additional information and evidence becomes available.

It is anticipated that further discovery, independent investigation, legal research, and
analysis will supply additional facts, add meaning to known facts, and establish entirely new
factual conclusions and legal contentions. The following responses are given without prejudice
to Plaintiff's right to produce evidence of any subsequently discovered fact or facts, which this
responding party may later recall, or be made aware of. The following responses given represent
a good faith effort to supply factual information and as much specification of legal contentions as
is presently known, but should in no way be to the prejudice of Plaintiff in relation to further
discovery, research, analysis, or proof thereof. These responses are made solely for the purposes
of this action. The responses are subject to all objections as to competence, relevance, materiality,
propriety, admissibility, and to any and all other objections on the grounds that would require the
exclusion of any statement contained herein if any questions were asked of, or a statement
contained herein were made by, a witness present and testifying in court, all of which objections
and grounds are preserved and may be interposed at the time of trial.

Plaintiff reserves the right to modify and/or amend any and all responses contained herein

as additional facts are ascertained, documents are discovered, and contentions are formulated.
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Plaintiff does not waive the attorney-client privilege, the work product immunity, or any other
lawfully recognized privilege or immunity from disclosure which may attach to information
called for by the propounded discovery herein. These responses are made by Plaintiff subject to,
and without waiving or intending to waive:

1. All questions or objections as to competency, relevancy, materiality, privilege, and
admissibility for any purpose, including evidence, of any documents referred to, responses given,
or the subject matter thereof in any subsequent proceeding in the trial of this action or any other
action;

2. The right to object to other discovery proceedings involving or related to the
subject matter of the Interrogatories herein replied to; and

3. The right, at any time, to revise, correct, add to, or clarify any of the documents
referred to or responses given.

While Plaintiff believes the responses given to be correct, there is a possibility of omission
or error. These responses are given subject to correction of omissions or errors.

INTERROGATORY NO. 1:

Please state Plaintiffs’ decedent’s full name, date of birth, and address.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 1:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal, private information,
and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the

discovery of admissible evidence.
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Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff can be contacted through his attorneys of record,
Paul Padda Law, 4560 S. Decatur Boulevard, Las Vegas, NV 89103, (702) 366-1888. Answering
further:

Full Name: Rebecca Ann Powell

Date of Birth: May 30, 1975

Last Address: 7589 Splashing Rock Drive, Las Vegas, NV

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 2:

If the Plaintiffs” decedent was ever married, please state the inclusive date(s) of each
marriage, and each spouse’s full name, address, date of birth, and social security number.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 2:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal, private information,
and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:

Dates of Marriage: April 21, 2006- May 8, 2017

Spouse’s Name: Brian Marshall Powell

Date of Birth: 11/4/72

SSN: XXX-XX-4784

Rebecca was previously married to Steven Trager, but I do not know his identifying

information or dates of marriage.
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Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 3:

If the Plaintiffs’ decedent was ever divorced, please state the date(s) of any judgment of
divorce, as well as the court in and case number pertaining to said judgment.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 3:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal, private information,
and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff responds as follows: Rebecca Ann Powell was
divorced from Brian Marshall Powell on May 8, 2017. Case No. D-17-550659-Z. I do not know
when Rebecca was divorced from Steven Trager.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 4

State the name and address of each school, college or educational institution Plaintiffs’
decedent attended, listing the dates of attendance, the courses of study, and any degrees or
certificates awarded.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 4:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple

subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal, private information,
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and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence.

May 15, 2010: Lourdes College
6832 Convent Boulevard
Sylvania, OH 43560
Associate of Arts Degree

December 2012: Cuyahoga Community College
4250 Richmond Road
Highland Hills, OH 44122
Associate of Applied Science in Nursing

March 19, 2013: State of Ohio Board of Nursing
17 S High Street, #660
Columbus, OH 43215
Registered Nurse, License
I recall that Rebecca started to obtain her bachelor’s degree, but she did not yet complete
it. Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 5

Please list each job or occupation Plaintiffs’ decedent held during the last ten (10) years
prior to the injuries alleged in this case, including dates of each position, dates of unemployment,
job title, job duties, immediate supervisor and annual compensation.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 5:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal, private information,
and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the

discovery of admissible evidence.
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Without waiving these objections, Rebecca was a Registered Nurse in ICU at Mike
O’Callaghan Hospital located on Nellis Air Force Base from approximately 2016 through her
death. From approximately 2015-2016, Rebecca was employed as a Registered Nurse at
Mountainview Hospital. From approximately 2013-2015, Rebecca worked as a Registered Nurse
at the Cleveland Clinic Foundation in Ohio.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 6

Please state Plaintiffs’ decedent’s address and telephone number, and each of the
addresses for the past ten (10) years, identifying the inclusive dates she resided at each address
and each person who resided with her.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 6:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains
multiple subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff's personal, private
information, and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated
to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, within the specified time-period, my address history is
as follows:

2010-10/2014: 9429 Dorothy Avenue Garfield Heights, OH 44125; Rebecca and I lived
with Darci Creecy, Taryn Creecy and Isaiah Khosrov.

10/2014-10/2016: Rebecca and I lived together in Las Vegas. I will try to obtain the

address information.




O 0 N N R W

e e e T T S SN
AN N kWD~

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 » Fax (702) 366-1940

—
~J

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

B NN N NN NN N =
0 N N i Rk WN =, O O o

10/2016-01/2017: 8301 Fawn Heather Court, Las Vegas, NV; Rebecca and I lived with
her daughter, Taryn Creecy.

01/2017-05/2017: Splashing Rock Drive, Las Vegas, NV; Rebecca lived with her
daughter, Taryn Creecy.
INTERROGATORY NO. 7

Please state the name, age, and address of Plaintiffs’ decedent’s children, including any
natural children, step-children, half-children, and/or adoptive children, including any deceased
children and their respective dates of death.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 7:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks Plaintiff’s personal information, and it seeks
disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of
admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, the names, ages, and addresses of Rebecca Powell’s
children are listed as follows:

Darci Creecy (Daughter) — 27 Years Old

13613 Woodward Boulevard

Garfield Heights, OH 44125

Taryn Creecy ‘(Daughter) —25 Years Old

5305 N. Field Road

Bedford Heights, OH 44146

Isaiah Khosrof (Son) — 24 Years Old

333 Alewife Brook Parkway

Summerville, MA 02144

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing.
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INTERROGATORY NO. 8

Please state the name, address and telephone number of each and every healthcare
provider, including but not limited to hospitals, clinics, surgical centers, at home healthcare
providers, physicians, psychiatrists, psychologists and therapists, who provided care and/or
treatment to Plaintiffs’ decedent within the ten (10) years prior to the incident referred to in the
Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 8:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound and contains multiple
subparts which constitute separate interrogatories, seeks information that is not appropriately limited
in scope, and it seeks disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to
lead to the discovery of admissible evidence. Objection. This Interrogatory is impermissibly
overbroad in that it seeks disclosure of Plaintiff’s medical history without proper limitation as to

scope. Schlatter v. Eighth Judicial District Court 93 Nev. 189, 192, 561 P.2d 1342, 1344 (1977).

Without waiving said objections, Plaintiff responds as follows: In approximately 2007,
Rebecca was diagnosed with bipolar disorder. The diagnosis was made in Ohio, but I cannot
recall name of physician. Other than that, Rebecca was healthy with no respiratory issues.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 9

Please state whether you, Brian Powell, ever pleaded guilty to or were convicted of any
crime other than minor traffic violations, and if so, please state: the nature of the offense(s); the

date(s); the county(s) and state(s) in which you were tried, and the sentence(s) given.
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RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 9:

Objection. Defendants seek discovery outside the scope of NRS §50.095 and NRCP
26(b)(1) as it is not relevant to any party’s claims or defenses and is disproportional to the needs
of the case, considering the importance of the issues at stake in the action, the amount in
controversy, the parties’ relative access to relevant information, the parties’ resources, the
importance of the discovery in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the
proposed discovery outweighs its likely benefit.

Without waiving these objections, I have not been convicted of a felony during the time
frame set forth in NRS §50.095.

INTERROGATORY NO. 10

If Plaintiffs’ decedent was ever involved in any other legal action, either as a defendant
or as a plaintiff please state: the date and place each such action was filed giving the name of the
court, the name of the other party or parties involved, the number of such actions and the names
of the attorneys representing each party; a description of the nature of each such action, and; the
result of each such action, whether or not there was an appeal and the result of the appeal, and
whether or not such case was reported, and the name, volume number and page citation of such
report.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 10:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory because it is excessive as to time (no
limitation to time whatsoever, which is overly burdensome and exceeds the five-year period of
time the Discovery Commissioner typically permits) and scope (calls for “any” legal action and

is not sufficiently limited to relate to the specific body parts at issue in this lawsuit), and it seeks

10
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the disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the
discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, and limiting this response to the five-year period of
time before the incident at issue in this case: I do not believe that Rebecca has been involved in
any other legal actions.

INTERROGATORY NO. 11

Please state the name, address and phone number of all persons who witnessed or have
knowledge of facts relevant to the incident referred to in the Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 11:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties’ initial and supplemental NRCP 16.1 document disclosures
and witness lists.

Without waiving these objections, I was not able to visit Rebecca while she was
hospitalized because I was turned away by the nurses. Lloyd Creecy, Taryn Creecy, Isaiah
Khosrof, Darci Creecy have information. I did meet with Taryn, Isaiah and one of Rebecca’s
friends to speak with the doctor and risk manager after Rebecca’s death, but they didn’t provide
any information.

For further information that may be responsive to this Interrogatory, please refer to the
parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing,

11
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INTERROGATORY NO. 12

Please itemize all bills or expenses Plaintiffs’ decedent or her estate incurred, including
but not limited to those from all hospitals or other health care providers, as a result of the incident
referred to in the Complaint, including the extent to which the expenses have been paid and by
whom.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 12:

I believe there would be medical bills from the hospital as well as cremation costs. I will
look for additional information.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 13

List and describe in detail the injuries, complaints, and symptoms which you claim
Plaintiffs’ decedent suffered as a result of the incident or incidents out of which this action arose,
including aggravated pre-existing conditions, as well as the treatment sought.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 13:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound, contains multiple
subparts each of which constitutes a separate interrogatory, it seeks medical expert opinions and
legal conclusions, and it calls for the provision of a narrative response.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff responds as follows: Rebecca’s untimely
death. For further information related to Plaintiff Rebecca Powell’s injuries, complaints and
symptoms, please refer to her complete set of medical records.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing.

12
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INTERROGATORY NO. 14

Identify all injuries, symptoms, or ailments enumerated in the answer to the previous
Interrogatory which Plaintiffs’ decedent had prior to the incident described in your Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 14:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory because it seeks expert medical opinions,
it is excessive as to time (i.e.: it calls for the disclosure of “all” information before the incident at
issue in this case, as opposed to the 5 year period of time typically allowed by the Discovery
Commissioner) making it overly burdensome, and it seeks the disclosure of information that is
irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff answers as follows: Please see Answer to
Interrogatory 8.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 15

Identify all damages which you allege resulted from the incident described in your
Complaint, including dollar amounts, as well as how such dollar amounts are computed.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 15:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it is compound, contains multiple
subparts each of which constitutes a separate interrogatory. This interrogatory is also calculated
to advance the expert disclosure deadline.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff is compiling information responsive to this
Interrogatory. For further information that may be responsive to this Interrogatory, please refer

to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness lists.

13




PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 » Fax (702) 366-1940

O e 3 O i Pl W N

[ N o T (N T N e G B N B N L L L e e S
W NN N L bR WD = D O 0T SN R W e o

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 16

If Plaintiffs’ decedent ever entered or was committed to any institution, either public or
private, for the treatment or observation of a mental condition(s), alcoholism, narcotic addiction,
or disorders of any kind, please state the name and address of such institution; the length of her
stay and the dates thereof; the purpose or reason for your entry into such institution; and the name
and address of the doctor(s) who treated her for such condition(s).

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 16:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory because it seeks expert medical opinions,
it is excessive as to time (i.e.: it calls for the disclosure of all information before the incident at
issue in this case, as opposed to the 5 year period of time typically allowed by the Discovery
Commissioner) making it overly burdensome, and it seeks the disclosure of information that is
irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving these objections, about 5 years into our marriage, Rebecca took a bunch
of pills and had to be hospitalized at Marymount Hospital in Ohio for approximately two weeks.
I believe she was admitted for psychiatric treatment and observation. I don’t recall the names of
doctors.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 17:

If you or anyone else entered into any agreement or covenant with any person or entity in

any way compromising, settling, and/or limiting the liability or potential liability for any party or

14




O 0 NN N U R WO

e e T e T = M Sy
B A W NN = O

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 » Fax (702) 366-1940
I >

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

NN NN NN N e =
0 N A W bW = O O o

entity, or providing compensation for any person, other than counsel, based on recovery in this
case for the events that gave rise to this case, identify each person, the nature of the agreement,

the terms of the agreement, and the consideration given for the agreement.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 17:

Objection. This Request seeks documentation in violation with the collateral source rule.

Proctor v. Castelletti 112 Nev. 88, 911 P.2d 853 (1996). Without waiving said objections, I am
not aware of any such agreements.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 18:

Please state whether you are in possession of any written, recorded or videotaped
statement taken in connection with the events described in the Complaint and if your response is
anything other than an unqualified “no,” please identify the person giving the statement and all
persons having custody of the statement.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 18:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and

witness lists.
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Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 19

Please describe in detail the nature and extent of any conversations Plaintiffs’ decedent
had with any individual or entity, other than attorneys, regarding Plaintiff’s decedent’s stay at
CHH, including but not limited to, any concerns and/or complaints voiced by Plaintiffs’ decedent,
any symptoms Plaintiffs’ decedent was experiencing, and any conversations Plaintiffs’ decedent
had with anyone, including any employees of CHH.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 19:

Objection. This Interrogatory seeks a narrative which is more appropriately sought by
way of deposition testimony.

Without waiving said objection, Plaintiff answers as follows: Following Rebecca’s death,
Isaiah, Taryn, Major Castro and I spoke with Dr. Shah and Risk Manager, “Amanda.” I asked
them to explain to us what happened. Last we knew she was getting ready to be discharged. Dr.
Shah stated that he thought that it “might” have been a mucus plug.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 20

Please identify and describe in detail the nature and extent of any conversations you had
with any employees of CHH or any of the defendants concerning Plaintiffs’ decedent’s care
including, but not limited to, any conversation concerning your concerns with CHH in rendering

care to Plaintiffs’ decedent, any conversation concerning medication or Plaintiffs’ decedent’s
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behavior throughout the duration of her stay at CHH, or any complaints Plaintiffs’ decedent may
have had concerning any employee of CHH.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 20:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, Plaintiff responds as follows:

Please see Answer to Interrogatory No. 19.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 21

State with specificity the act(s) or omission(s) of CHH that you allege fell below the
standard of care or breached a legal duty owed to Plaintiffs’ decedent, and the factual and medical
basis that supports each allegation.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 21:

Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory as it calls for an expert medical opinion which he is
not qualified to provide. Plaintiff further objects to this Interrogatory as it seeks to invade
Plaintiff’s attorney/client privilege and/or the attorney work product doctrine.

Without waiving said objections, Plaintiff answers as follows:

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing. See medical affidavit attached to the Complaint.
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INTERROGATORY NO. 22

State with specificity each act or omission of every defendant other than CHH named in
this action that you allege fell below the standard of care or breached a legal duty owed to you,
and the factual and medical basis that supports each allegation as to each such defendant. In
responding to this Interrogatory, please be sure to differentiate the specific negligence attributable
to each defendant separately and in detail.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 22:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory as it calls for an expert medical opinion
which he is not qualified to provide. Plaintiff further objects to this Interrogatory as it seeks to
invade Plaintiff’s attorney/client privilege and/or the attorney work product doctrine.

Without waiving said objections, Plaintiff answers as follows: See medical affidavit
attached to the Complaint.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 23

Identify all notes, records, documents, reports, correspondence and memoranda
containing facts supporting the allegations of the Complaint referring to the negligence or
wrongful conduct of CHH, or any other defendant.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 23:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness

lists.
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Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 24

Identify all notes, records, documents, reports, correspondence and memoranda
containing facts supporting the allegations of the Complaint referring to the negligence or
wrongful conduct of CHH, or any other defendant.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 24:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 25

Identify all correspondence, notes, records, or memoranda from or by any Defendant with

regard to this lawsuit and/or any person believed to be an employee of CHH.
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RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 25:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it secks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 26

Identify all records, reports, and memoranda including but not limited to in-patient and
out-patient records, nurses' notes, doctors' notes, doctors' reports, x-ray reports, operation records,
progress notes, laboratory tests, notes and reports, correspondence files, insurance files, accident
files, medical histories, bills or statements for services rendered by any health care provider and
related to the care or treatment involved in this lawsuit or any other person named as a DOE or
ROE in this action with reference to the treatment received by the patient whose care is involved
in this lawsuit.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 26:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness

lists.
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Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 27

Identify all x-rays, CT scans, medical testing, and pathology slides and specimens related

to any acts alleged in this lawsuit.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 27:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 28

Identify all diaries, calendars, notes, telephone logs or other writings that reflect any of
the care and treatment or alleged conversations or contacts that occurred between Plaintiffs’
decedent or anyone acting on Plaintiffs’ decedent’s behalf, with any of the defendants named in

the Complaint regarding the subject of the lawsuit.
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RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 28:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties” initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 29

Identify all diaries, calendars, notes or telephone logs that are relevant to any of the
damages prayed for in the Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 29:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing.
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INTERROGATORY NO. 30

Identify all written or recorded statements or notes of any individual or entity concerning
medical care, treatment or acts which are the subject matter of this lawsuit.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 30:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 31

Identify any and all documents or writings with respect to liens claimed or made by any
government agency or entity including, but not limited to, those arising out of the provision of
health care services or benefits to Plaintiffs’ decedent under Medicare, Medicaid or Workers
Compensation, relating to the subject matter of this lawsuit.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 31:

Objection. Defendant seeks information that is not discoverable due to the collateral
source rule. This request is irrelevant, unduly prejudicial, and is not reasonably calculated to lead
to the admission of evidence pursuant to the per se bar on collateral source evidence. See Khoury

v. Seastrand, 377 P.3d 81 (2016) (evidence of payments showing provider discounts or “write
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downs” is irrelevant); Tri-County Equipment & Leasing v. Klinke, P.3d 593 (2012); Proctor v.

Castelletti. 112 Nev. 88, 90, 911 P.2d 853, 854 (1996); Winchell v. Schiff, 124 Nev. 938, 945-

46, 193 P.3d 946, 951 (2008); and Bass-Davis v. Davis, 122 Nev. 442, 453-54, 134 P3d 103, 110

(2006). The Nevada Supreme Court has created "a per serule barring the admission of a
collateral source of payment for an injury into evidence for any purpose." Khoury, 377 P.3d at

94, citing Proctor. Further, defendants seck discovery outside the scope of NRCP 26(b)(1) as it is

not relevant to any party’s claims or defenses and is disproportional to the needs of the case,
considering the importance of the issues at stake in the action, the amount in controversy, the
parties’ relative access to relevant information, the parties’ resources, the importance of the
discovery in resolving the issues, and whether the burden or expense of the proposed discovery
outweighs its likely benefit.

Without waiving said objections, I am not aware of any liens.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 32:

Identify any and all documents or writings identified in your responses to Special
Interrogatories, Set One, propounded by CHH.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 32:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness

lists.
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Without waiving these objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 33:

Identify all documents or writings reflecting any and all income losses incurred or to be
incurred by each Plaintiff as a result of the alleged negligence of CHH, or any of them, as set
forth in your Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 33:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists.

Without waiving said objections, for information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 34

Identify each and every document, paper, statement, memorandum, photograph, picture,
plat, record, letter, recording or other exhibit which you reasonably expect to offer into evidence

at the time of trial.
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RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 34:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists, and it seeks the premature disclosure of trial exhibits information.

Without waiving said objections, Plaintiff will disclose trial exhibits in accordance with
the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure. For information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 35

Identify and describe in detail all medications Plaintiffs’ decedent was prescribed within
the five (5) years prior her admission to CHH including, but not limited to, who prescribed the
medication, when the medication was prescribed, the nature of the medication, and where the
prescription was filled.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 35:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this Interrogatory because it secks the disclosure of
information pertaining to unrelated medical conditions which are not at issue in this litigation,
and it seeks the disclosure of information that is irrelevant and not reasonably calculated to lead
to the discovery of admissible evidence.

Without waiving said objections, I don’t recall the medications that Rebecca was taking

during that timeframe.
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Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 36:

Please state the full date of the Plaintiffs’ decedent’s death and identify in specific detail
any findings of an autopsy report.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 36:

Objection. Plaintiff objects to this interrogatory because it seeks the disclosure of
information that is unduly burdensome in that the information being sought is equally available
to both parties by way of the parties initial and supplemental document disclosures and witness
lists, and it seeks the premature disclosure of trial exhibits information.

Without waiving said objections, according to the Death Certificate, Rebecca’s date of
death is noted as May 11, 2017. For further information that may be responsive to this
Interrogatory, please refer to the parties’ initial and supplemental document disclosures and
witness lists.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 37:

Please identify all collateral sources for payment of Plaintiffs’ decedent’s medical care
that is the subject of your Complaint pursuant to NRS 42.021 including, but not limited to,
personal health insurance information.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 37:

Objection. This Request seeks documentation in violation with the collateral source rule.

Proctor v. Castelletti 112 Nev. 88, 911 P.2d 853 (1996).
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Without waiving said objections, I do not recall the name of the company that provided
health insurance to Rebecca Powell.

Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 38

State all factors which led you to conclude that any co-defendant physician or medical
practice with which he/she is affiliated was an agent, servant or employee of CHH.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 38:

Plaintiff assumes that physicians working in CHH are employees of CHH and/or Valley
Health System, LLC and Universal Health Service, Inc. Defendants have not disclosed any
information, either in initial or supplemental disclosures, to disabuse him of this assumption.
Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this response as discovery remains
ongoing.

INTERROGATORY NO. 39

Did you ever have any notice that any co-defendant physician or medical practice with
which that physician is affiliated was an independent contractor from CHH? If yes, please state
when you received such notice and the specific information you received pertaining thereto.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 39:

Not to Plaintiff’s knowledge or understanding.
Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains

ongoing.
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INTERROGATORY NO. 40

State the evidence you have to demonstrate that CHH possessed the right to control the
conduct with regard to the work to be done and the manner of performing it by any individual
you claim to be an agent of CHH who you assert was in any way negligent in the care and
treatment of you during your admission to CHH for the time period pertaining to the incident
referred to in your Complaint.

RESPONSE TO INTERROGATORY NO. 40:

Please see responses to interrogatory numbers 38 and 39.
Plaintiff reserves the right to amend and/or supplement this Answer as discovery remains
ongoing.
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

/s/ Paul S. Padda

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

James P. Kelly, Esq.

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Dated this 1** day of September, 2020.
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DECLARATION OF BRIAN POWELL PER NRS 53.045

1. My name is BRIAN POWELL, and I am over the age of 18 and competent to
make this Declaration. All matters stated herein are within my personal knowledge and
are true and correct.

2. I have read the foregoing RESPONSES TO DEFENDANT VALLEY
HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’S FIRST SET OF INTERROGATORIES TO
PLAINTIFF ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL THROUGH BRIAN POWELL
AS SPECIAL ADMINISTRATOR and know the contents thereof: that the same is true
of my own knowledge, except for those matters therein stated upon information and
belief, and as to those matters, I believe them to be true.

3. I declare under penalty of perjury under the law of the State of Nevada that
the foregoing is true and correct.

H a i
Executed this 27 dayof AUGUST 2020,

~BRIAN POWELL
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to Rule 5(b) of the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, I certify that I am an
employee of Paul Padda Law, PLLC and that on this 1% day of September, 2020, I served a true
and correct copy of the above and foregoing document on all parties/counsel of record in the

above entitled matter through hand service and/or efileNV eservice.

/s/ Jennifer C. Greening B
An Employee of Paul Padda Law, PLLC
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STATE OF NEVADA
ol JULIE KOTCHEVAR
BRIAN SANDOVAL ST, Administrator, DPBH

Governor
RICHARD WHITLEY, MS VACANT
Director, DHHS Chief Medical Officer
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES
DIVISION OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH
BUREAU OF HEALTH CARE QUALITY AND COMPLIANCE
727 Fairview Dr., Suite E, Carson City, NV 89701
Telephone: 775-684-1030, Fax: 775-684-1073
dpbh.nv.gov

February 5, 2018
Brian Powell
Po Box 750131
Las Vegas, NV 89136

Re:  Complaint Number NV00049271
Dear Mr. Powell,

With reference to your complaint against Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, an unannounced inspection
was completed on 09/21/2017 to investigate your concerns about care and services.

During the investigation, the State Inspector interviewed patients/residents, reviewed their records, interviewed -
staff, and made observations while the facility or agency was in operation. The facility's or agency's actions were
evaluated using applicable state and/or federal rules and regulations to determine if they were in compliance.
Based on the completed investigation, it was concluded that the facility or agency had violation(s) with rules and/or
regulations. The Bureau will take appropriate measures to ensure the facility/agency is well-informed of the
specifics of violation(s), and that they will exercise their due diligence in preventing similar incidents in the future.
A copy of the of the report is enclosed.

Thank you for reporting your concerns. Please know that your voice will help improve the services of health
facilities and agencies. If we can be of further assistance, please contact the office, at 702-486-6515 in LV, 775-
684-1030 in Carson City.

Sincerely,

DPBH Complaint Coordinator

Public Health: Working for a Safer and Healthier Nevada

PLTF 53
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Observation of a medical surgical hospitalization
unit including two patient rooms.

Review of the facility policies title Pain
Management, Wound Care Therapeutic Support
Services Guidelines, Sterile Products: Aseptic
Technique, Hand Hygiene and Drug Storage.

The findings and conclusions of any investigation
by the Division of Public and Behavioral Health
shall not be construed as prohibiting any criminal
or civil investigations, actions or other claims for
relief that may be available to any party under
applicable federal, state or local laws.

The following deficiency was identified:

NAC 449.3622 Appropriate Care of Patient

1. Each patient must receive, and the hospital
shall provide or arrange for, individualized care,
treatment and rehabilitation based on the
assessment of the patient that is appropriate to
the needs of the patient and the severity of the
disease, condition, impairment or disability from
which the patient is suffering.

This Regulation is not met as evidenced by:
Based on observation, interview, record review
and document review, the facllity failed to ensure
a patient in respiratory distress was monitored
and received the necessary care for 1 of 5
sampled residents (Resident #2).

Findings include:

$ 000
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Patient #2

Patient #2 was admitted on 5/3/17, with
diagnoses including intentional medication
overdose and acute respiratory failure.

A Physician progress note dated 5/9/17 at 2:06
PM, documented the patient did not complain of
shortness of breath (SOB). The patient was
status post intubation with Methicillin Resistant
Staphylococcus Aureus (MRSA) pneumonia.

The Pulmonologist consultation report dated
5/9/17 at 5:48 PM, indicated the patient did not
have inflammation of the pleura, no blood in
sputum, secretions were compatible with
aspiration and MRSA. The treatment plan
included breathing treatment, oxygen as needed
and to decrease steroids.

The Nursing progress dated 5/10/17 at 2:00 AM,
documented the patient had a non-productive
cough and SOB. The patient received oxygen at 2
liters per minute (lpm) and a breathing treatment
as needed. The progress note did not document
the patient's vital signs.

On §/10/17 at 3:41 AM, the clinical record
documented the following vital signs: heart rate
76 beats per minutes {bpm) and respiratory rate
16 breaths per minute (br/m). The vital signs
report did not document the blood pressure (B/P)
or oxygen saturation (SPO2). The patient was
receiving oxygen at 3 Ipm via nasal cannula.

On 5/10/17 at 8:00 AM, the clinical record
documented the following vital signs: temperature
36.6 Fahrenheit, heart rate 88 bpm, respiratory
rate 18 br/m, B/P 133/76, SPO2 96% with oxygen
| at 2 Ipm via nasal cannula.
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On 5/10/17 at 3:04 PM, the clinical record
documented the following vital signs: heart rate
98 bpm, respiratory rate 20 br/m, B/P 133/76 and
SPO2 95% with oxygen at 3 Ipm via nasal
cannula.

The Nursing progress note dated 5/10/17 at 3:13
PM, documented the patient was resting in bed
with SOB and fatigue. The patient was monitored
with cameras due to being on a legal hold.

The Nursing progress note dated 5/10/17 at 4:11
PM, revealed the patient complained of labored
| breathing. A physician was notified and orders
were obtained for a chest x-ray and arterial blood
gases. The progress note documented the
patient was treated with breathing treatments and
Ativan without satisfactory results. The progress
note did not document vital signs.

| The Respiratory Therapist (RT) progress note
dated 5/10/17 at 4:32 PM, documented the
patient complained of respiratory distress when a
radiology test was being conducted. The facility
Rapid Response Team (RRT) was activated and
checked the patient. The patient was returned to
her room with the following vital signs: heart rate
115 bpm, SPO2 98% with oxygen at 6 [pm and a
respiratory rate 28 br/m. Arterial blood gas (ABG)
analysis was drawn with no critical results.

The chest X-ray results dated 5/10/17 at 4:32 PM,
documented persistent bilateral interstitial
infiltrates with no changes since the previous
chest-X-ray.

The Pulmonologist consultation dated 5/10/17 at
5:15 PM, documented the patient complained of
dyspnea (difficult or labored breathing) when a

$ 300
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radiology study was being conducted and the
RRT was activated. The patient did not have
inflammation of the pleura (membranes that
cover the lungs) and the chest X-ray showed
some changes, but not fiuids in the pleura. The
increased dyspnea was possibly caused by "too
rapid taper steroids". The treatment plan was to
resume the steroids every eight hours, breathing
treatment and puimonary hygiene. Steroids were
‘ resumed as per Pulmonologist recommendation.

The RT treatment report dated 5/10/17 at 10:22
PM, revealed the patient was receiving Oxygen
via nasal cannula at 3 litter per minute (LPM) with
an Oxygen saturation of 92 percent (%).

The RT evaluation prior to a respiratory treatment
performed on §/10/17 at 11:51 PM, revealed
breath sounds were diminished in all pulmonary
lobes.

The Medication Administration Record (MAR)
dated 5/10/17 at 11:52 PM, documented
lpratropium 0.02 %, Levalbuterol 0.63 milligrams
| (mg) and Acetylcysteine 20 inhalation were

| edministered. The patient's vital signs were

| documented as follows: pulse 100 bpm and
respiratory rate at 22 br/m.

The post respiratory treatment evaluation
performed on 5/11/17 at 12:10 AM, revealed
unchanged breath sounds (diminished) in all
pulmonary lobes. The patient was receiving
Oxygen via nasal cannula at 3 litter per minute
(LPM) with an Oxygen saturation of 95%.

The Respiratory therapy treatment report dated
5/11/17 at 2:00 AM, lacked the patient's
respiratory status information or vital sign data.
The respiratory therapy treatment note was blank.
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| The Nursing progress note dated 5/11/17 at 3:15
AM, documented the patient was checked by two
Registered Nurses (RN). The patient complained
of anxiety and difficuity breathing. A physician and
RT were notified and an order for Ativan was
obtained. The nursing progress note indicated the
patient kept puliing the Oxygen off, and RT ,
recommended to monitor the patient closely. The '
Nurse Supervisor was nofified about the need of
a sitter to monitor the patient. The Camera Room
was notified to check the patient via surveillance
camera for removing the Oxygen. A technician at
the Camera Room indicated the room could not
| be seen clearly through the camera and
suggested to move the patient to another room
with a camera. The note documented the patient
| seemed relaxed after the administration of the
| medication Ativan. The patient's vital signs were
not decumented in this note. There was no
evidence the patient was changed to another |
room as suggested by the Camera Room
technician. i

| The RT evaluation prior to a respiratory treatment
| performed on 5/11/17 at 4:08 AM, revealed the
breath sounds were diminished in all pulmonary
lobes. The patient's Oxygen saturation was 0%
and Oxygen was administered with a
non-rebreather mask, however, the rate of
Oxygen flow was not documented. The following
vital signs were documented: heart rate of 130
bpm and respiratory rate of 30 br/m. There was
no evidence the attending physician was notified
about the increased heart rate and respiratory
rate.

The MAR dated 5/11/17 at 4:18 AM, documented
Ipratropium 0.02 %, Levalbuterol 0.63 mg and
Acetylcysteine 20 inhalation were administered.
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The patient's vital signs were documented as
follows: pulse 130 bpm and respiratory rate at 30
brim.

The post respiratory treatment evaluation
performed on §/11/17 at 4:47 AM, revealed
unchanged breath sounds (diminished) in all
pulmonary lobes. The patient was receiving
Oxygen via non-rebreather mask with Oxygen at
15 Ipm, SPO2 of 80% and unchanged breath
sounds. There was no evidence the attending
physician was notified about the change in the
patient's condition.

The Nursing progress note dated 5/11/17 at 8:57
AM, documented at approximately 6:10 AM the
patient was found unresponsive with the Oxygen
mask in her feet and Cardio-Pulmonary
Resuscitation (CPR) was initiated.

The Respiratory therapy progress note dated
5/11/17 at 10:20 AM, indicated therapist entered
the room during a Code Blue and CPR was
initiated. The note documented a physician
pronounced the patient at 6:50 AM and CPR
ended.

The Legal 2000 (Legal hold) Patient Frequency
Observation Record date §5/11/17, revealed the

| patient was monitored in room 701 via camera

every 15 minutes from 5/10/17 at 7:00 PM though
§/11117 at 5:00 AM. The record documented the
patient was awake/alert all the time, except on
5/10/17 at 11:00 PM and on 5/11/17 from 5:00 AM
to 6:00 AM when it was documented the patient
was sleeping. The record indicated a nurse called
the sitter at 4:20 AM, the patient removed the
intravenous (IV) lines, but they could not see the
incident on monitor and suggested to change the
patient to room 832. The record revealed at 6:10
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AM, Code Biue was announced. The record
indicated the patient “last appeared to be sitting in
close to upright position with fingers possible in
mouth for approx. (approximately) one hour”.

Clinical record lacked documented evidence the
patient's vital signs were monitored on 5/11/17
from 4:47 AM through 6:10 AM, when the patient
was found unresponsive. There was no evidence
a physician or the Rapid Response Team (RRT)
were notified about the abnormail vital signs
obtained at 4:08 AM, 4:18 AM, 4:47 AM and the
patient's change in condition. The record did not
document if the patient was moved to another
room with a better camera resolution to monitor if
J Oxygen mask was removed.

] The RN who provided care to the patient on

. 8/1117, submitted a statement dated 8/4/17,
which indicated the patient was complaining of
shortness of breath (SOB) from the previous shift
and the RT provided breathing treatments several
times but the patient was uncooperative. The
patient was medicated with Ativan. The RN stated
the attending physician was notified about the
SOB and an order for a computerized
tomography (CT) was obtained. Due to the SOB
and anxiety, the CT could not be performed and
the physician ordered another dose of Ativan. The
RN indicated after the medication was

| administered, vital signs stabilized and the patient
| fell asleep at approximately 4:15 AM. A Certified
Nursing Assistant (CNA) and the RN rotated
hourly to check the patient. The statement
documented the vital signs were at baseline and
the patient was monitored via camera. The RN
continued to provide care to other patients and
hourly rounds were psrformed by a CNA at 5:00
AM and "all was well". The RN's statement
continued that at no point it was believed the
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patient was in critical distress because the
patient's condition was related to anxiety and the
concerns had been reported to the Charge Nurse.

The discharge summary dated 5/23/17, revealed
the attending physician had been notified on i
5/10/17 at 5.00 PM, when the patient complained
; of shortness of breath. The physician ordered

| arterial blood gases (ABG) and a chest X-ray.
The physician documented the chest-X-ray and
the ABG results were reviewed and an RN was |
directed to contact a Pulmonologist for an
evaluation. The discharge summary indicated the
attending physician was notified on §/11/17 in the
monring the patient expired. There was no
evidence the attending physician was notified of

| the patient’s increased respiratory and heart rate
obtained at 4.08 AM and 4:47 AM.

On 8/2/17 at 1:50 PM, the Chief of Nursing
Operations (CNO) indicated Patient #2 should
have been monitored closely based on the vital
signs and condition. The CNO acknowledged the
Rapid Response Team (RRT) should have been
activated and the patient upgraded to a higher
level of care.

On 9/21/17 at 12:26 PM, the facllity Process
Improvement Manager indicated the patient was
not monitored by telemetry and the cardiac '
monitoring documentation available for 5/11/17 i
was the electrocardiogram performed during the
Code Blue.

On 8/2/17 at 2:22 PM, an observation was
conducted on the behavioral monitoring unit
where staff monitored patients in their room via
camera. A CNA (sitter) and a RN were on duty.
‘The RN explained the purpose of the monitoring
| was to ensure the patients with psychiatric
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behaviors were safe in their rooms. If a patient
was out of bed, pulled lines out or got out the
room, the nurse was notified immediately. The
RN indicated it was only a visual monitoring and it
was not capable of monitoring vital signs or if the
patient was breathing or not.

On 9/21/17 at 10:38 AM, a CNA explained rounds
were performed every hour and as needed to
each room. The CNA checked for comfort, pain
or other issues or concems the patients
manifested. If there was any change in the
patient's condition, the CNA notified the Licensed
Nurse immediately. Vital signs were obtained by
CNAs. If any of the vital signs were out of the
nomal parameters, the vital signs would be
repeated and the nurse would be notified. The
CNA described normal parameter for vital signs;
B/P: 130/60, HR:60 bpm, RR: 14-16 bi/m, SPO2:
91% and above.

On 9/21/17 at 10:47 AM, another CNA indicated
rounds were performed every hour and as
needed. The CNA explained during the rounds
they checked the patients for comfort, pain,
distress or other concerns from the patient. The
CNA verbalized vital signs were obtained by
CNAs and the normal parameters were described
as follow: B/P: 120/80, HR: 60 -88 bpm, SPO2:
above 92% and RR 16-18 br/m. If any of the vital
signs were out of parameter, the nurse would be
notified.

|
| On 9/21/17 at 11:02 AM, a RN explained normal
vital signs were: B/P: 100/60, HR: no more than
100 bpm, RR: 16-20 br/m and SPO2 no less than
90%. If a patient presented with a HR of 140 bpm
and RR of 30 br/m, the physician must be notified
immediately and the RRT activated.
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On 9/21/17 at 11:20 AM, an RT Supervisor
explained non-rebreather mask was used as the
last resort when a patient had respiratory
problems that did not improve with breathing
treatment, pulmonary hygiene and the SPO2 was
lower than 80%. The RT Supervisor indicated if a
non-rebreather mask was placed, the patient had
to be upgraded to the next leve! of care. The RT
Supervisor stated any RT could notify the
physician and the RRT if after an assessment It
was determined a patient was in respiratory
distress. The RT Supervisor confirmed according
to the vital signs documented in the record on
§/11/17 at 4:08 AM and 4:47 AM, Patient #2 was
in respiratory distress and required an upgrade of
the level of care. The RT Supervisor explained
SPO2 lower than 80%, changes in skin color, the
use of the accessory respiratory muscles,
increase in heart and respiratory rates and |
abnormal arterial blood gases could be identified
such as signs and symptoms of respiratory
distress. The RT Supervisor verbalized the
normal SPO2 was 90% or above but depended of
the patient's condition.

| On 821117 at 12:01 PM, the RT who provided
care to Patient #2 on 5/10/17 during the day, had
been worked with the patient since she was
extubated and transferred from Intensive Care fo
the med-surge unit. The RT was present when
the patient complained of a respiratory distress in
the radiology unit and the RRT was activated. An
Emergency Department physician responded to
the incident, stabilized the patient and transferred |
back to her room. After that time, the RT provided r
a breathing treatment several times throughout
the day but vital signs were stable. The RT
explained a non- rebreather mask was used
when a patient was not oxygenating (SPO2 was
lower than 90%) and required an upgrade level of
If deficiencies are cited, an approved plan of correction must be retumed within 10 days after receipt of this statement of deficiencies.
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care. After reviewing Patient #2's clinical record
for 5/11/17 at 4:08 AM and 4:47 AM, the RT
concluded the physician should have been
notified, the RRT activated and the level of care
upgraded.

Facility policy titted RRT dated December 2016,
documented the RRT was established to aid in
the preservation of patient life based on an early
recognition of life threatening conditions. The
policy documented the RRT could be activated
when changes occurred in a patient that included
acute change in heart rate less than 40 or more
than 130 bpm, respiratory rate less than 8 or
more than 28 br/m, acute change in saturation
less than 90% despite oxygen and shoriness of
breath.

Severity: 3 Scope: 1
Complaint # NV00049271
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If deficiencies are cited, an approved plan of correction must be returnad
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CLERK OF THE COURT
ORDR
PAUL S. PADDA
Nevada Bar No.: 10417
Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through | CASE NO. A-19-788787-C
Brian Powell as Special Administrator, DEPT. XXX (30)

DARCI CREECY, individually; TARYN
CREECY, individually; ISAIAH KHOSROF,
individually; LLOYD CREECY, individually;

Plaintiffs,
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANTS
Vs. CONRADO CONCIO, M.D. AND
DIONICE JULIANO. M.D.’S MOTION
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing TO DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’

business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical COMPLAINT
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

The above-referenced matter was scheduled for a hearing on September 25, 2019.
Appearing on behalf of Plaintiffs were Paul S. Padda, Esq. and Suneel J. Nelson, Esq.
Appearing on behalf of Defendants the movant, was Brad J. Shipley, Esq. and Zachary J.
Thompson, Esq.

Order Denying Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell. et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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L
PROCEDURAL POSTURE

L. On February 4, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint alleging medical malpractice,
wrongful death and negligent infliction of emotional distress (“NIED”). Plaintiffs attached to
their Complaint a sworn affidavit from Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. in support of their first cause of
action alleging medical malpractice.

2. On June 12, 2020, Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.
filed a motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleging that Plaintiffs failed to timely file their
Complaint within the statute of limitations time of one year pursuant to NRS 41A.097(2) and
also failing to meet the threshold requirements of NRS 41A.071 for the claims of negligent
infliction of emotional distress and professional negligence.

3. On June 13, 2019 Defendant Vishal Shah, M.D. filed a joinder to Defendants
Conrado, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s motion to dismiss.

4. On June 26, 2019, Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital filed a joinder to
Defendants Conrado, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s motion to dismiss.

5. On September 23, 2019, Defendant Universal Health Services, Inc. filed a

joinder to Defendants Conrado, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s motion to dismiss.

6. The motion to dismiss and related matters were heard by the Court on September
25,2019.
7. After considering the papers on file in this matter and the arguments of counsel,

the Court hereby renders the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:
L.
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

8. The Court, addressing the statute of limitations issue, noted that the Supreme
Court has been clear that the standard of when a claimant “knew or reasonably should have
known” is generally an issue of fact for a jury to decide. However, the Court also noted that in
this case, it does appear that the Complaint was not filed until a substantial period after the date

of Rebecca Powell’s death. Therefore, Defendants may revisit the statute of limitations issue in

Order Denying Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell. et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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the future through a motion for summary judgment at which point the Court will reconsider the
issue at that time. (Transcript 18:4-13).

9. The Court further stated there is at least an insinuation that there was
concealment, and the Court understands the argument that you cannot hold one defendant
responsible for another defendant’s concealment. However, if there was concealment in this
case, it also arguably prevented the Plaintiffs from having the inquiry notice they needed in
order to comply with the statute of limitations. (Transcript 18:14-23).

10.  The Court further stated that, in medical malpractice cases, an issue of fact is
determined when that inquiry notice starts, and arguably, the inquiry notice may not start until
Plaintiffs receive the pertinent records (Transcript 18:24-19:3).

11.  The Court further stated regarding a Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(5)
motion based upon a “failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted” that Defendants
must show that “under no circumstances would Plaintiffs able to prevail.” At this point in the
litigation, the Court determined that this an issue of fact to be determined at a later date as
Defendants have not met their burden. (Transcript 19:4-7).

12. With regard to the NIED claim, Court stated that Plaintiffs’ correctly pled the
claim, and Plaintiffs’ Complaint meets the requirements of NRS 41A.071. However, there is
inconsistency within Plaintiffs’ Affidavit which creates a genuine issue of fact. Therefore,
some arguments may be brought up in a motion for summary judgment that the Court will
consider at a later time after more evidence is available (Transcript 19:12-19:25).

13.  Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s motion to dismiss
Plaintiffs” Complaint based upon NRS 41A.097 and NRCP 12(b)(5) must be denied (Transcript
19:25-20:2).

14.  The Court concludes that Plaintiffs’ Complaint should not be dismissed at this

time with the evidence available to the Court.

Order Denying Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell, et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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Based upon the foregoing,

IIL
ORDER

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice

Juliano, M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and the subsequent joinders to that

motion, on the grounds that (1) Plaintiffs untimely filed their complaint to satisfy the

requirements of NRS 41A.097 and (2) that Plaintiffs failed to meet the threshold pleading

requirements pursuant to NRS 41A.071 regarding Plaintiffs’ claims of negligent infliction of

emotional distress and professional negligence is DENIED without prejudice.

Dated this day of

, 2021.

Respectfully submitted by:

PAUL PADDA LAW

By: /s/ Faul S. FPadda

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 10417

4650 S. Decatur Boulevard, Ste. 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Dated this 4% day of February 2021.

Dated this 6th day of February, 2021

JERRY A. WTESJ-; 41_f
DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

EIGHT COURT
B
District Court Judge

Approved as to Form and Content By:
JOHN H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES, LTD.

By: /s/ Brad J. Shipley

Brad J. Shipley, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 12639

7900 West Sahara Ave, Suite 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89117

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrad Concio, M.D.and Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

Order Denying Defendants Conrado Concio, M.D. and Dionice Juliano, M.D.’s Motion to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell. ef. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center ez. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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From: Brad Shipley

To: Jennifer Greening; Garth, Adam
Cc: Vogel, Brent; Rokni, Rova; Whitheck, Johana; Armantrout, Heather; Atkinson, Arielle; Paul Padda
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We have no objection to either order. You may use my e-signature for approval of the proposed orders.

Brad J. Shipley, Esq

John H. Cotton and Associates
7900 W. Sahara Ave. #200

Las Vegas, NV 89117

{702) 832-5909

(630) 269-1717

From: Jennifer Greening <Jennifer@paulpaddalaw.com>

Sent: Thursday, February 4, 2021 12:51 PM

To: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com>; Brad Shipley <bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel @lewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; Whitbeck, Johana
<Johana.Whitbeck@lewisbrisbois.com>; Armantrout, Heather <Heather.Armantrout@lewisbrisbois.com>; Atkinson,
Arielle <Arielle. Atkinson@lewisbrisbois.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>

Subject: RE: Powell v. Valley Health - Proposed Orders re: 9/25/2019 Hearing

Thank you, Mr. Garth,

Jennifer C. Greening
Paralegal
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

Jennifer@pavlpaddalaw.com
A N UL 1OQIOW. . COt
ogEnl

Nevada Office:

4560 South Decatur Blvd, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 83103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940

Mailing Address:
4030 S. Jones Boulevard, Unit 30370
Las Vegas, Nevada 89173

California Office:

12655 West Jefferson Bivd., 41 Floor
Los Angeles, California 90066

Tele: (213) 423-7788
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CLERK OF THE COURT

ORDR

PAUL S. PADDA

Nevada Bar No.: 10417

Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

* Rk k%

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through CASE NO. A-19-788787-C
Brian Powell as Special Administrator; DARCI | DEPT. XXX (30)
CREECY, individually; TARYN CREECY,
individually; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually;
LLOYD CREECY, individually;

Plaintiffs,
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT
Vs. CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL
MEDICAL CENTER’S MOTION TO
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing DISMISS PLAINTIFFS’ COMPLAINT

business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an individual;
DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an individual;
DOES 1-10; ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

The above-referenced matter was scheduled for a hearing on September 25, 2019.
Appearing on behalf of Plaintiffs was Paul S. Padda, Esq. and Suneel J. Nelson, Esq.
Appearing on behalf of Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, the movant, was

Brad J. Shipley, Esq. and Zachary J. Thompson, Esq.

Order Denying Defendants Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center and Universal Health Services, Inc.'s Motions to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell. et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center er. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)

1




PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 « Fax (702) 366-1940

O 0 N9 N bR W e

[ T o N S N e O R N I o O T o T e g VY G S G
O 3 N L B W N = DO O 0NN bR W N = o

I
PROCEDURAL HISTORY

1. On February 4, 2019, Plaintiffs filed a Complaint alleging medical malpractice,
wrongful death and negligent infliction of emotional distress (“NIED”). Plaintiffs attached to
their Complaint a sworn affidavit from Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D. in support of their first cause of
action alleging medical malpractice.

2. On June 19, 2019, Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center filed a
motion to dismiss pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure (“NRCP”) 12(b)(5) alleging that
Plaintiffs failed to timely file their Complaint within the statute of limitations time of one year
pursuant to NRS 41A.071.

3. On September 23, 2019, Defendant Universal Health Services, Inc. filed a
joinder to Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s motion to dismiss.

4. The motion to dismiss and related matters were heard by the Court on September
25, 2019 (“the hearing”).

5. After considering the papers on file in this matter and the arguments of counsel,
the Court hereby renders the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

L
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

6. The Court, addressing the statute of limitations issue at the hearing, noted that
the Supreme Court of Nevada has been clear that the standard of when a claimant “knew or
reasonably should have known” is generally an issue of fact for a jury to decide. However, the
Court also noted that in this case it does appear that claim was not filed until a substantial
period after the date of Rebecca Powell’s death. Therefore, the Court determined at the hearing
that some arguments may be brought up later in a motion for summary judgment that the Court
will consider following the filing of such a motion. (Transcript 18:4-13).

7. The Court further stated at the hearing that there is at least an insinuation that
there was concealment, and the Court understands the argument that you cannot hold a

Defendant responsible for another Defendants concealment. However, if there is concealment,

Order Denying Defendants Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center and Universal Health Services, Inc.'s Motions to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell, ef. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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it arguably prevents the Plaintiffs from having the inquiry notice they need in order to comply
with the statute of limitations. (Transcript 18:14-23).

8. The Court further stated at the hearing that an issue of fact is determined when
that inquiry notice starts, and arguably, the inquiry notice may not start until a Plaintiff receives
the pertinent records (Transcript 18:24-19:3).

9. The Court further stated at the hearing that an NRCP 12(b)(5) motion for “failure
to state a claim upon which relief can be granted,” requires a defendant to show that “under no
circumstances would the plaintiffs be able to prevail.” The Court found that Defendants’s
motion did not meet this standard. Therefore, the Court determined this to be an issue of fact to
be determined at a later date (Transcript 19:4-7).

10.  The Court finds and concludes that Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center’s motion to dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint based upon NRS 41A.097 and NRCP 12(b)(5)
must be denied (Transcript 19:25-20:2).

11.  The Court also finds and concludes that Plaintiffs’ Complaint should not be

dismissed at this time with the evidence available to the Court.

Order Denying Defendants Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center and Universal Health Services, Inc.’s Motions to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell, et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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III.
ORDER

Based upon the foregoing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendant Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint, and the subsequent joinders to that motion, on the
grounds that Plaintiffs untimely filed their Complaint to satisfy the requirements of NRS
41A.097 is DENIED without prejudice.

Dated this day of , 2021.
Dated thisJG_t.h day of February, 2021

JERRY A. MESE,_II /

DISTRICT GOURT JUDGE
EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

per AR L0 D

Dlstnct Court Judge
Respectfully submitted by: Approved as to Form and Content By:
PAUL PADDA LAW LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH
By: /s/ Paul S. Padda By: /s/ Adam Garth
S. Brent Vogel, Esq.
Paul S. Padda, Esq. ’
Novada Bar No. 10417 Nevada Bar No. 6858
4650 S. Decatur Boulevard, Ste. 300 gdmfg:fﬁs%m
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103 c 0
as vegas, Nevada 6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Ste. 600
Attorneys for Plaintiffs Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Dated this 4% dav of Feb 2021 Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health
et ay of Tebriaty System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center

Order Denying Defendants Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center and Universal Health Services, Inc.’s Motions to Dismiss
Estate of Rebecca Powell. et. al. v. Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center et. al.
Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. No. XXX (30)
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From: Garth, Adam

To: Jennifer Greenina; Brad Shipley
Cc: VYogel, Brent; Rokni, Rova; Whitbeck, Johana; Armantrout, Heather; Atkinson, Arielle; Paul Padda
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You can sign my e-signature to the stipulation and submit for filing regarding the Centennial Hills order only. We can take
no position regarding the other order as that pertains to co-defendant’s motion and he will need to provide his approval.

Adam Garth

. Adam Garth
_:'r L EW' S Partner
B Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

" BRISBOIS
A
T: 702.693.4335 F: 702.366.9563

6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600, Las Vegas, NV 89118 | LewisBrisbois.com

Representing clients from coast to coast. View our locations nationwide.

This e-mail may contain or attach privileged, confidential or protected information intended only for the use f the intended recipient. If you are not the
intended recipient, any review or use of it is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, you are required to notify the sender, then delete
this email and any attachment from your computer and any of your electronic devices where the message is stored.

From: Jennifer Greening <Jennifer@paulpaddalaw.com>

Sent: Thursday, February 4, 2021 12:34 PM

To: Garth, Adam <Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com>; Brad Shipley <bshipley@jhcottonlaw.com>

Cc: Vogel, Brent <Brent.Vogel@Ilewisbrisbois.com>; Rokni, Roya <Roya.Rokni@lewisbrisbois.com>; Whitbeck, Johana
<lohana.Whitbeck@lewisbrisbois.com>; Armantrout, Heather <Heather.Armantrout@lewisbrishois.com>; Atkinson,
Arielle <Arielle.Atkinson@lewisbrisbois.com>; Paul Padda <psp@paulpaddalaw.com>

Subject: [EXT] RE: Powell v. Valley Health - Proposed Orders re: 9/25/2019 Hearing

Attached is the hearing transcript for your review.
Thank you.

Jennifer C. Greening
Paralegal

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
Jennifer@paulpaddalaw.com

www . paudlpaddalaw.com

OgEoan

Nevada Office:

4560 South Decatur Blvd, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: -

Fax: (702) 366-1840
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DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
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ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through )

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; )

DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir; )

TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir; ) CASE NO.: A-19-788787-C
ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as an DEPT. NO.: XXX

Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually, -

Plaintiffs,
VS.

)
)
)
)
)
)
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing )
Business as “Centennial Hills Hospital )
Medical Center”), a foreign limited liability ) ORDER
Company; UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, )
INC., a foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE )
S. JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. )
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an individual; )
DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an individual; )

DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z, )

‘ )

)

)

Defendants.

The above-referenced matter was scheduled for a hearing on November 4, 2020,
with regard to Defendant Valley Health System LLC’s (Valley’s) and Universal Health
Services, Inc.’s (Universal’s) Motion for Summary Judgment Based upon the Expired
Statute of Limitations. Defendants Dionice Juliano, M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D., and
Vishal Shah, M.D. joined the Motion for Summary Judgment. Additionally, Defendant,
Juliano’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Defendants Concio and Shaw’s Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment on Emotional Distress Claims is on calendar. Finally,
Plaintiff’s Counter-Motion to Amend or Withdraw Plaintiffs’ Responses to Defendants’
Requests for Admissions is on calendar. Pursuant to A.O. 20-01 and subsequent
administrative orders, these matters are deemed “non-essential,” and may be decided

after a hearing, decided on the papers, or continued. This Court has determined that it
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would be appropriate to decide these matters on the papers, and consequently, this

Order issues.

Defendants. Valley’s and Universal’s Motion for Summary Judgment Based
upon the Expiration of the Statute of Limitations.

On May 3, 2017 Rebecca Powell (“Plaintiff”) was taken to Centennial Hills
Hospital, a hospital owned and operated by Valley Health System, LLC (“Defendant”)
by EMS services after she was discovered with labored breathing and vomit on her face.
Plaintiff remained in Defendant’s care for a week, and her condition improved.
However, on May 10, 2017, Plaintiff complained of shortness of breath, weakness, and
a drowning feeling. In response to these complaints, Defendant Doctor Vishal Shah
ordered Ativan to be administered via IV push. Plaintiff’s condition did not improve.
Defendant, Doctor Conrado Concio twice more ordered Ativan to be administered via
IV push, and Plaintiff was put in a room with a camera in order to better monitor her
condition. At 3:27 AM on May 11, 2017, another dose of Ativan was ordered. Plaintiff
then entered into acute respiratory failure, resulting in her death.

Plaintiff brought suit on February 4, 2019 alleging negligence/medical
malpractice, wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085, and negligent infliction of
emotional distress. Defendant previously filed a Motion to Dismiss these claims, which
was denied on September 25, 2019. The current Motion for Summary Judgment was
filed on September 2, 2020. Defendants Dionice Juliano, MD, Conrado Concio, MD,
and Vishal Shah, MD joined in this Motion on September 3, 2020. Plaintiff filed their
opposition September 16, 2020. Defendant filed its reply on October 21, 2020 and
Defendants Dionice Juliano, MD, Conrado Concio, MD, and Vishal Shah, MD joined
the reply on October 22, 2020.

Defendant claims that, pursuant to NRS 41A.097 Plaintiff’s claims were brought
after the statute of limitations had run. In pertinent part, NRS 41A.097 states in
pertinent part: “an action for injury or death against a provider of health care may not
be commenced more than 3 years after the date of injury or 1 year after the plaintiff
discovers or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury,
whichever occurs first.” NRS 41A.097(2). There appears to be no dispute that the
Complaint was filed within 3 years after the date of injury (or death). The issue is

whether the Complaint was filed within 1 year after the Plaintiffs knew or should have
2
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known of the injury. Defendants claim that they fall under the definition of a “provider
of health care” under NRS 41A.017 and that all of Plaintiff’s claims sound in
professional negligence. Therefore, all the claims are subject to NRS 41A.097.

Defendant claims that Plaintiff was put on inquiry notice of the possible cause of
action on or around the date of Plaintiff’s death in May of 2017 and therefore the suit,
brought on February 4, 2019, was brought after the statute of limitations had tolled.
Defendant makes this claim based on several theories. Defendant claims that since
Plaintiffs are suing for Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, and an element of
that claim is contemporaneous observation, that Plaintiff was put on notice of the
possible claim on the date of Ms. Powell’s death. Alternatively, Defendant argues that
since Plaintiff ordered and received Ms. Powell’s medical records no later than June
2017, they were put on notice upon the reception of those records. Finally, Defendant
argues that since Plaintiffs made two separate complaints alleging negligence, they
were aware of the possible claim for negligence and thus on inquiry notice. (On May 23,
2017, Defendants provide an acknowledgement by the Nevada Department of Health
and Human Services (“HHS”) that they received Plaintiff Brian Powell’s complaint
made against Defendants. And on June 11, 2017, Plaintiff Brian Powell filed a
complaint with the Nevada State Board of Nursing alleging negligence in that Decedent
was not properly monitored.)

Plaintiff argues that the date of accrual for the statute of limitations is a question
of fact for the jury and summary judgment is not appropriate at this stage where there
are factual disputes. Plaintiffs claim they were not put on inquiry notice of Defendant’s
negligence until they received the February 5, 2018, HHS report and therefore the
complaint, filed on February 4, 2019, was brought within the one-year statute of
limitations. Plaintiff makes this claim based on several pieces of evidence. First, while
the medical records were mailed to Plaintiffs on June 29, 2017, there is no evidence
that shows the records were ever received. Additionally, on June 28, 2017, Plaintiffs
were informed via the Certificate of Death, that Ms. Powell’s death was determined to
be a suicide. This prevented Plaintiff from ever considering negligence contributed to
her death. Plaintiffs argue the first time they could have suspected negligence was

when they received the report from HHS on February 5, 2018, that stated the facility
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had committed violations with rules and/or regulations and deficiencies in the medical
care provided to Decedent.

Plaintiff claims that Defendant’s present Motion for Summary Judgment is just
a regurgitation of Defendant’s prior Motion to Dismiss on the same facts in violation of
Eighth Judicial District Court Rule (EJDCR) 2.24(a). Plaintiff claims this Motion is a
waste of time, money, and resources that rehashes the same arguments that the court
had already decided, and the Motion should be denied pursuant to EJDCR 2.24(a).

Summary judgment is appropriate if the pleadings, depositions, answers to
interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that
there is no genuine issue as to any disputed material fact and that the moving party is
entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. NRCP 56(c). The tolling date ordinarily
presents a question of fact for the jury. Winn v. Sunrise Hospital and Medical Center,
128 Nev. 246, 252 (2012). “Only when the evidence irrefutably demonstrates that a
plaintiff was put on inquiry notice of a cause of action should the district court
determine this discovery date as a matter of law.” Id. A plaintiff discovers an injury
when “he knows or, through the use of reasonable diligence, should have known of facts
that would put a reasonable person on inquiry notice of his cause of action.” Massey v.
Linton, 99 Nev. 723 (1983). The time does not begin when the plaintiff discovers the
precise facts pertaining to his legal theory but when there is a general belief that
negligence may have caused the injury. Id. at 728.

There is a suggestion in the Defendants’ Reply Brief that the Plaintiffs may have
been arguing that any delay in filing the Complaint may have been due to a fraudulent
concealment of the medical records, and that such a defense needs to be specifically
pled. This Court has not interpreted the Plaintiff’s position to be one that the records
were “fraudulently concealed,” only that there was no evidence that they had timely
received them. This Court will not take a position on this issue at this time, as it is not
necessary as part of the Court’s analysis, and it does not change the opinion of the
Court either way.

Although the Complaints filed by Brian Powell, suggest that Plaintiff may have at
least been on inquiry notice in 2017, the fact that the family was notified shortly after
the decedent’s death that the cause of death was determined to be a “suicide,” causes

this Court some doubt or concern about what the family knew at that time period.
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Since the family did not receive the report from the State Department of Health and
Human Services, indicating that their previously determined cause of death was in
error, it is possible that the Plaintiffs were not on inquiry notice until February 4, 2019.
This Court is not to grant a Motion to Dismiss or a Motion for Summary Judgment on
the issue of a violation of the Statute of Limitations, unless the facts and evidence
irrefutably demonstrate that Plaintiff was put on inquiry notice more than one year
prior to the filing of the complaint. This Court does not find that such evidence is
irrefutable, and there remains a genuine issue of material fact as to when the Plaintiffs
were actually put on inquiry notice. Such issue is an issue of fact, appropriate for
determination by the trier of fact. Consequently, Summary Judgment would not be

appropriate, and the Motion for Summary Judgment, and the Joinders thereto, must
be denied.

Defendant. Juliano’s Motion for Summary Judgment. and Defendant

Concio and Shah’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Emotional

Distress Claims.

On or about 05/03/17, 41-year-old Rebecca Powell was transported to
Centennial Hospital. Rebecca ultimately died on 05/11/17. Plaintiffs allege that the
death was due to inadequate and absent monitoring, a lack of diagnostic testing, and
improper treatment. Furthermore, Plaintiffs allege that Rebecca Powell’s negligent
death caused them Negligent Infliction of Emotional Harm.

Defendant, Doctor Dionice Juliano, argues that based on the discovery which
has taken place, the medical records, and specifically his own affidavit, there are no
material facts suggesting he was responsible for the care and treatment of Rebecca
Powell after May 9, 2017. Further, Defendant argues that for a claim for Negligent
Infliction of Emotional to survive, the plaintiff must be physically present for the act
which is alleged to have inflicted that emotional distress.

Defendants further argue that Summary Judgment is warranted because the

Plaintiff failed to timely respond to Requests for Admission, and consequently,

! Dr. Dionice Juliano’s Affidavit indicates that the patient was admitted on May 3, 2017, by the physician

working the night shift. Dr. Juliano saw her for the first time on May 4, 2017, and was her attending physician,
until he handed her off at the end of a “week-on, week-off” rotation on Monday, May 8, 2017, He had no
responsibility for her after May 8, as he was off duty until Tuesday, May 16, 2017. The Plaintiffs’ Complaint is
critical of the acts or omissions which occurred on May 10 and 11, 2017.

5
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pursuant to NRCP 36, they are deemed admitted. Defendants argue that Plaintiffs have
no good cause for not responding.

Plaintiffs argue that Defendants prematurely filed their motions since there is
over a year left to conduct discovery. Moreover, Plaintiffs argue that Defendants acted
in bad faith during a global pandemic by sending the admission requests and by not
working with Defendants’ counsel to remind Plaintiffs’ counsel of the missing
admission requests. Moreover, since Defendants have not cited any prejudice arising
from their mistake of submitting its admission requests late, this Court should deem
Plaintiffs’ responses timely or allow them to be amended or withdrawn. Plaintiffs ask
this Court to deny the premature motions for Summary Judgment and allow for
discovery to run its natural course.

Pursuant to NRCP 56, and the relevant case law, summary judgment is
appropriate when the evidence establishes that there is no genuine issue of material
fact remaining and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. All
inferences and evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving
party. A genuine issue of material fact exists when a reasonable jury could return a
verdict for the non-moving party. See NRCP 56, Ron Cuzze v. University and
Community College System, 123 Nev. 598, 172 P.3d 131 (2008), and Golden Nugget v.
Ham, 95 Nev. 45, 589 P.2d 173 (1979), and Oehler v. Humana, Inc., 105 Nev. 348
(1987). While the pleadings are construed in the light most favorable to the non-
moving party, however, that party is not entitled to build its case on “gossamer threads
of whimsy, speculation, and conjecture.” Miller v. Jones, 114 Nev. 1291 (1998).

With regard to the Requests for Admissions, NRCP 36(a)(3) provides that a
matter is deemed admitted unless, within 30 days after being served, the party sends
back a written answer objecting to the matters. Here, Plaintiff’s counsel failed to
respond to Defendants’ counsel request for admissions during the allotted time.
Defendants’ counsel argues that Plaintiffs should not be able to withdraw or amend
their responses because their attorney was personally served six different times and
emailed twice as notice that they were served the admission requests. On the other
hand, Plaintiffs’ counsel argued that their late response was due to consequences from
the unprecedented global pandemic that affected their employees and work. NRCP

36(b) allows the Court to permit the admission to be withdrawn or amended if it would
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promote the presentation of the merits. Since Nevada courts, as a public policy, favor
hearing cases on its merits, and because this Court finds that the global pandemic
should count as “good cause,” this Court will allow Plaintiffs’ late responses to be
recognized as timely responses. They were filed approximately 40 days late, but the
Court finds that the delay was based on “good cause,” and that they will be recognized
as if they had been timely responses.

Under State v. Eaton, 101 Nev. 705, 710 P.2d 1370 (1985), to prevail in a claim
for Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress, the following elements are required: (1)
the plaintiff was located near the scene; (2) the plaintiff was emotionally injured by the
contemporaneous sensory observance of the accident; and (3) the plaintiff was closely
related to the victim. The Plaintiffs argue that although there has been a historical
precedent requiring the plaintiff to have been present at the time of the accident. This
Court previously held in this case that the case of Crippens v. Sav On Drug Stores, 114
Nev., 760, 961 P.2d 761 (1998), precluded the Court from granting a Motion to Dismiss.
Although the burden for a Motion for Summary Judgment is different, the Court is still
bound by the Nevada Supreme Court’s decision in Crippins, which indicated, “it is not
the precise position of plaintiff or what the plaintiff saw that must be examined. The
overall circumstances must be examined to determine whether the harm to the plaintiff
was reasonably foreseeable. Foreseeability is the cornerstone of this court’s test for
negligent infliction of emotional distress.” Id. The Court still believes that the
“foreseeability” element is more important than the location of the Plaintiffs, pursuant
to the Court’s determination in Crippins, and such an analysis seems to be a factual
determination for the trier of fact. Consequently, Summary Judgment on the basis of
the Plaintiff’s failure to be present and witness the death of the decedent, seems
inappropriate.

With regard to the argument that Dr. Juliano did not participate in the care of
the Plaintiff during the relevant time period, the Plaintiff’s objection simply indicates
that the motion is premature, but fails to set forth any facts or evidence to show that
Dr. Juiliano was in fact present or involved in the care of the decedent during the
relevant time period. The Court believes that this is what the Nevada Supreme Court
was referring to when it said that a Plaintiff is not entitled to build its case on

“gossamer threads of whimsy, speculation, and conjecture.” Miller v. Jones, 114 Nev.
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1291 (1998). As the Plaintiffs have been unable to establish or show any facts or
evidence indicating that Dr. Juliano was present during the relevant time period, the
Court believes that no genuine issues of material fact remain in that regard and Dr.
Juliano is entitled to Summary Judgment. With regard to all other issues argued by the
parties, the Court finds that genuine issues of material fact remain, and summary
judgment would therefore not be appropriate.

Based upon the foregoing, and good cause appearing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Defendants Valley’s and Universal’s Motion
for Summary Judgment Based upon the Expiration of the Statute of Limitations, and
all Joinders thereto are hereby DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Defendant Juliano’s Motion for Summary
Judgment is hereby GRANTED, and Dr. Juliano is hereby Dismissed from the Action,
without prejudice.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Defendants, Concio and Shah’s Motion
for Partial Summary Judgment on the Negligent Infliction of Emotional Distress
Claims is hereby DENIED. All joinders are likewise DENIED.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that because the Court has ruled on these
Motions on the papers, the hearing scheduled for November 4, 2020, with regard to the
foregoing issues is now moot, and will be taken off calendar.

Dated this 28th day of October, 2020. Dated this 29th day of October, 2020

/ ] .}' s /D‘)
ARIN/
iy A
JERRY A WIESEJT
DISTRICT.COURT JUDGE

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

DEB2RTIMENTIXZXD26
Jerry A. Wiese
District Court Judge
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known addresses on 11/2/2020

John Cotton John H. Cotton & Associates, LTD.
Attn: John H. Cotton
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Paul Padda Paul Padda Law, PLLC
c/o: Paul Padda
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Electronically Filed
12/17/2020 11:31 AM

CLERK OF THE COURT
ORDR
PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 10417
Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com
JAMES P. KELLY, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No.: 8140
Email: jpk@paulpaddalaw.com
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
Brian Powell as Special Administrator; CASE NO. A-19-788787-C

DARCI CREECY, individually; TARYN DEPT. 30
CREECY, individually; ISAIAH KHOSROF,
individually; LLOYD CREECY, individually;
ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT

Plaintiffs, VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC’S
MOTION TO STAY ON ORDER
Vvs. SHORTENING TIME

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC,, a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

The above-referenced matter was scheduled for a hearing on November 25, 2020 with
regard to Defendant Valley Health System's Motion for Stay. Pursuant to Administrative Order

20-01, and subsequent administrative orders, this matter was deemed “non-essential,” and as

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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such, this Court has determined that it would be appropriate to decide this matter on the papers.
A minute order was circulated on November 23, 2020 to the parties, the contents of which
follows:

On May 3, 2017, Plaintiff was found by EMS at her home. She was unconscious, labored
in her breathing, and had vomit on her face. EMS provided emergency care and transported her
to Defendant Hospital, and she was admitted. Plaintiff continued to improve while she was
admitted. However, on May 10, 2017 Plaintiff complained of shortness of breath, weakness, and
a "drowning feeling." One of her doctors ordered Ativan to be administered via an TV push. On
May 11, another doctor ordered two more doses of Ativan and ordered several tests, including a
chest CT to be performed. However, the CT could not be performed due to Plaintiffs inability to
remain still during the test. She was returned to her room where she was monitored by a camera
to ensure she kept her oxygen mask on. Plaintiffs, in their complaint, alleged the monitoring was
substandard and Defendant should have used a better camera or in person monitoring, among
other theories of substandard care. Another dose of Ativan was ordered at 3:27 AM and Plaintiff
entered into acute respiratory failure, which resulted in her death. The other named Plaintiffs
claimed they were in Decedent's hospital room and observed Defendant's negligence.

Plaintiffs ordered Decedent's medical records on May 25, 2017; however, there were
issues with delivery, and it is unclear exactly when Plaintiffs received them. Decedent s husband,
a named Plaintiff, filed a complaint with the State of Nevada Department of Health and Human
Services ("HHS") sometime before May 23, 2017. Approximately six weeks after the death of
Decedent, Plaintiffs received the death certificate which listed the cause of death as a suicide from
Cymbalta Intoxication. On February 5, 2018 HHS responded to Plaintiff s complaint. The letter

said that after an investigation, HHS concluded that the facility had committed violations by not

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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following rules and/or regulations as well as finding there were deficiencies in the medical care
provided to Decedent.

On February 4, 2019, Plaintiff's filed suit alleging negligence/medical malpractice,
wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085, and negligent infliction of emotional distress. Defendant
did not file an answer but filed a Motion to Dismiss on June 19, 2020 alleging the statute of
limitations had tolled. Plaintiff answered the motion. The court denied the Motion to Dismiss on
September 25, 2019. Defendant filed an Answer to Plaintiff s complaint on April 15, 2020.

Defendants Valley Health System, LLC and Universal Health Services, Inc. then filed a
'Motion for Summary Judgment Based Upon the Expiration of the Statute of Limitations.'
Defendants Dionice Juliano, M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D., and Vishal Shah, M.D. joined the
Motion for Summary Judgment. Additionally, Defendant Juliano filed a Motion for Summary
Judgment, and Defendants Concio and Shaw filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on
Emotional Distress Claims. Plaintiffs filed a Counter-Motion to Amend or Withdraw Plaintiffs
Responses to Defendants Requests for Admissions. All of these items were on the November 04,
2020 calendar. An Order deciding these motions was filed on October 29, 2020. The Order denied
Defendants, Valley Health System and Universal s Motion for Summary Judgment and related
Joinders; granted Defendant Juliano s Motion for Summary Judgment, and dismissed Dr. Juliano
from the case without prejudice; and denied Defendants Concio and Shah s Motion for Partial
Summary Judgment on the Emotional Distress Claims.

Now, Defendant Valley Health System, LLC (VHS) seeks an order staying the case
pending an appeal of the October 29, 2020, Order denying its Motion for Summary Judgment
Based Upon the Expiration of the Statute of Limitations. Defendant VHS alleges that it may be

irreparably prejudiced by having to continue defending this action and potentially being forced

Estate of Rebecca Powell, et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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to try all issues when the matter raised by the aforesaid Motion is case dispositive.

This matter has been pending since February, 2019. It is currently set for trial on May 23,
2022. Initial expert disclosures are to be made on or before June 18, 2021, rebuttal expert
disclosures are due on August 27, 2021, and discovery is to be completed on or before October
28, 2021. Valley argues that it is currently preparing a Petition for Writ of Mandamus, and is first
seeking a stay with the district Court pursuant to NRAP 8(a)(1)(A). The decision whether to grant
a motion for a stay in proceedings is left to the sound discretion of the Court. Nevada Tax
Commission v. Brent Mackie, 74 Nev. 273, 276 (1958). The factors to be considered by the Court
when considering whether to issue a stay in the proceedings when an appellate issue is pending
before the Nevada Supreme Court are (1) whether the object of the writ petition will be defeated
if the stay is denied; (2) whether the petitioner will suffer irreparable or serious injury if the stay
is denied; (3) whether the real party in interest will suffer irreparable or serious injury if the stay
is granted; and (4) whether petitioner is likely to prevail on the merits in the writ petition. NRAP
8(c); Fritz Hansen A/S v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 116 Nev. 650, 657 (2000).

Defendant, VHS argues that each of the 4 factors weigh in favor of granting a stay. The
Plaintiffs, on the other hand, argue that none of the factors weigh in favor of the Defendant. This
Court finds and concludes as follows: 1) Trial is currently not scheduled until May of 2022, and
consequently, even if a stay is denied, it is likely that the Supreme Court would rule on the
"potential” Writ of Mandamus, prior to the parties going to Trial. Consequently, the Court does
not find that the purpose of the writ petition would be defeated if the stay were denied. 2) The
only injury or damage that the Petitioner would suffer if the stay were denied, would be continued
litigations and the costs associated therewith. The Court has consistently held that ongoing

litigation and the expenses associated therewith do not cause "irreparable harm." Consequently,

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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the Court does not find that the Petitioner would suffer irreparable harm or serious injury if the
stay were denied. 3) Although the Plaintiffs are correct that memories dim as time passes, such a
fact applies to all witnesses equally Plaintiff's witnesses as well as Defendants' witnesses.
Consequently, the Court does not find that the Plaintiffs would suffer irreparable or serious injury
if the stay were granted. 4) The Court cannot find that the Petitioners are likely to prevail on the
merits, as this Court previously found, and continues to believe, that the Death Certificate
identifying Ms. Powell's cause of death as a "suicide,” may have tolled the statute of limitations,
in that such a conclusion or determination by the Medical Examiner, would clearly not suggest
"negligence” on the part of any medical care provider. Although the Defendants suggest that the
Plaintiffs possessed inquiry notice much earlier, the Court could not find that the families
questioning of the cause of death equated with inquiry notice of negligence. Consequently, this
Court concluded that when the Plaintiffs knew or should have known, of the alleged negligence
of the Defendants, was an issue of fact which overcame the Defendants' Motion for Summary
Judgment. Consequently, the Court cannot find that there is a likelihood of success on the merits.

Another issue which is important in this Court's analysis, is the fact that a Writ has
apparently not yet been filed. If the Court were to grant the Stay as requested, it is possible that 6
months, or even a year from now, the Writ may still not be filed, so the Court would have stayed

the case for no reason.

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System, LLC. et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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Based upon all these reasons, considering the relevant factors set forth above, finding that
they weigh in favor of the non-moving party, and good cause appearing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendant's Motion for Stay is hereby DENIED.

Dated this day of December, 2020. Dated thIS 17th day of December, 2020

JERRY A. HE.SH II )

DISTRICT COURT JUDGE

EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

DEPARARE:RAS863E 6997
Respectfully submitted by: ‘Ij)?sr% c’?cvg:frfﬁu dge

PAUL PADDA LAW

5/ Paud S. FPadda

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 10417

James P. Kelly, Esq.

Nevada Bar No. 8140

4650 S. Decatur Boulevard, Ste. 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Estate of Rebecca Powell. et al. v. Valley Health System. LLC, et al.
District Court Case No. A-19-788787-C, Dept. 30
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Nevada Bar No. 6858
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Nevada Bar No. 15045
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LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Telephone: 702.893.3383

Facsimile: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical

Center
DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C

BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No.: 30
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as | DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually, SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S
Plaintiffs, REPLY IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES
VS. PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§

17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical | Hearing Date: February 9, 2022
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m.
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z,

Defendants.

Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as “Centennial Hills
Hospital Medical Center”) by and through its counsel of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of
the Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, hereby file their Reply in Further
Support of Their Motion for Attorneys’ Fees Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, 7.085,
18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

This Motion is based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities below, Defendant’s
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Motion in Chief, the pleadings and papers on file herein, any oral argument which may be

entertained by the Court at the hearing of this matter.

DATED this 2" day of February, 2022

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By
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/sl Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 6858
ADAM GARTH
Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES

I INTRODUCTION

Plaintiffs’ entire opposition is predicated on a false assertion that they possessed a viable
case in the first instance. To put Plaintiffs’ argument in the proper light, they effectively state “We
were winning until we lost everything, but since we thought we were winning, we had a good faith
basis to proceed.” So, according to Plaintiffs, as long as they won a number of battles but still lost
the war, they are on firm ground — not so.

Their entire argument is that because this Court repeatedly denied dismissal attempts by the
respective defendants despite clear, convincing, and irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice which
each and every plaintiff possessed, they are somehow absolved from either their malpractice or
unethical practice of pursuing a case which was dead on arrival when filed. The overarching factor,
which Plaintiffs seem to “gloss over,” is the Nevada Supreme Court held that the “district court
manifestly abused its discretion when it denied summary judgment.”' In other words, it was so
plainly obvious at the outset of the litigation that Brian Powell’s two State agency complaints,
standing alone, let alone Plaintiffs sought and obtained Ms. Powell’s complete medical record from
CHH, that this case should have been dismissed a year ago at the latest when the summary judgment
motion was made.

Even more stunning in this case, as the Supreme Court also pointed out, was that Plaintiffs
possessed the entire medical record for the decedent from CHH within one month of her death.?
Either possession of the record or the State agency complaints was sufficient to trigger the
commencement of inquiry notice, let alone the two combined. All other arguments advanced by
Plaintiffs disregard their lawyer’s incompetence in prosecuting a lawsuit he refused to admit was
legally non-revivable, and where he failed to provide any evidence which formed the basis of his
own concocted theories of alleged confusion as to cause of death or some fraudulent concealment
of records. Plaintiffs’ counsel failed to interpose an affidavit or declaration from any plaintiff in

this case even suggesting these as a basis to support his theory, and for good reason — either it was

! Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, p. 2
2 Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, pp. 3-5
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a lie and could not be presented to the Court, or it was gross incompetence to fail to support any
claim with admissible evidence in opposition to unopposed evidence in support of a motion for
summary judgment. Either way, Plaintiffs’ counsel acted in bad faith here.

If Plaintiffs’ procedural bad faith was not enough, Plaintiffs had no good faith factual basis
for starting the lawsuit. What will be plainly evident below is that Plaintiffs’ counsel commenced
this action with their usual “go to” physician expert (who they regularly drop as an expert once time
for expert exchanges, but utilize in an effort to get over the NRS 41A.071 hurdle) on some half-
baked theory that Ms. Powell was overdosed on Ativan which suppressed her breathing and caused
her death. After CHH demonstrated through unimpeachable expert reporting and evaluations that
given the timing of the Ativan, it had almost completely metabolized in Ms. Powell long before her
death and had no effect whatsoever on the outcome of her hospital course. Even more revealing
was the fact that CHH’s experts concluded, and upon which Plaintiffs’ experts actually agreed, that
Ms. Powell died from an acute mucous plug event, not Ativan overdosing or anything else, an event
which was not predictable. Her demise was predetermined by her own suicide attempt and resulting
aspiration pneumonia which created a cascading decline in her health condition, that only
temporarily improved, but which cold not be reversed by the best of care.® Plaintiffs’ counsel spends
considerable time in opposition attempting to garner sympathy due to the death of Ms. Powell which
was precipitated by her own purposeful actions and had nothing whatsoever to do with the care she
received at CHH. This is another perpetration of the continuing web of lies by Plaintiffs’ counsel
which has been put to an end by the Nevada Supreme Court due to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s improper
advancement of an expired lawsuit.

What is even more disturbing is that Plaintiffs’ counsel attempts to legitimize their actions
by asserting that a previously scheduled mediation somehow validates their claims. Nothing can be
further from the truth. CHH attempted to limit the constant hemorrhaging of money and time

devoted to this illegitimate lawsuit which was only being given oxygen by repeated denials of a

3 Exhibit “D” hereto consisting of CHH’s initial and rebuttal expert disclosures demonstrating the
complete absence of an underlying good faith factual basis for lawsuit.
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pause in expenses while this matter worked its way through the Nevada Supreme Court for final
determination of its legitimacy. As previously noted in CHH’s motion in chief, Plaintiffs
vehemently opposed any efforts to stem of tidal wave of expenses, opposing any motion for a stay
on multiple occasions. They forced an increase in costs and expenses and now do not want to pay
for their actions.

In short, Plaintiffs’ gambled, lost, and now have to pay up. Denial of this motion would
represent an invitation to lawyers to commence lawsuits late, encourage them to not provide any
evidentiary support for positions they take, and after presented with an opportunity to walk away
free and clear after being shown the impropriety of their actions, to continue to pursue baseless and
untenable litigation. The Nevada Supreme Court would likely be interested in weighing in on this

1ssue as well.

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. The Beattie Factors Weigh Completely In Favor of CHH

In awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68, the district court must analyze the
following factors: “(1) whether the plaintiffs claim was brought in good faith; (2) whether the
defendants' offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its time and amount; (3)
whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or
in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount.”
Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983). However, no single Beattie
factor is determinative, and a review of the factors shows this Court should award CHH its attorneys'
fees. Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 642, 357 P.3d 365, 372 (Nev. App. 2015). While this Court’s
order need not go into detail regarding each and every Beattie factor, its findings must be supported
by substantial evidence. Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015). The district
court abuses its discretion if the Beattie factors are not supported by substantial evidence. Id.

Further, attorneys' fees are warranted even with a finding that two of the Beattie factors
weigh in favor of the moving party. See Lafrieda v. Gilbert, 435 P.3d 665 (Nev. 2019) (upholding
district court's award of attorneys' fees when it found the offer of judgment was reasonable in both

time and amount and the fees were necessary and reasonably incurred.) In the instant case, all four
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factors weigh completely in CHH’s favor.

B. Plaintiffs’ Lawsuit Was Brought in Bad Faith

As previously demonstrated in CHH’s motion in chief and in the introduction above,
Plaintiffs’ lawsuit was not brought in good faith. The mere fact that a 41 year old woman died, due
to her own suicide attempt, does not require CHH to open its checkbook and pay. Plaintiff had both
procedural and substantive hurdles to overcome, neither of which they did.

The Nevada Supreme Court cited multiple times which Plaintiffs received inquiry notice in

this case. Specifically the Court stated:

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28

Here, irrefutable evidence demonstrates that the real parties in interest were
on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017 at the latest, when real party in interest
Brian Powell, special administrator for the estate, filed a complaint with the State
Board of Nursing. There, Brian alleged that the decedent, Rebecca Powell, "went
into respiratory distress" and her health care providers did not appropriately
monitor her, abandoning her care and causing her death. Thus, Brian's own
allegations in this Board complaint demonstrate that he had enough information
to allege a prima facie claim for professional negligence-that in treating Rebecca,
her health care providers failed "to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge
ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced
providers of health care." NRS 41A.015 (defining professional negligence);
Winn, 128 Nev. at 252-53; 277 P.3d at 462 (explaining that a "plaintiffs general
belief that someone's negligence may have caused his or her injury" triggers
inquiry notice).> That the real parties in interest received Rebecca's death
certificate 17 days later, erroneously listing her cause of death as suicide,
does not change this conclusion.* Thus, the real parties in interest had until June
11, 2018, at the latest, to file their professional negligence claim. Therefore, their
February 4, 2019 complaint was untimely.

3 The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry notice
even earlier. For example, real parties in interest had observed
in real time, following a short period of recovery, the rapid
deterioration of Powell's health while in petitioners' care.
Additionally, Brian had filed a complaint with the Nevada
Department of Health and Human Services (NDHHS) on or
before May 23, 2017. Similar to the Nursing Board complaint,
this complaint alleged facts, such as the petitioners' failure to
upgrade care, sterilize sutures properly, and monitor Powell,
that suggest he already believed, and knew of facts to support
his belief, that negligent treatment caused Powell's death by
the time he made these complaints to NDHHS and the Nursing
Board.

4 The real parties in interest do not adequately address why
tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the
limitation period for a professional negligence claim "is tolled for
any period during which the provider of health care has concealed
any act, error or omission upon which the action is based"). Even
if they did, such an argument would be unavailing, as the medical
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records provided were sufficient for their expert witness to
conclude that petitioners were negligent in Powell's care. See
Winn, 128 Nev. at 255, 277 P.3d at 464 (holding that tolling under
NRS 41A.097(3) is only appropriate where the intentionally
concealed medical records were "material" to the professional
negligence claims). Finally, we have not extended the doctrine of
equitable tolling to NRS 41A.097(2), and the real parties in
interest do not adequately address whether such an application is
appropriate under these facts. See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden
Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006)
(refusing to consider arguments that a party did not cogently argue
or support with relevant authority).

Given that uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that the petitioners are

entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the complaint is time-barred

under NRS 41A.097(2), see NRCP 56(a); Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at

1029 (recognizing that courts must grant summary judgment when the pleadings

and all other evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving

party, "demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and

that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law" (internal

quotations omitted)) . . .

Let’s review the timing of the notice. Independent from anything that Brian Powell did with
reporting alleged and suspected medical negligence to two State agencies, Plaintiff Taryn Creecy
sought and obtained a Probate Court order directing that she be permitting to obtain Ms. Powell’s
medical records from CHH, and that court order was issued on May 24, 2017, 13 days after Ms.
Powell’s death.® Does Plaintiffs’ counsel expect that everyone is so stupid as to believe that Ms.
Creecy sought a complete copy of the medical records from CHH for fun? Who requests medical
records from a hospital for a deceased individual if not to review them to determine what happened
due to some suspected impropriety of care? The Supreme Court noted that CHH presented
“uncontroverted evidence” that Plaintiffs’ received a complete copy of Ms. Powell’s entire CHH
medical chart which was demonstrated to this Court on the motion for summary judgment and again
on appeal through the affidavits of CHH’s custodian of records and the medical records retrieval
service which processed Ms. Creecy’s order for the records. Due to an improper address provided

by Ms. Creecy, the records were sent twice, the last time on June 29, 2017.° As the Supreme Court

noted in its writ of mandamus order, Plaintiffs proffered a theory of fraudulent concealment but

4 Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, pp. 3-5 (emphasis supplied)
> Exhibit “E” hereto
6 Exhibit “G”
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failed to demonstrate any evidence of it. The Supreme Court acknowledged that Plaintiffs were in
full possession of the entire medical record which was available to them and at least partially
reviewed by their medical expert in support of his NRS 41A.071 declaration.

In an effort to extricate themselves from the mess of their own creation, Plaintiffs’ counsel
erroneously seeks en banc reconsideration of the Supreme Court’s order in this case, falsely stating
that the only evidence of inquiry notice here was Brian Powell’s two State agency complaints, and
that noting that his complaints were initiated without knowledge of the remaining Plaintiffs in this
case (an assertion which is unsupported by any evidence whatsoever in the record but is again being
unethically advanced by ethically bankrupt counsel). That motion is almost assuredly doomed to
failure.

Plaintiffs further contends in their pending motion in Supreme Court that only the Estate’s
claims could be barred by the statute of limitations since it was Brian Powell, the Estate’s special
administrator, who allegedly “went rogue” and filed these complaints without any knowledge by
other Plaintiffs. Thus, Plaintiffs’ counsel asserts the remaining Plaintiffs cannot be bound by Mr.
Powell’s rogue actions. Again, to think everyone is so stupid as to believe that nonsense is insulting
to say the least. Plaintiffs’ counsel conveniently omitted that all of the Plaintiffs prosecuted this
lawsuit having received records from CHH independent from any State agency complaints. In
Christina Kushnir, M.D. et al. v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 41 (2021), the
Court of Appeals stated that NRS 41A.097’s one year discovery period for the purposes of inquiry
notice in a professional negligence case begins to run when a party receives the complete medical
record and “had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate
further.” Plaintiffs’ possession of the hospital records in this case coupled with their expert’s ability
to review them and opine on the alleged malpractice for NRS 41A.071 purposes commenced the
running of the statute of limitations.

Conspicuously absent from Plaintiffs’ opposition on this motion as well as to the Supreme
Court in their motion for en banc reconsideration, is any citation to this binding authority and the
cases preceding it. Thus, the mere possession of the complete medical record in June, 2017 by

Plaintiffs commenced the running of the statute of limitations here. The Nevada Supreme Court’s
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decision in this case made that perfectly clear. Thus, Plaintiffs lacked a good faith basis for their
claim in the first place since they possessed the medical records within 6 weeks of Ms. Powell’s
death any did nothing to preserve their rights for 20 months thereafter before filing this illegitimate
and untimely lawsuit. This fact alone presents evidence of bad faith.

Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court also stated in footnote 3 to its decision cited above,
“The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry notice even earlier. For example, real parties
in interest had observed in real time, following a short period of recovery, the rapid deterioration of
Powell's health while in petitioners’ care.” In other words, Plaintiffs made assertions in the case
that they personally observed Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration. By so asserting, they admit they
were on the very inquiry notice required. Again, Plaintiffs’ counsel conveniently forgets to highlight
his claim on Plaintiffs’ behalf in this regard since it will not support the misrepresentation of facts
he now attempts to perpetrate on this Court in opposition to the instant motion.

In summary, Plaintiffs’ bad faith has been determined in three different ways — (1)
possessing the entire medical record on or about June 29, 2017, (2) all Plaintiffs allegedly witnessing
Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration of condition, and (3) two State agency complaints specifically
alleging malpractice and requesting investigations. Any one of these is sufficient for inquiry notice.
All combined, it screams inquiry notice. All of this information was within Plaintiffs’ exclusive
possession at the time of the lawsuit’s filing. For Plaintiffs’ counsel to manufacture a nonsensical
and completely unsubstantiated claim of “confusion”, lacking any shred of evidentiary support,
demonstrates the very bad faith for which the penalties of the statutes and rules were established to
deter. Therefore, this was a bad faith lawsuit by Plaintiffs’ and their counsel, plain and simple.

C. CHH’s Offer of Judegment Was Brought in Good Faith in Both Timing and
Amount

Plaintiffs’ opposition to this factor is based upon the galling and false claim that just because
Ms. Powell died at CHH at the age of 41, CHH’s offer of judgment should have included a cash
award to Plaintiffs rather than a waiver of over $58,000 in costs and fees precipitated by Plaintiffs’
bad faith lawsuit.

CHH’s Offer was reasonable as to time. The Offer was served on August 28, 2020. CHH’s
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motion for summary judgment was served on September 2, 2020, 5 days after the Offer and well
within the time to accept it, 9 days to be exact. Moreover, the Offer was made about 1% years from
the lawsuit’s commencement. As previously demonstrated herein, on the original motion for
summary judgment, on appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court, and in the Supreme Court’s decision
thereon, every single one of the Plaintiffs was on inquiry notice of alleged malpractice in three
different ways, where only one means was sufficient to commence the running of the statute of
limitations. These were made abundantly clear in CHH’s summary judgment motion pending
coterminously with the Offer. Plaintiffs were the parties in exclusive possession of evidence of
inquiry notice. The fact that this Court previously denied CHH’s predecessor counsel’s motion to
dismiss did not delegitimize the arguments which were only amplified and irrefutably demonstrated
by CHH in its motion for summary judgment to which a wholly different standard applied and to
which Plaintiffs were obligated to provide evidence in opposition thereto. This they failed to do,
and the Supreme Court noted it.

Moreover, Plaintiffs were in possession of CHH’s respective requests for production of
documents and interrogatories six weeks prior to the motion for summary judgment having been
filed, and they produced the “smoking gun” documents demonstrating irrefutable evidence of
inquiry notice prior to the motion for summary judgment having been made and even while said
motion was pending before this Court prior to the final submission of the motion. Plaintiffs were on
notice of the statute of limitations issues even as early as the motion to dismiss made by predecessor
counsel in July, 2019, just months after commencing this action, yet they still pursued their
untenable claim while in full possession of the documents which defeated it.

Plaintiffs’ counsel further falsely assumes that because this Court denied CHH’s summary
judgment motion, an error corrected by the Nevada Supreme Court, that somehow provides cover
to Plaintiffs for their improper commencement of the action in the first place. It does not. CHH’s
Offer was made based upon Plaintiffs’ exclusive possession of the very evidence necessary to defeat
their assertions of a lack of inquiry notice. Therefore, the timing of the Offer was completely proper.

Likewise, the amount of fees and costs sought by CHH are completely reasonable and are at

least supported by persuasive authority, i.e. Busick v. Trainor, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019) which
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notes that a waiver of costs is sufficient consideration. An offer of judgment containing only a
mutual waiver of attorneys’ fees and costs in exchange for a dismissal of a lawsuit is not nominal,
and may constitute a reasonable offer made in good faith. See Busick v. Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub.
LEXIS 378 at *6-8 (No. 72966 March 28, 2019). In Busick, the plaintiffs alleged $ 1-3 million
dollars in damages in a medical malpractice claim. In preparing for trial, the defendant served an
offer of judgment on the plaintiffs for a mutual waiver of attorneys' fees and costs. Id. At the time
the offer of judgment was made, the defendant had incurred approximately $ 95,000 in costs. Since
an award of costs is mandated under NRS 18.020, the district court found the waiver of such is a
meaningful sum to be included in the offer of judgment, and awarded defendant its costs and
attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68.

In this case, CHH’s Offer was to waive over $58,000 in costs and fees. Plaintiffs did nothing
about the Offer, which under the Rule, expired after 14 days. In a separate memorandum of costs,
which Plaintiffs failed to timely move to retax, CHH provided supporting authority for same. On
this motion, CHH offered to present to this Court for in camera inspection (to preserve
attorney/client privilege and work product privilege) to provide time sheets for all time keepers and
all invoices, costs, disbursements and fees. What have Plaintiffs offered — nothing. They provide
not one shred of evidence that the costs are unreasonable or any basis for so stating. The only
unreasonable factor in Plaintiffs’ counsel’s mind is that they lost and have now subjected their
clients to a judgment due to their counsel’s hubris. Lest we forget here — it was CHH which
attempted to reduce costs here by seeking stays of discovery. Plaintiffs opposed those efforts at
every turn. Plaintiffs now oppose paying for the costs they forced CHH to incur. Unfortunately for
Plaintiffs, the law provides a recovery mechanism to counter Plaintiffs’ efforts. In fact, it can be
assumed that Plaintiffs purposefully sought to increase CHH’s costs to extract a settlement despite
the untenable claim they advanced as a dead lawsuit at its filing.

All of these demonstrate Plaintiffs’ bad faith, pure and simple. Given the likelihood of
Plaintiffs losing on this issue, the offered waiver of the right to seek reimbursement of costs was
reasonable in both timing and amount, especially given the multiple opportunities for Plaintiffs to

be on notice of the issue.
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D. Plaintiffs’ Decision to Reject the Offer of Judgment Was in Bad Faith and
Grossly Unreasonable

Plaintiffs claim that since this Court kept allowing Plaintiffs to win instead of
properly dismissing this case from the outset, or at a minimum, when irrefutable evidence of inquiry

notice was supplied by CHH to which Plaintiffs interposed nothing in opposition, they were

justified in rejecting the Offer. Timing of the Offer does not support Plaintiffs’ counsel’s assertion.
As previously noted, CHH’s summary judgment motion was made 5 days after the Offer. Plaintiffs
knew they possessed irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice by having received the medical records
of Ms. Powell more than three years earlier. They knew they provided the records to their medical
expert who opined thereon. Plaintiffs’ expert, Dr. Sami Hashim, stated in clear terms the following:

Based upon the medical records, the patient did not and with high probability
could not have died from the cause of death stated in the Death Certificate. The
patient died as a direct consequence of respiratory failure directly due to below
standard of care violations as indicated by her medical records and
reinforced by the Department of Health and Human Services — Division of
Health Quality and Compliance Investigative Report.’

(Emphasis supplied). Dr. Hashim noted that he primarily relied upon the very medical records
which Plaintiffs obtained in May/June, 2017, and the HHS Report was only a “reinforcement”
of what was contained in the medical records.

The issue from the commencement of this action involved the timeliness of it. Plaintiffs’
counsel’s sole argument is that “there was no bad faith as Plaintiffs wholeheartedly believed in their
causes of action which was supported by the report issued by HHS in February of 2018.” First of
all, Plaintiffs’ counsel’s belief in their causes of action is of no moment here. The sole issue is
whether Plaintiffs possessed the very information they needed, and were on notice of the law
regarding same, when they commenced the action, to have commenced a timely lawsuit. They
possessed all necessary information on multiple fronts but nevertheless pursued a case which was
dead on arrival. Plaintiffs alleged that they watched Ms. Powell rapidly deteriorate during her stay
at CHH. The Supreme Court said that was sufficient inquiry notice.

Plaintiffs sought and obtained a Probate Court order granting them access to Ms. Powell’s

7 Exhibit “F” hereto, 6(B)
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entire CHH medical record. Before commencing the lawsuit, Plaintiffs’ counsel obtained the
records provided by CHH to Plaintiffs and forwarded them to Dr. Hashim to obtain his opinion for
NRS 41A.071 purposes. There was no other mechanism in place to obtain the records other than
what Plaintiffs engaged since no lawsuit was pending to provide said records pursuant to NRCP
16.1. Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly advanced a completely unsubstantiated and unsupported theory
of either confusion by his clients or fraudulent concealment by CHH. As noted by the Supreme
Court, neither theory had any basis whatsoever. Thus, Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely failed to support
their opposition to irrefutable evidence warranting summary judgment on the inquiry notice issue,
underscoring their bad faith here.

Finally, Plaintiffs possessed and then provided evidence of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice by
supplying the two State agency complaints. The Supreme Court considered that as additional
irrefutable evidence of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice. Now, Plaintiffs’ counsel attempts to deflect from
their own incompetence and claim that the Supreme Court imposed a standard never contemplated,
namely that all of the Plaintiffs were bound by the State agency complaints initiated by Brian Powell.
Again, Plaintiffs’ counsel presents no evidence of that, just their own assertion which is not only
improper, but false. Plaintiffs’ bad faith is further underscored by the fact that they tacitly admit
that the Estate’s claims in this case were made in bad faith because the State agency complaints
were made solely by Brian Powell on behalf of the Estate, not on behalf of the remaining Plaintiffs.
By so admitting, Plaintiffs’ counsel acknowledges that, at a minimum, the Estate possessed
sufficient inquiry notice by June 11, 2017, and that the Estate’s lawsuit was untimely when filed.
That is further evidence of bad faith by pursuing a claim known to be untimely.

Additionally, Plaintiffs blocked every opportunity CHH provided to “stop the financial
bleeding” by staying the litigation while this case dispositive issue made its way through the courts.
They opposed two stay motions and a motion to reconsider a stay. They opposed a motion to dismiss
and a motion for summary judgment, presenting not one shred of evidence by anyone with personal
knowledge of the facts, supporting their claim of a timely commencement of the action. They forced
CHH to incur substantial legal costs and expenses to defend the action, requiring the engagement of

counsel along with multiple experts, to pursue a lawsuit they knew could not be maintained from
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the start. Furthermore, they provided unresponsive answers to discovery requests seeking to avoid
addressing the underlying claims in the lawsuit necessitating EDCR 2..34 conferences and their
supplementation of a large number of discovery responses. At every turn and opportunity, Plaintiffs
stonewalled providing materials and information supportive of their claims while placing CHH in
the position of having to incur massive expenses to obtain that to which it was legally entitled and
seek dismissal of what Plaintiffs clearly knew was an untenable claim. The Plaintiffs’ failure to
accept CHH’s Offer of Judgment was both in bad faith and grossly unreasonable.

E. Costs and Fees Sought By CHH Are Both Reasonable and Justified

In what has to be the most ridiculous, baseless and nonsensical argument yet, Plaintiffs’
counsel stated in opposition that “it is Defendant [sic] continued filing of Motions based upon the
same theory that Plaintiffs did not file their lawsuit within the prescribed statute of limitations that
drove up Defendant’s fees.” So, to boil it down to its simplest “logic”, because CHH pursued its
rights, filed a motion for summary judgment based upon statute of limitations which should have
been granted as the Supreme Court noted, and because Plaintiffs filed an untimely lawsuit, it is
CHH’s fault that Plaintiffs’ counsel pursued an untenable case.

What drove up costs from the first dollar was the filing of an untimely lawsuit. The fact that
Plaintiffs were allowed to get away with it for so long underscores the need for costs and fees to be
imposed. Plaintiffs drove up the costs and fees here by initiating the lawsuit and then, when
unrebutted evidence of their counsel’s practice failures was plainly evident and presented for all to
see, Plaintiffs’ counsel chose to press forward with an unwinnable case. As this Court is aware,
Plaintiffs are not without a remedy here. If Plaintiffs engaged their counsel prior to the expiration
of the statute of limitations, it was a clear breach of the standard of care to have not timely filed the
lawsuit. The issue if the lawsuit’s timeliness has already been fully adjudicated. Plaintiffs’ counsel
already admitted in their opposition to this motion that they had a completely viable case against
CHH if not for that darn statute of limitations. Thus, we have judicial determination of a breach
in the standard of care, depending upon when Plaintiffs’ counsel was engaged, and an admission
by said counsel as to the viability of Plaintiffs’ underlying case. Plaintiffs may then pursue a legal

malpractice case against Mr. Padda’s office, and since he so firmly believes that just because Ms.
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Powell died, Plaintiffs are entitled to something, he can feel free to pay them.
An analysis of the Beattie factors shows that an award of attorneys’ fees to CHH from the
time of the Offer of Judgment served on Plaintiffs to the present is warranted and appropriate.

F. Amount of Fees Incurred

When awarding fees in the offer of judgment context under N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.115
[currently N.R.S. 17.117], the district court must also consider the reasonableness of the fees
pursuant to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). Id. When
determining the amount of attorneys’ fees to award, the District Court has wide discretion, to be
*“tempered only by reason and fairness” Shuette v. Beazer Homes, 121 Nev. 837, 864 (2005).% If
the district court’s exercise of discretion is neither arbitrary nor capricious, it will not be disturbed
on appeal. Schouweiler, 101 Nev. at 833.

"In determining the amount of fees to award, the [district] court is not limited to one specific
approach; its analysis may begin with any method rationally designed to calculate a reasonable
amount, so long as the requested amount is reviewed in light of the . . . Brunzell factors." See Haley
v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 128 Nev. 171 (2012); see also, Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 319
P.3d 606, 615-616, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 9 (2014).

The following four Brunzell factors are to be considered by the court:

(1) the qualities of the advocate: ability, training, education, experience,
professional standing and skill;

(2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its
importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the
prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the
litigation;

3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention
given to the work;

(4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were
derived.

Brunzell v. Golden Gate, at 349-50.

8 Reasonable attorneys’ fees also include fees for paralegal and non-attorney staff “whose labor
contributes to the work product for which an attorney bills her client.” See Las Vegas Metro. Police
Dep't v. Yeghiazarian, 312 P.3d 503, 510 (Nev. 2013).
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From August 28, 2020 to present, the attorneys’ fees incurred by CHH are as follows:

Partner Adam Garth 405.6 hours $91,260.00
Partner Brent Vogel 39.8 hours $ 8,955.00
Associate Heather Armantrout 33.1 hours $ 6,404.85
Paralegal Arielle Atkinson 46.9 hours $ 4,221.00
Paralegal Joshua Daor 0.1 hours $§  90.00
Total $110,930.85

Plaintiffs provide not one shred of evidence of justification in opposition to the instant
motion to demonstrate that the fees associated herewith are not in line with what is charged in the
community, and the fact that the hourly rates are even below average. A consideration of the
Brunzell factors shows that the recovery of the entire billed amount of feels from August 28, 2020,
to present is entirely appropriate.

G. Award of Pre-NRCP Rule 68 Offer of Judgment Costs and Fees Pursuant to
NRS 7.085

Despite Plaintiffs’ counsel’s entreaties to the contrary, this case was not brought in good
faith for all of the reasons articulated hereinabove and in CHH’s motion in chief. Plaintiffs had no
viable case from the inception. It was not even close. Moreover, all of the evidence concerning the
timing issues in this case fell squarely within the exclusive possession of Plaintiffs, not CHH. They
knew when they requested the medical records and received them. They knew what they allegedly
witnessed at the hospital. They knew they went to Probate Court for the express purpose of
obtaining Ms. Powell’s medical records. They knew they pursued two State agency inquiries into
the allegations of malpractice they requested be undertaken. Through their lawyer only, without
interposing anything during the pendency of the motions, they feign ignorance of the State agency
investigations when it comes to commencing the statute of limitations clock, but then collectively
utilize the results of those investigations to prosecute the lawsuit on behalf of all Plaintiffs, not just
the Estate. In other words, Plaintiffs want to selectively apply what works for them, but eliminate
what injures their case when it comes time to pay up. They cannot have it both ways. The law was

clearly made out that possession of the entirety of the medical records provides inquiry notice.
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Plaintiffs’ report to the State agencies alleging the very malpractice they allege in this case is
another. Moreover, Plaintiffs claimed to be bystanders during Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration at
the time of the alleged incident. Each of these alone provided the requisite inquiry notice and all of
the rules associated with the respective conditions for such notice were firmly established.
Unfortunately for Plaintiffs, they hired a lawyer who failed to either know or follow them and have
now been subjected to costs and fees.

NRS § 7.085 defines the very behavior exhibited by Plaintiffs’ counsel in this case. There
could not have been a more textbook example of inquiry notice than what existed in this case, but
still Plaintiffs’ counsel persisted in not only lying about the facts, but failed to interpose any
evidence opposing the irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice provided by CHH. How much
more egregious can such conduct be? Plaintiffs’ counsel even has the audacity to accuse our firm
of unethical conduct in calling them out for their lies, misrepresentations and professional
incompetence.

As NRS 7.085 states within its terms, courts are mandated to hold parties and their counsel
accountable and to liberally construe the facts ibn favor of the prevailing party who demonstrates
the impropriety of litigation pursued without legal basis for doing so. As noted by a sister
Department, “NRS 7.085 essentially provides, where an attorney violates NRS 18.010(2), NRCP 11
or EDCR 7.60, the delinquent lawyer may be required to personally pay the additional costs,
expenses and/or attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. Notably, as shown above, NRS
18.010(2)(b), EDCR 7.60 and NRS 7.085 do not require Defendants to be "prevailing parties" and
attorneys' fees may be awarded without regard to the recovery sought.” Berberich v. S. Highland
Cmty. Ass'n, 2019 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 130, *11 (Nev. Dist. Ct., Case No. A-16-731824-C, January
29, 2019).

Hereinabove and in CHH’s motion in chief, CHH provided a long documented recitation of
case law and facts which specifically and directly contradict anything and everything advanced by
Plaintiffs’ counsel in this matter. Plaintiffs’ counsel did everything he could to force CHH to incur
expenses. He filed a case well beyond the statute of limitations, despite clear case law demonstrating

when inquiry notice commences. He was faced with two motions on the issue and misrepresented
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the facts. He provided not one shred of evidence to support his personal theories about confusion,
refusing and unable to produce any supporting evidence. He provided no support for a suggestion
of fraudulent concealment, and opposed any motions for a stay of proceedings while the statute of
limitations issue made its way through the appellate system. In short, Plaintiffs’ counsel advanced
a case which was dead on arrival. He knew it, was reminded of it, and pursued it anyway, hoping
for a judicial lifeline. The Supreme Court made certain to cover all possible avenues for Plaintiffs’
counsel’s attempt to scurry away from his late and improper case filing. Adding insult to injury, he
did everything he could to increase expenses. Elections have consequences. Those consequences
are sanctions under NRS 7.085 which include the $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and
expenses incurred from the commencement of this litigation. Based upon Plaintiffs counsel’s
violation of the two prongs of NRS 7.085, the Supreme Court has determined:

The language of NRS 7.085 is straightforward. Subsection 1 of NRS 7.085

provides that district courts "shall" hold attorneys "personally" liable for

"additional costs, expenses and attorney's fees" under certain circumstances. If

the statutory conditions are met, '"the court shall" impose a sanction of

taxable fees and costs "reasonably incurred because of such conduct." Id

With respect to "such conduct," the statute requires no more than what it states:

in relevant part, that "a court find[] that an attorney has" (i) "[brought or]

maintained ... a civil action" that (i) either (a) "is not well-grounded in fact," (b)

"is not warranted by existing law," or (c) "is not warranted ... by a[] [good faith]

argument for changing the existing law." See NRS 7.085(1)(a). Subsection 2

requires Nevada courts to "liberally construe" subsection 1 "in favor of awarding

costs, expenses and attorney's fees in all appropriate situations." NRS 7.085(2)

(emphasis added).

Washington v. AA Primo Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co., 440 P.3d 49 (Nev. 2019) (Emphasis supplied).
“The statutes are clear—parties who bring and maintain an action without grounds shall have
attorney fees imposed against them.” Lopez v. Corral, Nos. 51541, 51972, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 69, at
*24,2010 WL 5541115 (Dec. 20, 2010).

There is no clearer case for the imposition of attorney’s fees than this one. Plaintiffs’ case
was entirely frivolous as it was knowingly filed beyond the statute of limitations. Even if it was not
known from the outset, which the evidence clearly demonstrated that it was, it became abundantly
clear that the Plaintiffs themselves not only suspected, but actually accused CHH of malpractice and

sought investigations by the State into their allegations. Plaintiffs supplied the very evidence

damning their own assertions of “confusion” which make Plaintiffs’ counsel’s advancement thereof
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all the more egregious.

Thus, in addition to all NRCP Rule 68 post offer fees and costs, CHH requests that sanctions
be imposed against Plaintiffs” counsel for all pre-NRCP Rule 68 costs and fees totaling $58,514.36
in accordance with NRS 7.085.

H. EDCR 7.60 Authorizes the Imposition of Fines, Costs, and/or Attorneys’ Fees

Due to an Attorney’s Presentation of Frivolous Opposition to a Motion or Who
Multiplies the Proceeding in a Case to Increase Costs

Again, in opposition to CHH’s instant motion, Plaintiffs’ counsel decided to take the “best
defense is a good offense” approach to this section’s relief. The only problem is that the offense is
far from good. Plaintiffs’ counsel states that fees increased for two reasons: (1) CHH filed multiple
motions pertaining to dismissal, summary judgment and for stays, forcing Plaintiffs to respond, and
(2) CHH propounded extensive discovery in an effort to ascertain the theory of liability and
causation associated with Plaintiffs’ untenable claim, as well as additional supporting
documentation of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice which Plaintiffs’ provided during the pendency of the
motion for summary judgment, to wit, Plaintiffs’ State agency complaints.

So what is Plaintiffs’ counsel really saying — Plaintiffs could file a lawsuit where the statute
of limitations expired 8 months before, and CHH was not permitted to ascertain any discovery to
contradict that, and was not permitted to obtain Plaintiffs’ substantiation for their underlying claims.
Plaintiffs’ assertion in this regard is not only meritless, it is the most foolish argument they made in
this case, and that is really saying something. The better perspective, and the one by which the
statutes require the matter be viewed, is that had Plaintiffs’ counsel properly ascertained the state of
the law, they would have recognized their lawsuit was filed too late. Once they were advised of it
on multiple occasions, they were given the opportunity to extricate themselves for no costs but
instead, they doubled down and then lost their entire case. Bringing an untenable lawsuit from the
beginning is what caused Plaintiffs’ to be in this position, not anything CHH did.

Plaintiffs’ counsel commenced and maintained a completely unsustainable action from the
beginning. They knowingly possessed the full medical file. They went to court to obtain an
authorization to get the medical file. They never denied receiving the medicals, and in fact, utilized

the medicals they did receive to obtain a medical affidavit for use with the Complaint. They
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knowingly possessed multiple complaints to State agencies alleging malpractice against CHH and
requesting formal investigations thereof. Then, for purposes of the motion for summary judgment,
Plaintiffs’ counsel feigned confusion on his client’s behalf as to decedent’s cause of death (a fact
which none of the Plaintiffs confirmed in any sworn statement or testimony). After creating chaos
for no reason, when given the opportunity to prevent CHH from incurring further costs, Plaintiffs’
counsel opposed any request for a stay of proceedings, three times in this case, requiring the
continued discovery process, expert evaluations and export reporting. They refused to agree to
postpone the trial date to allow this matter to make its way through the Supreme Court, with
knowledge that the Court would be ruling one way or another on this case dispositive issue. In all,
Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly caused enormous costs on CHH only to have the very issues raised in
this Court result in a total dismissal. CHH should not be required to pay for Plaintiffs’ folly,
especially when Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely looked to increase expenses while pursuing a defunct
case from the outset. Thus, EDCR 7.60 provides a further avenue of deterrence to attorneys, like
Plaintiffs’ counsel, who engage in these unnecessary and flagrantly frivolous lawsuits which are
dead before they are even filed, justifying an award of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P.
68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to
N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

1. CHH Is Also Entitled to Its Fees and Costs Per NRS 18.010(2)

Likewise, CHH is entitled to an award of his attorney’s fees and costs under NRS
§18.010(2)(b) and Plaintiffs’ opposition is unavailing in this regard. It has been determined by this
State’s highest Court that Plaintiffs possessed inquiry notice as late as June, 2017, merely a month
after Ms. Powell’s death, but by their own admissions as to their contemporaneous observance of
events, as early as the time of her death on May 11, 2017. In other words, the Supreme Court
already determined that Plaintiffs’ case was groundless because it was filed too late. Anything else
is immaterial. Plaintiffs’ counsel made the foolhardy move to file a lawsuit 8 months beyond the
latest date to do so, failed to support any motion by CHH with any evidentiary support for their
fallacious and concocted theories, and now claim that they either did not commence, or even more

egregiously continued to maintain a knowingly untenable claim in light of the overwhelming and
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uncontroverted evidence submitted by CHH. they had a fair chance to back out gracefully but
thumbed their nose at it and are now crying that it is unfair to hold them accountable. That is
precisely what the Legislature did by enacting this statute — hold lawyers like Plaintiffs’ counsel
accountable for untenable lawsuits and the creation of increased costs to attempt to strongarm a
defendant into a settlement. Plaintiffs’ plan failed miserably and now is time to pay the piper.

For the reasons discussed above, CHH respectfully requests an award of attorney’s fees and
costs that it incurred in this matter, and enter an order awarding $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per
N.R.C.P.68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant
to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

III. CONCLUSION

Based upon the legal authority and reasons stated above, Defendants respectfully request the
Court grant their Motion and award them $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and
N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§
7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.

DATED this 2" day of February, 2022.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 006858
ADAM GARTH
Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
Tel. 702.893.3383
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 2" day of February, 2022, a true and correct copy
of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS
HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S REPLY IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR
ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68, N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND
EDCR 7.60 was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-File
& Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive

electronic service in this action.

Paul S. Padda, Esq. John H. Cotton, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Brad Shipley, Esq.

4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
Las Vegas, NV 89103 7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200

Tel: 702.366.1888 Las Vegas, NV 89117

Fax: 702.366.1940 Tel: 702.832.5909
psp@paulpaddalaw.com Fax: 702.832.5910

Attorneys for Plaintiffs jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com

bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com

Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.

By /s/ Heidi Brown
An Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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Electronically Filed
6/18/2021 12:37 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU,
S. BRENT VOGEL Cﬁ:“.ﬁ 'ﬁ""‘“""

Nevada Bar No. 06858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com

ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

T: 702.893.3383

F: 702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through Case No. A-19-788787-C
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;

DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; Dept. No. 30

TARYN CREECY, individually and as an

Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH

an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S

Plaintiffs, INITIAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE

VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

Defendant Valley Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, by
and through their attorneys of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard

& Smith, LLP, hereby discloses the following expert witness, pursuant to NRCP 16.1 as follows:
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1. Hiren Shah, M.D.

2730 North Dayton Street
Chicago, Illinois 60614

Dr. Hiren Shah is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care,
causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and costs of medical expenses. Dr. Shah has been board
certified in Internal Medicine in Chicago, Illinois since 2002. He is medical staff in the
Department of Internal Medicine at Northwestern Memorial Hospital currently. Exhibit A hereto
is Dr. Shah’s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit B hereto is Dr. Shah’s testimony list. Exhibit C hereto is
Dr. Shah’s fee schedule. Exhibit D hereto is Dr. Shah’s initial expert report.

Dr. Shah is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to Rebecca
Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will further
testify the acts of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged by
Plaintiffs. Dr. Shah is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as they
relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. Dr.

Shah reserves the right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is provided.

2. Abraham M. Ishaaya, M.D., F.C.C.P., F.A.A.SM., F.A.C.G.S.,, M. A.C.G.S.
5901 West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 200

Los Angeles, CA 90036

Dr. Abraham Ishaaya is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care,
causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and costs of medical expenses. Dr. Ishaaya is board
certified on The American Board of Internal Medicine, Pulmonary Medicine, Sleep Medicine, and
Geriatrics. Dr. Ishaaya has been an expert witness since 2003. He is currently a assistant clinical
professor at UCLA School of Medicine.

Exhibit E hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit F hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s fee
schedule. Exhibit G hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’ s trial appearances and depositions list. Exhibit H
hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s initial expert report.

Dr. Ishaaya is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to

Rebecca Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will
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further testify the of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged
by Plaintiffs. Dr. Ishaaya is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as
they relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony.
Dr. Ishaaya reserves the right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is

provided.

3. Richard Ruffalo, M.D., Pharm.D., M.A., F.A.C.C.P.
11 Sea Shell
Newport Coast, California 92657

Dr. Ruffalo is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care,
causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and the pharmacology. Dr. Ruffalo is in fellowship with
American College of Clinical Pharmacology as well as an affiliate since 1987. Since 1986, he has
been a member of Alpha Omega Alpha, National Medical Honor Society. Exhibit I hereto is Dr.
Ruffalo’s s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit J hereto is Dr. Ruffalo’s s fee schedule. Exhibit K hereto is
Dr. Ruffalo’s initial expert report.

Dr. Ruffalo is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to
Rebecca Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will
further testify the of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged
by Plaintiffs. Dr. Ruffalo is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as
they relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony.
Dr. Ruffalo reserves the right to supplement and/or revise her Report as new information is

provided.
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Defendant specifically reserves the right to designate any witnesses designated by any
party. Defendant further reserves the right to supplement this list as any witnesses become known

through the course of discovery.

DATED this 18" day of June, 2021.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By  /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 06858
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 18" day of June, 2021, a true and correct copy of
DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS
HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S INITIAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE was served by
electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and

serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive electronic service

in this action.
Paul S. Padda, Esq. John H. Cotton, Esq.
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Brad Shipley, Esq.
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
Las Vegas, NV 89103 7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200
Tel: 702.366.1888 Las Vegas, NV 89117
Fax: 702.366.1940 Tel: 702.832.5909
psp@paulpaddalaw.com Fax: 702.832.5910
Attorneys for Plaintiffs jheotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.
By /s/ Roya Rokni
An Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
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HIREN SHAH, M.D.

2730 N. Dayton Street

Chicago, Illinois 60614
(312) 330-4096 / hshah@nmbh.org

EDUCATION
2000 -2002 KELLOGG SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT
NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY
Master of Business Administration degree, June 2002
* Majors in healthcare management, economics, and management strategy
1992 — 1996 DREXEL UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE
Doctor of Medicine, June 1996
1987 - 1992 UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA, Philadelphia, PA

Bachelor of Arts in neuroscience, June 1992
GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION

1999 UNIVERSITY OF PENNYSLVANIA MEDICAL CENTER
Fellow, Quality and Disease Management / Fellow, DoctorQuality, Inc.

THOMAS JEFFERSON UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL

1997-1999 Resident, Department of Internal Medicine
1996-1997 Intern, Department of Internal Medicine

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Administrative Appointments

NORTHWESTERN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL

2008-2016 Medical Director
20010-2012 Director, Clinical Affairs, Division of Hospital Medicine
2004-2007 Associate Director, Divi ion of Hospital Medicine

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Faculty Appointments
NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY, F EINBERG SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

2007-present Assistant Professor of Medicine
2002-2007 Clinical Instructor of Medicine

PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Hospital Appointments

2002-present NORTHWESTERN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL
Medical Staff, Department of Internal Medicine

2000 PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP
Associate Physician

Evanston, IL

Philadelphia, PA

Philadelphia, PA

Philadelphia, PA

Chicago, IL

Chicago, IL

Chicago, IL

Vallejo, CA



BOARD CERTIFICATION AND MEDICAL LICENSURE

2002-present
2000-2002
1999-2000
1999

State of Illinois (036107424)

State of California (A70699) - inactive

State of Pennsylvania (MD-068814-L) —inactive
Diplomat, American Board of Internal Medicine

COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP

2008-present
2007-present
2007-present
2007-present
2007-present
2007-present
2006-present
2006-present
2006-present
2006-present
2005

Medical Peer Review Committee

Strategic Planning Committee, Division of Hospital Medicine
Productivity and Billing Committee, Division ofHospital Medicine
Feinberg School of Medicine, Clinical Competency Committee
Patient Care Committee

Department of Medicine Quality Committee-Sitter Utilization
Department of Medicine Quality Management Committee
Pharmacy and Therapeutics, Medication Safety Subcommittee
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December 15, 2019

Please find below a list of cases in which I have provided trial testimony as a medical expert.

0NN DN KW~

. New Hampshire- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Guyer vs NH Medical Center

. Ohio- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- West vs Hawley

. Indiana- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Hammer vs Adams

. IL- Cook county- testimony on behalf of defense- Paula Chibe vs Manzar

. Ohio- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Rodney Pugh vs Mercy Health/St. Joseph’s Hospital
. New York- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Inguitti vs Strong Memorial Hospital

. Michigan- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Baker vs. Goldfaden

. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Sandoval vs Advocate

9.

[1linois- testimony on behalf of defense- Mertins vs. Northwest Community Hospital

10. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Altiveros vs Advocate

11. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Winters vs St. Alexius Medical Center
12. Maryland- testimony on behalf of the plaintiff- Walsh vs Kim

13. Nevada- testimony on behalf of the defense- Center vs Rives

14. Nevada- testimony on behalf of the defense- Chicarelli vs North Vista

15. Florida- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Brown vs Orlando Health

Sincerely,

Hiren Shah, MD SFHM
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Fee Schedule 2021

$475/hr to review records, and for discussions and consult
$600/hr for deposition testimony (3hr min)
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June 5, 2021

Adam Garth
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89118

Dear Adam:

Thank you for the opportunity to review the case of Ms. Rebecca Powell and her admission to
Centennial Hills Hospital on 5/03/2017. I am a physician licensed and currently practicing
medicine in the State of Illinois. In 1999, I became board certified in Internal Medicine and have
maintained my board certification. I am an Assistant Professor of Medicine at the Feinberg School
of Medicine at Northwestern University and have been a practicing internist and hospitalist for
over 15 years during which time I have managed the evaluation, workup, and treatment of
hospitalized medical patients. I routinely evaluate and admit patients who have respiratory
infections, pneumonia, and agitation and who require antibiotic and airway clearance treatments.
I also coordinate care with consultants such as pulmonologists and infectious disease physicians
in patients with acute and chronic infections. Thus, I am familiar with the standard of care in the
evaluation and treatment of patients who have conditions similar to Ms. Powell, whose case [ have
reviewed in this report. In the preceding five years, I spent more than 95% of my professional
time in the clinical practice of medicine in each year.

My background has also included numerous leadership positions at Northwestern, including
Associate Director of Hospital Medicine, Director of Clinical Affairs and Medical Director at
Northwestern Memorial Hospital. In these capacities, I have had supervisory oversight for the care
and treatment provided by our hospitalist group of over 80 physicians to patients similar to Ms.
Powell and can speak to the acceptable standard of care issues as well as causation in this case.
Please find attached a CV which further provides my experience and qualifications.

I have reviewed the following to provide a basis of my opinions:

1) Medical records from the admission to Centennial Hills Hospital on 5/3/2017(CHH00001-
01166);,

2) Complaint with affidavit;

3) Records from plaintift’s disclosure including autopsy findings; and

4) Centennial Hills Hospital policy and records including event reporting and health care peer
review, patient rights and responsibilities, policy sentinel events, and rapid response teams.
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Case Summary:

5/3/2017

Ms. Powell was a 41-year-old female who was found unresponsive at her home in the early
morning hours of 5/3/2017. She was found lying in vomit and reportedly had ingested an overdose
amount of Ambien and Cymbalta, which was suspected given empty bottles found by her bedside.
Upon arrival by EMS, she was in distress and was intubated in the field. EMS brought her to
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center after she was stabilized. She was seen in the emergency
room by Dr. Suresh Rodil and Dr. Kevin Hyer. An emergency room history and physical was
entered at 3:13 AM on 5/3/2017. It indicated that there was concern for possible aspiration and
there was hypotension upon arrival to the emergency room. There were no visible signs of trauma.
Vitals included heart rate 102, and blood pressure 89/52. Ms. Powell was placed on a ventilator
upon arrival. She was acidotic with a pH of 7.251 on an arterial blood gas done at 3:38 AM. WBC
count was 9.36 and creatinine was elevated at 1.07. After multiple doses of IV fluids, her blood
pressure improved. She was then admitted to the intensive care unit and the admitting hospitalist
was notified. The emergency room note was signed by Suresh Rodil at 5:44 AM.

A history and physical was performed by hospitalist physician Dr. Trent Richardson who
documented a note at 5:59 AM. He indicated that the patient had acute respiratory failure from an
apparent intentional drug overdose. He documented that Ms. Powell's daughter lived with her and
had seen her at about 8:00 or 9:00 PM taking doses of Benadryl. Throughout the evening, she was
monitored by her daughter and became progressively less responsive. Dr. Richardson confirmed
there was nonbloody emesis, and bottles of Ambien and Cymbalta that had been recently filled
were found empty by the bedside. He indicated the patient had acute respiratory failure and
polysubstance overdose with altered mental status.

CT brain without contrast showed no acute abnormality. Chest x-ray showed clear lungs. Right

upper quadrant ultrasound showed only gallstones. Pulmonary and critical care was consulted at
21:45.
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Dr. Christopher Breeden from pulmonary and critical care medicine documented an admission
consultation at 21:45. He further supported the history that was documented by the emergency
room doctor and the hospitalist. He indicated that Mrs. Powell’s daughter had checked on her
mother at 2:30 AM and found her with emesis in her bed in an unresponsive state. The last
witnessed normal was at approximately 10:00 PM the night prior. Dr. Breeden felt the patient's
respiratory secretions were consistent with aspiration. Antibiotics were started to treat for
aspiration pneumonia. Dr. Breeden’s diagnosis was drug ingestion with suicidal intent requiring
intubation.

5/4/2017

The hospitalist the following day, Dr. Dionice Juliano, documented a note at 11:12 AM. He
indicated that due to agitation, Ms. Powell required a lot of sedation on ventilation. Arterial blood
gas showed an improved pH of 7.28 relative to that at admission. He indicated that there was
ongoing encephalopathy that was toxic and metabolic in nature due to an unintentional drug
overdose. Suspected drugs were Benadryl, Ambien, Cymbalta, and alcohol. There was concern
for aspiration pneumonia with the patient being treated on IV ceftriaxone. Urine drug screens and
serum toxicology screens were ordered.

Dr. Christopher Breeden documented a note the next day at 13:49. He indicated the patient was
sedated and intubated and was having gastric-looking contents from the endotracheal tube the night
prior. Chest x-ray that day showed an appearance of an infiltrate on the left. There was suggestion
of significant airway secretions. Given the gastric contents in the ET tube and a new infiltrate on
a chest x-ray, a bronchoscopy was ordered to evaluate for infection. One dose of vancomycin was
given and ceftriaxone was continued. Tube feeds were provided through an oral gastric tube.

Dr. Breeden performed a fiberoptic bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage. There were
significant mucosal purulent appearing secretions noted. Corticosteroids were added given the
degree of secretions and Zosyn was planned in addition to vancomycin.

5/5/2017

Dr. Juliano documented a note at 11:35 AM. He noted the bronchoscopy findings. Given the
secretions on bronchoscopy, the diagnosis of aspiration pneumonia was further supported.
Cultures from the bronchoalveolar lavage were to be followed. ABG showed an improving pH at
7.33. At 18:44, Dr. Breeden documented a progress note. He documented that there were still
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ongoing secretions from the ET tube and felt the secretions were consistent with aspiration. He
continued corticosteroids and antibiotics.

5/6/2017

Dr. Juliano indicated that Ms. Powell was extubated that morning. She was still drowsy. The plan
was to continue her current care and to downgrade her out of the ICU if she remained stable. Dr.
Breeden documented a note at 16:00. After removing from the patient from the ventilator, Ms.
Powell was placed on CPAP and tolerated this well. He indicated that vancomycin and Rocephin
were to be continued for aspiration given her secretions and given the findings on bronchoscopy.
Steroids were to begin a taper in dose. He suggested downgrading out of the ICU if a bed was
needed.

5/7/2017

Dr. Juliano documented a note at 09:38 AM and wrote that a swallow evaluation was successful
with a plan to advance her diet as tolerated. Vancomycin and ceftriaxone were continuing. He
wrote to downgrade Ms. Powell’s care to medicine telemetry.

A speech therapy assessment was performed by Tiffany Vetter at 11:20 AM that indicated Ms.
Powell completed an evaluation without any signs of aspiration.

Dr. Gary Skankey from infectious diseases documented a note at 15:38 for an initial consultation.
He indicated that the WBC count had begun to increase. Ms. Powell was feeling a little short of
breath but better than the day prior. There was minimal cough. His diagnosis was aspiration
pneumonia due to MRSA. He recommended continuing vancomycin and to discontinue the
Rocephin.

5/8/2017
Ms. Powell was seen by Dr. Skankey on follow up who documented a note at 14:57. He reported
Ms. Powell was still a little short of breath. He reported the bronchioloalveolar lavage cultures as

showing moderate growth of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). He
recommended continuing vancomycin. A chest x-ray was ordered for the following day.
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Dr. Breeden documented a note at 22:01. He reported that Ms. Powell had some cough and
reported feeling swollen. WBC count had decreased to 12.31 from 12.52 the day prior. On
5/6/2017, the WBC count was normal at 9.45. He recommended continuing antibiotics per
infectious disease. He also suggested providing diuretic medications to remove fluid.

5/9/2017

Speech therapy evaluated the patient and nurse Joyce Arenas documented at 14:00 that Ms. Powell
was cleared to have regular foods.

Ms. Powell was seen by hospitalist, Dr. Vishal Shah, who documented a note at 14:05. He wrote
the patient denied any shortness of breath. The patient denied any suicidal ideation at the time.
She admitted to taking Ambien the night of her admission. WBC count increased to 13.35 from
12.31 the day prior. His diagnosis was respiratory failure requiring intubation due to MRSA
aspiration pneumonia. The plan was to await psychiatric placement.

Dr. Skankey from infectious disease documented a note at 16:33 and wrote that she was improving
from MRSA aspiration pneumonia. White blood cells were slowly rising which he felt was due to
prior doses of steroids which were being tapered. His plan was to change vancomycin to oral
bactrim for 7 more days.

Dr. Breeden documented a note at 17:47 and noted less cough. He recommended continuing the
plan of care as outlined previously.

5/10/2017

At 2:00 AM, nurse Bernadine Rebogio documented that Ms. Powell had coughing which was
nonproductive. She was short of breath and 2 L of oxygen was placed. Breathing treatments were
provided. At 7:00 AM, nurse Nicholas Muir accepted care and noted the patient had complaints
of shortness of breath at that time.

At 11:35, Ms. Powell underwent a physical therapy session with Shannon Roling. She indicated
that Ms. Powell was exhibiting very shallow and more labored breathing compared to her prior
evaluation. Saturations remained in the 90s on 3 L of oxygen. After ambulating 10 feet, she
required very long seated rest breaks and had pursed lip breathing. She had significantly decreased
oxygen tolerance.
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Dr. Vishal Shah documented a note at 13:16 and indicated that Ms. Powell had no new complaints,
and her shortness of breath was better. He remained unsure if the WBC elevations were due to
steroids. Ms. Powell's room air oxygenation was 93%. The patient was awaiting oxygen
arrangements and for physical therapy clearance prior to possible psychiatry transfer.

At 16:00, nurse Nicholas Muir documented that Ms. Powell was complaining of increased labored
breathing and felt like she was drowning. Breathing treatments were ordered and Ativan for
anxiety was given by Dr. Shah with no improvement. When Dr. Shah was called, he ordered a
stat arterial blood gas and a Chest x-ray.

Respiratory therapy evaluation at 16:31 indicated that there was respiratory distress in the
radiology department at the time of the Xray and a rapid response team was activated but Ms.
Powell was found to be stable with an oxygen saturation of 98% on 6 liters by nasal canula and
had a respiratory rate of 28. The chest x-ray showed bilateral interstitial infiltrates.

In the patient's discharge summary, Dr. Shah documented these events. He documented that earlier
that day, the patient had worsening leukocytosis and her bactrim was changed to Zyvox and
cefepime and repeat cultures were ordered. Dr. Shah then documented that he was called by the
RN at 5:00 PM stating the patient was short of breath. He ordered a stat chest x-ray and an ABG.
He advised the nurse to follow-up with the pulmonary doctors for further orders, which was done.
A rapid response was also called while the patient was at chest x-ray. Ms. Powell's vital signs
were stable including oxygenation. Dr. Shah then noted that the patient was seen by infectious
disease and pulmonary medicine after the chest x-ray and a CT angiography of the chest was
ordered by the ID doctor.

An arterial blood gas was drawn at 16:32 and indicated a pH of 7.37 with a PO2 oxygen level of
89 on 6 liters of supplemental oxygen given by nasal cannula.

Medication administration records indicate that a 0.5 mg dose of Ativan was given at 16:01 as
ordered by Dr. Vishal Shah at 15:54. The dose was administered by nurse Nicholas Muir.

Dr. Skankey then documented a note at 17:05. He noted the patient had extreme shortness of
breath and was complaining of a dry feeling in her mouth, her throat, and her lungs. She was
unable to cough the respiratory secretions that were present. WBC count had now risen up to
23.14. On 6 L of oxygen, he indicated an ABG showed a PO2 of 89. He noted a chest x-ray that
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day showed prominent bilateral interstitial infiltrates. Dr. Skankey felt that it was necessary to
discontinue the bactrim and to start oral Zyvox and IV cefepime given the increase in WBC count
and worsening clinical condition. He was concerned about possible sepsis and documented this.
He ordered a CT angiography of the chest and wrote to order blood cultures.

Dr. Breeden documented a note at 17:12 indicating that the patient had shortness of breath and that
a rapid response was called when the patient was down at chest x-ray. Ms. Powell was then sitting
up still having shortness of breath and some cough at the time of Dr. Breeden’s evaluation. He
wrote to resume steroids every 8 hours. He started low-dose theophylline. He supported the order
of a CT angiography of the chest as suggested by Dr. Skankey.

Nurse Michael Pawlak indicated in the note that Ms. Powell had shortness of breath during
movement between the bed and the bedside commode which began as early as the start of his 7:00
AM shift. Ms. Powell responded to as needed breathing treatments. He documented that a stat
CTA of the chest was ordered at 2:00 AM.

RT evaluation at 22:22 noted a saturation of 92% on 3 liters supplemental oxygen. Vital signs
23:52 indicated a heart rate of 100 and respiratory rate of 22 at the time of nebulizer therapy at
23:52.

S/11/17

Vital signs at 00:10 indicated a heart rate of 101 and a respiratory rate of 20. Ms. Powell was still
on 3L of oxygen saturating at 95%.

According to nurse Pawlak’s note, as needed Ativan that was ordered in her profile was given at a
dose of 0.5 mg dose at 2:20 AM. The patient was then transported to CT scan at 2:30 AM. At
approximately 2:40 AM, the CT scanner staff called nurse Pawlak and indicated that the patient
could not complete the test due to shortness of breath and anxiety and was returned back to her
room. Charge nurse Karen Valdez was then called to assist in assessing the patient.

Nurse Pawlak's note also indicated that Nurse Valdez evaluated Ms. Powell who reported shortness
of breath and that the first dose of Ativan was not effective. A page was made to night hospitalist
Dr. Coronado Concio to discuss the patient’s complaints. She spoke to nurse Valdez and ordered
an additional dose of 0.25 mg of Ativan. This was administered by nurse Valdez at 3:27 AM.
This second dose of Ativan appeared to be effective in calming Ms. Powell.
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At 3:15 AM, nurse Karen Valdez documented her own version of events. She indicated in her own
note that she saw the patient with the primary nurse, RN Pawlak. Ms. Powell was very anxious
and was having shortness of breath. Respiratory therapy was notified to evaluate Ms. Powell. Dr.
Concio was paged again and ordered an additional dose of Ativan to help the patient relax. The
dose was 0.25 mg IV push. The respiratory therapist named Vanessa Mower indicated that Ms.
Powell was pulling her oxygen off. It was decided to place Ms. Powell in wrist restraints. Patient
did seem to improve. There was a conversation with the camera operator John about visualizing
the patient closely.

Respiratory therapist Mower indicated that to facilitate oxygen delivery a face mask was used at
approximately 3:00 AM since it was difficult for Ms. Powell to keep her nasal canula in place. Ms.
Powell’s oxygen saturation was 90% at the time of RT evaluation at 4:08am.

Nurse Pawlak’s note indicated that Ms. Powell was more calm and her breathing appeared less
labored at approximately 4:15 AM.

A pain assessment at 4:00 AM by nurse Michael Pawlak indicated a score of 0 with no pain. It was
reported that a CNA found Ms. Powell to be “ok™ at 5:00 AM and was in no distress. Video
monitoring every 15 minutes was ongoing and showed nothing out of the ordinary.

Medical administration records confirm that the 0.25 mg Ativan dose was given at 2:23 AM.
Another dose of Ativan was given at 3:27 AM and Ms. Powell was reevaluated at 3:42 AM where
the dose was found to be effective. She received acetylcysteine nebulizer therapy at 4:18 AM,
ipratropium nebulizer at 4:18 AM and Xopenex nebulizer treatment at 4:18 AM.

Vital signs at 4:08 AM and at 4:18am indicated a heart rate of 130 and a respiratory rate of 30 and
at 4:47 AM indicated a heart rate of 140 and a respiratory rate of 30.

At 6:10 AM, the patient was found sitting in her bed and unresponsive with the oxygen mask at
her feet. Chest compressions, bag ventilation and code blue were initiated at that time.

L2K patient video observation record indicates that John Lotito was monitoring the patient and
that Ms. Powell last appeared to be sitting in close to an upright position with fingers possibly in
her mouth for approximately 1 hour prior to the code blue event at 6:10 AM. There was no
documentation of respiratory distress or any difficulty. Documentation in the L2K flowsheet
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indicates that she was last seen at 6:00 AM by Mr. Lotito. This form was reviewed by charge
nurse Karen Valdez who signed the document at 07:10.

Dr. Coronado Concio, the night hospitalist, documented that she was paged to attend a code blue
and upon her arrival, Dr. Blumberg indicated that the code had begun around 6:15 AM when the
patient was found unresponsive on her bed. Dr. Blumberg intubated the patient upon her arrival
and was able to suction a thick mucus plug from her throat. Upon Dr. Concio’s arrival at 06:45,
the patient had already received 11 units of epinephrine, 3 doses of bicarbonate and maximum
doses of a dopamine drip. She had asystole at the start of the code and subsequently PEA. Dr.
Concio continued the code blue at the request of Dr. Blumberg. She continued resuscitation for
an additional 15 more minutes, but Ms. Powell remained in PEA arrest. After 45 minutes of
resuscitation without any improvement, a decision was made to discontinue further care after no
signs of pulses were palpated. Time of death was documented at 6:57 AM.

Dr. Vishal documented a discharge summary dated 5/20/2017 at 19:00. He reviewed the clinical
course in his note and indicated that he was notified by the night physician that a code event was
called early that morning with an unsuccessful resuscitation. He had a face-to-face discussion with
the family including Ms. Powell's daughter, husband, son, and a friend. He indicated that the cause
of death was cardiopulmonary arrest with an unknown cause at that time.

Standard of care opinions:

Ms. Rebecca Powell was a 41-year-old female who was admitted after suspected ingestion of
medications such as Ambien and Cymbalta leading to respiratory failure and unresponsiveness
requiring intubation in the field by emergency medical services. After arrival to Centennial Hills
hospital, she had evidence of aspiration given oropharyngeal secretions and a rising WBC count
along with worsened radiographic findings of pneumonia as noted by the pulmonary physician.
Bronchoscopy confirmed the presence of significant secretions within the airways with cultures
consistent with MRSA which supported the diagnosis of MRSA aspiration pneumonia. As noted
above in the extensive case summary, there was some clinical improvement from the time of her
admission on 5/3/2017 supporting extubation on 5/6/2017. There was further clinical improvement
until 5/8/2017 when she began to have a rising WBC count. Documentation indicates that it was
suspected that this WBC elevation may be due to steroids which were also given, but her
subsequent clinical course suggested otherwise. Beginning in the early morning of 5/10/2017 at
early as 2:00 AM, her clinical course was consistent with progression of her respiratory infection
supported by a history indicating worsening shortness of breath and respiratory difficulty. Her
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WBC had increased significantly to 13.35 on 5/9/2017 and it went further up to 23.14 on
5/10/2017. This level of rise in the WBC was not consistent with steroid effect and given the
increased respiratory symptoms, supported a progression of infection. Her worsening shortness of
breath was documented on 5/10/2017 by both by pulmonary medicine and infectious disease
physician who were concerned with the progression of her pulmonary infection.

On 5/10/2017, Dr. Skankey, the infectious disease physician, was concerned for possible sepsis
and documented the need to transition back from oral antibiotics to IV antibiotics. He indicated
Ms. Powell had extreme shortness of breath and needed CT imaging to better evaluate the
progression of this infection. An x-ray on 5/9/2017 showed ongoing infiltrates. The rapid response
team evaluation in the chest x-ray department supported the need for assessment of this change in
her respiratory function.

Physical therapy assessment on 5/10/2017 earlier in the day also indicated a markedly different
level of performance relative to the prior evaluation. The physical therapist noted that Ms. Powell
was short of breath, had pursed lips, and had significantly decreased exercise tolerance. She
required long rests in between any activity. Nurse Muir indicated that Ms. Powell had difficulty
with movement from bed to commode with more difficulty breathing.

When Dr. Vishal Shah was called about worsening shortness of breath, he appropriately directed
the nurse to the infectious disease and pulmonary doctors for further management. He ordered an
arterial blood gas that showed Ms. Powell had a significantly decreased oxygen requirement
having an oxygen PO2 of only 89 despite being on 6 L of oxygen. This represented difficulty
oxygenating due to worsening secretions and airway difficulty. It was within the acceptable
standard of care for Dr. Shah to address the patient's anxiety with a small dose of Ativan that had
no meaningful effect in causing any respiratory suppression as further hyperventilation due to
anxiety would lead to a worsening condition. There is no evidence that this dose of Ativan led to
worsening respiratory depression given the preservation of Ms. Powell’s respiratory rate with no
evidence of a drop in her respiratory drive to suggest drug-induced suppression. In fact, she
remained agitated. Dr. Shah met the acceptable standard of care in the evaluation, and management
of Ms. Powell, and nothing that he did or failed to do contributed to her subsequent respiratory
failure.

Throughout the night, Ms. Powell had worsening shortness of breath and respiratory difficulty

which required nebulizer therapy including an evaluation by the respiratory therapist at 4:00 AM.
This event further supports worsening secretions and a need for better respiratory clearance
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strategies. Given Ms. Powell’s level of anxiety, the 2 doses of Ativan that she received as ordered
by Dr. Concio were appropriate and within the standard of care to address these anxiety symptoms.
These doses of Ativan had no effect in decreasing her respiratory drive or causing the subsequent
respiratory arrest that occurred at 6:10 AM. Vital signs indicate respiratory rates at 4:08 AM, 4:18
AM and 4:47 AM to be 30. If one hypothesizes that Ativan had a respiratory suppressant effect,
there would be an immediate decrease in respiratory drive which there is no evidence of in Ms.
Powell’s situation. In fact, the respiratory rates of 30 represent a significant increase from her
baseline levels of 18-20 and supports that her pathophysiology was advancing and worsening
secretions rather than any sedative effect from Ativan. Given the pharmacology of IV Ativan, if
there was a sedative effect, this would have been immediately apparent after the dose was given
which did not occur after either dose of Ativan.

In addition, Ms. Powell was appropriately monitored on the floor and had multiple contact points
by care providers prior to her code blue event at 6:10 AM. A pain assessment was done at 4:00
AM. A respiratory treatment was done at 4:10 AM. Vital signs were obtained at 4:08 AM, 4:18
AM, and 4:47 AM. The patient was evaluated both by the floor nurse and the charge nurse during
those early morning hours. Nurse Pawlak indicates that the patient was evaluated at 4:15 AM. A
CNA saw Ms. Powell at 5:00 AM. At none of these evaluations, was Ms. Powell in a condition
that indicated distress or the need for escalation of care. In addition, L2K patient frequency
observation records indicate that Ms. Powell was monitored by video device. She was seen as late
as 6:00 AM as documented on the L2K flowsheet by John Lotito. There is no evidence that Ms.
Powell had removed her face mask. The face mask was placed by the respiratory therapist for ease
of oxygen administration rather than for distress or the need to provide more oxygen than a nasal
canula can provide. Ms. Powell’s saturations were affected by her agitation and cooperation and
remained mostly above 92% and often as high as 95%. At no time were oxygen saturations at a
level that indicated distress or transfer to another floor.

In fact, the code blue event occurred just 10 minutes after the last documented visualization by
video monitoring which showed nothing out of the ordinary. Although it may have been difficult
to see a nasal canula on the monitor, a face mask would be more visible. In any event, there is no
evidence that it was not in place for any prolonged period of time. In addition, the standard of care
did not require a one-to-one sitter in the room given the adequacy of video monitoring and the
patient's condition which was stable but worsening lung infection due to secretions rather than
respiratory distress or collapse. Thus, although she had a worsening respiratory infection, there is
no evidence that she was in respiratory distress requiring transfer to a higher level of care or the
intensive care unit.
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Contrary to the plaintiff expert’s opinion, there is no evidence that the dose of Ativan given by Dr.
Shah or the two doses given by Dr. Concio had any contribution to respiratory depression or the
code blue event. There is ample evidence that Ms. Powell maintained a strong and adequate
respiratory effort based on her vital signs and respiratory rate which was as high as 30. In addition,
if there was any sedation, it would have been immediate given the method of Ativan deliver was
intravenous which is rapidly acting. Thus, Ms. Powell exhibited no sedation or a decrease in
respiratory drive as IV Ativan would be expected to provide immediately visible adverse effects.
Her agitation and lack of cooperation at the CT scan further supports the fact that the Ativan given
20 minutes earlier did not have a respiratory depressant effect.

The plaintiff’s expert affidavit also claims that Ms. Powell had six sedating drugs on her
medication list. There is no evidence that any of the agents referenced had a meaningful effect on
Ms. Powell’s level of alertness or that there was an interaction between any of these drugs and
Ativan to cause sedation. Furthermore, the opinion that acetylcysteine, a cough medicine or a drug
used with nebulizers, caused sedation in Ms. Powell’s’ case in not supported by any evidence.

The standard of care did not require a chest x-ray in the early hours after it was determined that
Ms. Powell could not cooperate with the CT scan due to shortness of breath. Obtaining a chest x-
ray would not have any meaningful effect on the outcome in this case. Ms. Powell was already
receiving antibiotics for a known respiratory infection. She was also receiving frequent nebulizer
therapy for airway clearance. It was also quite evident from the above events that the indication
for imaging was not to obtain and report results to determine pulmonary involvement as indicated
in the plaintiff expert’s affidavit as it was clear that worsening secretions were ongoing as the
cause of Ms. Powell’s symptoms. A chest x-ray would not change the medical plan or alter Ms.
Powell’s management in any way.

A documentation of a differential diagnosis is not required by the standard of care especially if the
care provided adhered to the acceptable standard. There is no evidence to support the opinion that
the possibility of medication side effects was required as documentation given the clinical course
does not support any medication-induced sedation. In addition, the standard of care did not require
each of the three physicians outlined in the plaintiff expert’s affidavit to evaluate the patient’s
administered medications.

Transfer to a higher level of care was not required based on Ms. Powell's condition. Although she
had a worsening respiratory infection, she was not unstable and did not require any higher level of
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treatment or monitoring. A rapid response team even if activated at the time of the respiratory
treatment at 04:10 AM would not have provided any additional care as Ms. Powell responded to
the nebulizer therapy and was comfortable as indicated by the assessments subsequently. Ms.
Powell's tachycardia as documented in the early morning hours around 4:00 AM was likely due to
the recent nebulizer therapy, which can lead to an elevated heart rate. There is no indication that
Ms. Powell was in respiratory distress or that the tachycardia was evidence of such. In addition,
cardiac monitoring was not required as the IV Ativan was not leading to any cardiac depression.
Ms. Powell had no known cardiac disease and rather had a worsening but stable respiratory
condition that did not require monitoring on telemetry. Although, Ms. Powell had a documented
respiratory rate of 30 at 4:18 and 4:37 AM, this was not sustained as she was subsequently more
comfortable as documented by nurse Pawlak and charge nurse Valdez. She was not seen in any
distress on the video monitor or at the time of the CNA rounds that occurred at 5:00 AM or during
the multiple healthcare provider encounters mentioned above. Her elevated respiratory rates were
related to anxiety and agitation and not due to hypoxia as her saturations remained in a range that
were appropriately managed by supplemental oxygen.

Ms. Powell’s autopsy record indicates a pathologic diagnosis of acute and chronic pneumonia and
foreign body giant cells along with pulmonary edema. In addition, both lungs show marked and
extensive consolidation of both upper and lower lobes. The lower trachea and major bronchi
revealed marked congestion and apparent infection. Microscopic exam also supports acute on
chronic inflammation in the lungs.

Thus, as supported by the clinical course and the autopsy findings above, Ms. Powell's most likely
cause of death was worsening pneumonia complicated by with acute mucus plugging that led to
respiratory failure at 06:10am. Given the extent of her secretions, as documented at the start of her
hospital course and their recurrence in the early morning of 5/10/17, along with Dr. Concio’s note
indicating that Dr. Blumberg had removed a thick mucus plug at the time of the resuscitation, the
most likely cause of her respiratory arrest was the large mucus plug that occluded her airway. Vital
signs and pulse oximetry reading ranged mostly in the 92 to 98% range on supplemental oxygen,
indicating no distress or instability. When Ms. Powell was placed on a face mask with higher flow
oxygen, it was to support better oxygen delivery given her hyperventilation and high respiratory
rates due to agitation and anxiety rather than due to acute respiratory decompensation as is
incorrectly postulated and not supported in the plaintiff’s expert affidavit. In fact, although Ms.
Powell had worsening pneumonia symptoms due to secretions, she was hemodynamically and
otherwise stable such that she did not require transfer to a higher level of care. In addition, as noted
above, her tachycardia was likely nebulizer related and also possibly due to agitation and her
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respiratory rates that were recorded as high as 30 were due to hyperventilation due to agitation.
An RRT even if called at the time of these vitals were taken would not have led to any additional
management. In fact, Ms. Powell’s agitation improved, and she was comfortable by the time of
the nurse Pawlak’s reassessment at 04:15 and the CNA rounds at 05:00. There is no evidence that
Ms. Powell had removed her mask or was in any distress that would have required closer
monitoring. In addition, at no time did the standard of care require the presence of a sitter despite
this been suggested by some hospital staff in this case.

Ms. Powell was also never diagnosed with an anxiety disorder but was rather treated appropriately
and within the standard of care of anxiety symptoms. The plaintiff’s affidavit states that the code
blue event occurred within 90 minutes of the administration of Ativan, which is incorrect. The last
dose of Ativan given was at 3:27 AM with the code occurring at 6:10 AM which was 2 hours and
43 minutes later. This gap of time does not support a causal link between the two events given the
rapid onset of action of IV Ativan. As noted above, there is no evidence of respiratory suppression
from the doses of Ativan that were given based on the respiratory rate and the clinical symptoms
and course.

There is no evidence that the care provided by Dr. Dionice had any impact of the clinical course
or events of 5/10/17 or the code event. In addition, the standard of care did not require Drs. Dionice,
Concio, and Shah to review Ms. Powell’s medication list and to document drug side effects or
interactions as there was no meaningful effect of Ms. Powell’s medications on her clinical status
or subsequent course. There is no evidence that medications were the cause of her symptoms or
her health status. Finally, the findings of the Department of Health and Human Services provide
no evidence that the issues noted had any bearing of Ms. Powell’s clinical outcome, which would
have been the same regardless of their occurrence.

In summary, the cause of Ms. Powell’s death was an acute mucus plug that led to sudden
respiratory failure at 6:10 AM on top of superimposed bilateral pneumonia. She had ongoing
secretions clinically, progression of lower airway congestion, and bilateral pneumonia at autopsy
and was noted to have the removal of a large mucus plug at the time of her code event, which
represent the basis of this opinion. Although she had progression of her pneumonia and significant
secretions prior to the code blue, there is no indication that she was unstable and required transfer
to a different level of care or required additional monitoring. Her increased respiratory rate further
supports that she had no sedative effect for respiratory depression from the Ativan or by any other
drug that was given by any of the physicians in this case. Her tachycardia was the result of the
nebulizer treatment she had received and due to agitation and not due to any form of distress that
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required any action that was not taken in this case. Nothing that the providers did or failed to do
resulted in Ms. Powell’s code blue and subsequent death.

All my opinions noted above are stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability. Please do
not hesitate to contact me should you have any further questions.

Sincerely,

Hiren Shah, MD SFHM
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PRESENTATIONS

Numerous lecture presentations made to audiences consisting of Physicians, Pharmacists, Nurses and other
administrative and Allied Health Professionals in the following medical and Pharmacologic Areas:

Geriatrics

Treatment and Management of Glaucoma

Geriatric Pharmacology and Therapeutics

Use of Psychotherapeutic Agents in the Elderly
Drug-Induced Mental Status Changes in the Elderly
Post-Operative Delirium in the Elderly

Multimodal pain management in the Elderly

Multimodal analgesia in the Elderly

Multimodal antiemetic therapy in the Elderly

Sedative Hypnotics and Conscious Sedation in the Elderly

Pharmacokinetics

Clinical Pharmacokinetics for the Physician

Clinical Pharmacokinetics for the Pharmacists

Pharmacokinetic and Pharmacodynamic considerations and Drug-Drug interactions and the Cytochrome
P450 Enzyme System

Intensive Care Medicine

Drug Use in the Intensive Care Patient

ICU Psychosis and Delirium and drugs

Aspiration Pneumonitis-Prevention and Management
Emergency Airway Management

Cardiology

Pharmacologic Management of Hypertension

Pharmacologic Management of Arrhythmias

Perioperative diagnosis and of Hypertension “White Coat Syndrome”
Anxiety and Pain induced cardiovascular complications

Infectious Disease

Antibiotic Prophylaxis in the Neutropenic Patient

Treatment of Periorbital & Orbital Cellulitis

Treatment of Aspiration Pneumonia

Treatment of Atypical Pneumonia

Treatment of Pelvic Inflammatory Disease

Drug induced Skin and Mucus membrane diseases (SJS/TENS, Linear IgA Bullous Dermatitis, Vasculitis,
etc.)

Oncology

Pharmacology & Therapeutics in the Cancer Patient
Drug-Induced Neutropenia in the Oncology Patient



Clinical Pharmacology

Multi-Modal analgesia and anesthesia

Anti-Emetic multimodal drug management

Clinical Pharmacology of Drug and Food Interactions

Clinical Pharmacology of Drug Herbal interaction and toxicology

Adverse Drug Reactions & Interactions

H2 Antagonists and Benzodiazepine Interactions

Identification and Management of Adverse Drug Reactions

Drug-Drug Interactions and Pharmacogenomics of the Cytochrome P450 Enzyme System

Pulmonary

Treatment of Asthma and Status Asthmaticus and COPD
Emergency management of the Difficult Airway in the Emergency
Department and the ICU settings

Neurology

Assessment and Treatment of Parkinson's Disease
Perioperative management of Epilepsy and acute onset Seizures
Anticonvulants and SJIS/TENS and Acute Hepatitis

OB/GYN

Thromboembolic Disorders Secondary to Estrogens
Treatment of Primary Dysmenorrhea

Diagnosis and treatment of Amniotic Fluid Embolism
Anti-Emetic treatment in Laboring Patients

Post C-Section treatment of Nausea

Emergency Medicine/Toxicology

Treatment of Drug(s) Overdose

Treatment of Acetaminophen Overdose
Treatment of Tricyclic Antidepressant Overdose
Treatment of Calcium Channel Blocker Overdose
Diagnosis and treatment of SSRI induce Serotonin
Syndrome

Anesthesiology

Management of the Difficult Airway

Multi Modal treatment of Peri-Operative Pain
Multi Modal treatment of Post-Operative Pain
Multi Modal Anti-Emetic Prophylaxis

Conscious Sedation management and Monitoring
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Fee Schedule for Richard L. Ruffalo, M.D., Pharm.D., M.A.

My Fee Schedule is as follows:

$600.00/hour for record and deposition review, meetings, medical and/or pharmacology literature
search and/or review, phone conferences, travel time, writing and review of motions, reports, opinions,
etc.

$1,000.00/hour with a two hour minimum and four day cancellation notice, to take my expert
deposition testimony locally in the Newport Beach, Ca. area. Travel time to anywhere else is at
$600.00/hour, (excluding any other expenses, eg. airline flights, hotels, meals, etc.).

$5,000.00/day (for any part of a day), for my appearance at trial or arbitration in Orange County,
California. Appearing anywhere outside of Orange County, California, will include travel time at
$600.00/hour, not to exceed $5,000.00/day, (excluding any other expenses, eg., airline flights, hotels,
meals, etc.).

Please be advised of the following agreement:

Upon the closing, dismissal, settlement, etc., of any case in which | have been retained and not informed
that my services are no longer required within 30 days of these issues and therefore have continued to
retain the case as “open” in my files for which | have not yet billed for services rendered, your
firm/company and or responsible agent will be responsible for payment in full.

Firm/Company and responsible agent agreement and date:

date

Richard L. Ruffalo, M.D. date:

date
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ELECTRONICALLY SERVED
8/27/2021 8:38 AM

S. BRENT VOGEL

Nevada Bar No. 06858
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

T: 702.893.3383

F:702.893.3789

Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center

DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir;
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;,

Plaintiffs,
VS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;,

Defendants.

Defendant Valley Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, by
and through their attorneys of record, S. Brent Vogel, Esq. and Adam Garth, Esq. of Lewis Brisbois

Bisgaard & Smith, LLP, hereby submits their Rebuttal Designation of Expert Witnesses and

Reports, pursuant to NRCP 16.1 as follows:

Case No. A-19-788787-C
Dept. No. 30

DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL HILLS
HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S
REBUTTAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE

4835-7846-8086.1 Page 1 of 5

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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1. Hiren Shah, M.D.
2730 North Dayton Street
Chicago, Illinois 60614

Dr. Hiren Shah is a retained expert witness who is expected to offer his expert opinions as
to Rebecca Powell’s (herein after referred to as “Decedent”) alleged medical conditions resulting
from the incident(s) and action(s) which are the subject of Plaintiffs’ Complaint. Dr. Shah is
expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to Rebecca Powell was within
the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will further testify the acts of
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged by Plaintiffs. Dr.
Shah is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as they relate to his
medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. Dr. Shah
reserves the right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is provided.
Additionally, Dr. Shah is expected to give rebuttal opinions response to other witnesses or experts
designated in this matter. He reserves his right to supplement and/or revise his report as new
information is provided.

Dr. Shah is certified by the American Board of Internal Medicine since 1999. Dr. Shah’s
CV, fee schedule, and testimony list were previously disclosed in Defendant’s Initial Expert
Disclosure. Exhibit A hereto is Dr. Shah’s rebuttal expert report.

2. Abraham M. Ishaaya, M.D., F.C.C.P., F.A.A.SM., F.A.C.G.S.,, M.A.C.G.S.
5901 West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 200

Los Angeles, CA 90036

Dr. Abraham Ishaaya is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care,
causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and costs of medical expenses. Dr. Ishaaya has been
board certified by the American Board of Internal Medicine, Pulmonary Medicine, Sleep
Medicine, and Geriatrics. Dr. Ishaaya’s CV, fee schedule, and testimony list were previously
disclosed in Defendant’s Initial Expert Disclosure. Exhibit B hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’ s rebuttal
expert report.

Dr. Ishaaya is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to

Rebecca Powell by Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center was within the applicable standard

4835-7846-8086.1 Page 2 of 5
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of care, consistent with his Report, and will further testify the acts of Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged by Plaintiffs. Dr. Ishaaya is also expected to
provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as they relate to his medical specialties, which
may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. Dr. Abraham Ishaaya reserves the right to

supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is provided.

3. Richard Ruffalo, M.D., Pharm.D., M.A., F.A.C.C.P.
11 Sea Shell
Newport Coast, California 92657

Richard Ruffalo, M.D. is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care,
causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and pharmacology. Dr. Ruffalo has been a member of
Alpha Omega Alpha, National Medical Honor Society since 1986. Dr. Ruffalo’s CV, fee schedule,
and testimony list were previously disclosed in Defendant’s Initial Expert Disclosure. Exhibit C
hereto is Dr. Ruffalo’s rebuttal expert report.

Richard Ruffalo, M.D. is expected to testify and to provide opinions regarding the facts in
this case as they relate to his specialties including the pharmacology issues alleged by Plaintiffs,
which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. Richard Ruffalo, M.D. reserves the
right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is provided.

4. Erik Volk

1155 Alpine Road
Walnut Creek, CA, 94596

Erik Volk is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his
understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, and costs of
medical expenses as well as the past and future earning capacity of Decedent and the economic
costs associated with her death. Mr. Volk specializes in valuation of economic losses in
businesses, personal injury, wrongful death, and labor litigation. Mr. Volk’s CV, fee schedule, and
testimony list were previously disclosed in Defendant’s Initial Expert Disclosure. Exhibit D

hereto is Mr. Volk’s rebuttal expert report.

Mr. Erik Volk is expected to testify and to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case

4835-7846-8086.1 Page 3 of 5
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as they relate to his specialties including the economic losses alleged by Plaintiffs, which may
include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. Erik Volk reserves the right to supplement and/or
revise his Report as new information is provided.

Defendants specifically reserve the right to designate any witnesses designated by any
party. Defendants further reserves the right to supplement this list as any witnesses become known

through the course of discovery.

DATED this 27" day of August, 2021.

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP

By  /s/ Adam Garth
S. BRENT VOGEL
Nevada Bar No. 06858
ADAM GARTH

Nevada Bar No. 15045
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600

Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

702.893.3383

Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that I am an employee of Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard & Smith LLP and that
on this 27" day of August, 2021, a true and correct copy of DEFENDANT CENTENNIAL
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S REBUTTAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE was
served electronically using the Odyssey File and Serve system to all parties with an email-address

on record, who agreed to receive electronic service in this action, as follows:

Paul S. Padda, Esq. John H. Cotton, Esq.
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC Brad Shipley, Esq.
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES
Las Vegas, NV 89103 7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200
Tel: 702.366.1888 Las Vegas, NV 89117
Fax: 702.366.1940 Tel: 702.832.5909
psp@paulpaddalaw.com Fax: 702.832.5910
Attorneys for Plaintiffs jheotton@jhcottonlaw.com
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano,
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S.
Shah, M.D.
By /s/ Roya Rokni
an Employee of
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP
4835-7846-8086.1 Page 5 of 5
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1\ Northwestern Memorial’
Hospital

Division of Hospital Medicine
Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM
211 E Ontario Street 7" Floor
Chicago, Illinois 60611
Phone: 312.926.3681

August 24, 2021

Adam Garth
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600
Las Vegas, NV 89118

Dear Mr. Garth:

Thank you for the opportunity to provide additional information and responses to defense expert
reports in the case of Ms. Rebecca Powell who was admitted to Centennial Hills Hospital on
5/3/2017. Please find this report a supplemental report to my initial case summary and analysis
and opinions provided in a report dated 6/5/2021 after having reviewed the following additional
items in this case: Expert reports by Dr. James Leo, Dr. Thomas Cumbo, Dr. James Lineback,
Dr. Kenneth Stein, and Mr. Michael Griffith. I provide the following rebuttal to the aforesaid
reports. All opinions provided herein are to within a reasonable degree of medical probability.

Ms. Powell was admitted on 5/3/17 with respiratory failure after drug overdose with her clinical
course attributed to aspiration pneumonia due to MRSA based on sputum cultures. A
bronchoscopy was performed 5/4/2017 and she was managed by pulmonary medicine and
antibiotics were managed by infectious disease. As noted, after extubation on 5/6/2017, she was
improving. On 5/10/2017, she began to have leukocytosis and her antibiotics were broadened to
IV cefepime and zyvox. Her shortness of breath was appropriately attributed with progression on
her underlying aspiration pneumonia. She was saturating at 93% on room air during Dr. Vishal
Shah’s evaluation at 13:16 on 5/10/201. After he was contacted about shortness of breath
symptoms, he appropriately ordered a chest Xray and an arterial blood gas which showed a
preserved pH of 7.37 while on 6L of oxygen. Despite receiving a dose of Ativan at 16:01, vital
signs and ABG results at 16:32 do not indicate any respiratory depressant effects of the Ativan.
After a chest Xray, she was then seen by Gary Skankey from infectious disease at 17:05 and Dr.
Christopher Breeden from pulmonary medicine at 17:12. Although she had shortness of breath
due to her known aspiration pneumonia, neither consultant determined Ms. Powell to be unstable
or in need for a higher level of care. Appropriately, antibiotics were broadened, and a chest CT
scan was ordered. At 22:22, she was on 3L of oxygen at 92% saturation and on 3L oxygen
saturation 95% at 00:10. Respiratory assessment at 22:22 also supported continuing care on the
medical floor by providing nebulizer therapy.
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211 E Ontario Street 7" Floor
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RN Pawlak’s note of Ms. Powell having shortness of breath with movement supports the clinical
course of a patient with pneumonia. It was then appropriate to provide Ativan at 02:20 given Ms.
Powell’s anxiety so she could proceed with the chest CT. Ms. Powell requested the Ativan dose
as indicated in RN Pawlak’s note. Subsequently, Ms. Powell’s shortness of breath at the time of
the CT scan was expected as patients with pneumonia complicated by secretions often have
difficulty lying flat and often report shortness of breath symptoms. In addition, the record
indicates that along with shortness of breath, she as anxious at the time of the CT scan and could
not complete the scan.

After returning from the CT scan, once again RN Valdez indicates that Ms. Powell was very
anxious. After a second dose of Ativan was given at 03:27 as ordered by Dr. Concio, Ms. Powell
was seen by the respiratory therapist who did not escalate care based on her respiratory
assessment of the patient. Her main concern was Ms. Powell’s cooperation with nasal canula use.
At 03:15, the respiratory therapist indicated in her note that Ms. Powell’s anxiety was causing
her to remove her nasal canula and to facilitate oxygen delivery, a face mask was used.

In his report, Dr. Cumbo indicates that at 4:08 AM, the oxygen saturation dropped to 90% on a
nonrebreather mask. Although factually correct that the saturation was 90%, the mask was only
placed to facilitate oxygen delivery and not used as escalation of oxygen amount due to hypoxia
from a worsening clinical condition on nasal canula as is suggested by Dr. Cumbo. Her drop in
saturations correlated with anxiety and hyperventilation preventing appropriate oxygenation in a
patient with ongoing pneumonia. There was no indication to notify physician staff as multiple
follow-up assessments by nursing staff showed clinical stability. There was an evaluation by
nursing staff or hospital support staff during multiple visits subsequent to this time in question.
At 4:15 AM, the nurse noted the patient was calm. At 4:18 AM, the patient received a nebulizer
treatment. At 5 AM she was seen by the CNA who noted the patient was okay. Vital signs were
also obtained at 4:47 AM which although demonstrated tachycardia, was most likely due to her
recent nebulizer treatment. In addition, anxiety likely contributed to her respiratory rate of 30.
She was seen on the video camera at 5:10 AM sitting up and the L2 K records indicate she was
seen on camera at 6 AM which was 10 minutes prior to her code event. Thus, during all of these
patient encounters, it was apparent that Ms. Powell was stable and although she had ongoing
significant respiratory infection, there was no indication to require a physician assessment,
transfer to a higher level of care, or initiating a rapid response call.

Dr. Cumbo indicates that hospital protocol requires that an RRT should be called for shortness of
breath with acute mental status change. However, patients often have shortness of breath and
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each of those instances where this complaint is reported is not an indication for an RRT.
Similarly, a patient’s mental status is difficult to assess in the early morning hours, and there is
no indication that she was disoriented but was instead anxious and non-cooperative. The
decision to call a rapid response team is based on nursing experience and training as well as RN
assessment and judgment. In this situation, the staff’s actions were appropriate and did not
warrant notification to physicians or the rapid response team.

Dr. Cumbo indicates that the rapid response team would have stabilized her condition. However,
the clinical record indicates that at 4:15 AM, the nurse noted that the patient was calm and at 5
AM she was seen by the CNA and noted to be stable. Thus, a rapid response team was neither
required to assess the patient nor would there have been an alteration in the treatment plan. Dr.
Cumbo also indicates that the rapid response team would have done appropriate imaging, that
her respiratory condition required monitoring in the ICU and treatment with pharmacotherapy.
Although patients can be monitored more closely in an ICU setting, for the reasons stated above,
there was no indication to transfer Ms. Powell to the ICU such that she required closer
monitoring. She was evaluated on the L2 K system and was seen at 5:10 AM and at 6 AM. In
addition, as indicated earlier in this report, she was seen by multiple care providers during these
early morning hours and was appropriately monitored. At 04:00, a pain assessment was
completed. At 04:08, vital signs were obtained. At 04:15, RN Pawlak indicates that Ms. Powell
was calm. At 04:18, a respiratory treatment is underway by the therapist. At 04:47, the
respiratory treatment is completed by the therapist. At 05:00, a CNA does bedside rounding and
indicates that Ms. Powell was ok. The basis for Dr. Cumbo’s opinion that Ms. Powell required
an RRT call is due to her elevated HR and respiratory rate but he fails to take into consideration
what was happening to the patient (nebulizer therapy and ongoing anxiety symptoms) and fails
to consider that multiple care providers assessed Ms. Powell in her room (at six points in time
between 04:00 to 05:00) and all appropriately determined that she was stable and did not require
escalation of treatment.

In regard to the criticism that the rapid response team would have done appropriate imaging,
provided respiratory support and pharmacotherapy, there is no basis to support this criticism.
Ms. Powell already had evidence of bilateral infiltrates earlier that evening and did not require
additional imaging. The CT scan was attempted at 2 AM but could not be completed due to the
patient’s anxiety but the basis for this study was to evaluate for a pulmonary embolism which we
know Ms. Powell did not have based on her autopsy results. In addition, even if another chest x-
ray was done, it would have had no meaningful effect in changing the treatment course. She was
already receiving respiratory support and had a nebulizer therapy at 4:18 AM by the respiratory
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services who did not feel needed escalation of care. Furthermore, she was already on adequate
pharmacotherapy which was being delivered intravenously.

Dr. Cumbo indicates that anxiety is a diagnosis of exclusion once other causes of dyspnea have
been evaluated. In Ms. Powell’s case, her dyspnea was appropriately attributed to pneumonia
and thus her tachycardia and elevated respiratory rates were appropriately attributed to anxiety
symptoms. Dr. Cumbo indicates the benzodiazepines likely suppressed Ms. Powell’s respiratory
drive but as noted extensively my initial report, an elevated respiratory rate of 30 does not
support evidence of respiratory depression from benzodiazepines. In addition, the last dose of
Ativan was given at 3:42 AM which was 3 hours and 47 minutes prior to the code event and if
there was respiratory depression, it would have manifested itself within an immediate time
period given the rapid onset of action of iv Ativan. Thus, there is no evidence that Ativan led to
respiratory depression or was the cause of respiratory failure and subsequent code. Ms. Powell’s
decompensation was rather due to pneumonia and acute mucous plugging that led to her sudden
event at 06:15 as supported by the large mucus plug removed at time of intubation. Dr. Cumbo
indicates that it is uncommon to have clinical worsening after an initial improvement on
antibiotics. However, there is significant patient heterogeneity in regard to response to
antibiotics and a patient’s specific clinical course. Patients can have improvement initially and
can then worsen over time. In addition, a mucous plug is an additive event that leads to acute
hypoxia and immediate respiratory failure which is independent of the association of clinical
worsening and antibiotic therapy.

Dr. Cumbo’s reference to identification and care of a patient at risk for suicide in the acute care
setting is not interpreted appropriately in his report. The patient’s suicide attempt was prior to
admission and she was not demonstrating ongoing suicidal ideation which would place her at
high risk for self-harm. Ms. Powell did not show a change in behavior as related to suicidal
ideation in any way and did not require a sitter for this reason.

In summary, I disagree that Ms. Powell’s situation was preventable. She had a pneumonia that
was progressive but adequately treated on the medical floor until she had an acute mucous plug
superimposed on her pneumonia at 6:10 AM that led to her code blue event. Her monitoring was
appropriate, physician notification was not required and would not have change the plan of care
and a rapid response was not necessary for the reasons outlined above.

Similarly, Dr. Lineback’s statement that Ativan led to respiratory suppression is not supported by
the facts in this case. As indicated in my initial report, the Ativan dose was last given at 3:27
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AM which was almost 3 hours and 45 minutes prior to her code blude event. There is no
evidence of a temporal association between the two given the rapid onset of action of Ativan.
Ms. Powell’s respiratory rate was in the 30s which does not support respiratory suppression.
This respiratory rate was elevated due to anxiety and was appropriately treated by Ativan which
was given at very low doses.

Dr. Lineback claims that the patient was complaining of shortness of breath and not cooperating
with respiratory assessments and removing her mask repeatedly and saying” I can’t do this
anymore and it’s not worth it”. This clinical course and her statements do not support that the
standard of care was violated. Shortness of breath is expected in a patient with ongoing
pneumonia. There was no labored breathing at 4:15 AM after her anxiety improved. There was
no excessive sedation based on Ms. Powell’s vitals, documentation by staff, and numerous
bedside assessments by the providers in this case. In addition, even if Ms. Powell was not
perfectly visible as suggested on the video monitor, this referred to her nasal cannula. One,
however, would be able to assess for distress and a change in condition and L2K signatures at
05:00 and 06:00 supported stability.

Although it is correct that Ms. Powell had progressive pneumonia and an elevation of WBC
count, Dr. Lineback inappropriately refers to this as deterioration such that a higher level of care
was needed. Although she may have been short of breath, this is not unexpected given the
patient had pneumonia. Dr. Lineback then states that the entries from the medical record describe
a classical presentation of hypoxia where a normal response is anxiety and lack of cooperation
including removing masks. A saturation of 90% early that morning prior to the code event and a
normal PO2 on an ABG late the day prior does not support profound hypoxia such that a patient
was demonstrating a change in mental status and lack of cooperation. Dr. Lineback further states
that it’s inappropriate to treat with a drug that further suppresses respiratory drive. As indicated
above and in my initial report, there is no indication of any respiratory suppression by Ativan. In
addition, an arterial blood gas was not indicated at the time of event in question as the patient
was stable. The respiratory therapist also did not find a need to escalate care or to obtain an ABG
at the time she began the nebulizer therapy at 04:08 or completed the treatment at 04:47. The
standard of care was not violated by Dr. Concio in providing Ativan given her anxiety symptoms
even though her pneumonia was ongoing and clinically more prominent on the 10®. Similarly,
Dr. Shah did not violate the standard of care in the use of Ativan. Dr. Lineback indicates that
Ativan should not be given following an episode of acute respiratory failure that required
endotracheal intubation and mechanical ventilation. There is no reasoning for this. After
patients have been intubated and subsequently extubated, appropriate clinical judgment should
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guide the use of anti-anxiety medications and prior intubation and mechanical ventilation would
not be exclusionary criteria for the use of such drugs.

As noted in Dr. Stein’s report, Dr. Skankey and Dr. Breeden were not required by the standard of
care to contemporaneously obtain vital signs at the time of patient evaluation. The standard of
care however does require appropriate clinical decision making based on the diagnostic
information a physician obtains at the time a patient is evaluated which occurred in this case.

I disagree with Dr. Stein’s assertion that Ms. Powell was too unstable at the time of CT
angiography to have the test. Although she did have shortness of breath, it is not unusual for
patients who have pneumonia to have trouble lying flat due to significant pulmonary secretions.
In addition, multiple RN and physician notes indicate that Ms. Powell had anxiety related
symptoms in addition to shortness of breath which would be expected from her pneumonia.

There is no evidence that Ms. Powell’s failure to cooperate with the respiratory assessment and
treatment along with removing her mask was due to anything other than anxiety and agitation.
Her hypoxia based on saturation was not profound enough to lead to level of non-cooperation.
Even though it was discussed between the house supervisor and the camera monitor operator on
moving Ms. Powell to a different room, her condition significantly stabilized as she calmed
down and was less labored at 4:15 AM. Thus, her clinical condition no longer required any
escalation of care for monitoring or change in room with different video capabilities.

Ms. Powell did have a worsening in her pneumonia with relative hypoxia and elevated WBC
count with infiltrates on her chest x-ray as Dr. Stein indicates. As the evening progressed after
Dr. Skankey’s evaluation at 17:05, Ms. Powell was short of breath but was being adequately
treated. There is no evidence that she needed increasing amounts of oxygen that could not be
provided safely and appropriately on the medical floor. Respiratory therapy would be most
experienced in understanding the need to escalate care and felt no need to do so aside from
providing a face mask for more comfort rather than nasal cannula and providing nebulizer
therapy while antibiotics were ongoing for her pneumonia. Nursing staff appropriately contacted
the night physician who appropriately ordered Ativan for anxiety symptoms. Nursing staff also
appropriately discussed Ms. Powell’s condition with their supervisor and were discussing options
to ensure Ms. Powell was getting appropriate care. Her condition improved by 4:18 AM and she
did not require any change in her treatment plan or require transfer to higher level of care. As
indicated in my initial report, there was no indication to transfer Ms. Powell to the intensive care
unit. She did not require noninvasive ventilation or endotracheal intubation and mechanical
ventilation as her condition had improved significantly and she was seen by care providers at
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04:00, 04:08, 04:15, 04:18, 04:47, and 05:00 and was found to be stable. Dr. Steinberg refers to
the use of Lasix which could have been provided in Ms. Powell’s case but her outcome would
have been no different with Lasix which was not indicated. She did not require transfer to a
higher level of care and the outcome would not have been any different based on any addition
treatments had she moved to an intensive care unit setting.

Contrary to Dr. Stein’s allegation, Dr. Concio was provided appropriate information regarding
Ms. Powell’s condition and had access to her medical record and appropriately ordered
antianxiety medications. The Ativan that was prescribed had no impact in causing any
respiratory depression or leading to her subsequent code blue event which was due to pneumonia
complicated by an acute mucous plug.

In addition, Ms. Powell’s vital signs, respiratory status, and symptoms of shortness of breath in
an attempt to lie flat at radiology at the time of her CT represented her ongoing pneumonia and
did not warrant a rapid response call as alleged by Dr. Stein.

At 4:08 AM, Ms. Powell’s tachycardia and high respiratory rate were due to anxiety along with a
subsequent nebulizer therapy. Her saturation of 90% was adequate and appropriate given her
medical diagnosis. Ativan had no respiratory depressant effect as alleged by Dr. Stein. There is
no indication for cardiac telemetry with continuous pulse oximetry nor would either have
changed the outcome.

In addition, Ms. Powell had pneumonia as determined by the autopsy and did not have a
pulmonary embolism. Thus, even if the CT angiography of the chest was done at 5:08 PM as
suggested by Dr. Stein, it would have been negative for any acute thromboembolic event and
would not have changed the treatment course.

The autopsy does not indicate congestive heart failure leading to edema or acute respiratory
distress syndrome as Dr. Stein indicates but the autopsy finding does indicate Ms. Powell had
pneumonia with significant secretion burden and clinically had acute mucous plugging.

I disagree with nurse Griffin’s opinions that nursing staff at Centennial Hills Hospital failed to
initiate a rapid response at 4:08 AM. Her oxygen delivery was changed from 3 L nasal cannula
to a nonrebreather mask with a flow road to 15 L mainly for comfort and due to anxiety rather
than for acute hypoxia from a change in her clinical condition. There is no evidence that the
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failure to visually monitor Ms. Powell led to her subsequent respiratory event or any delays in
identifying her condition.

Thank you for allowing me to provide addition information to support the opinion in my initial
report. All my opinions noted above are stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability.

Please do not hesitate to contact me should you have any further questions.

Sincerely,

Hiren Shah, MD SFHM
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August 24, 2021

Mr. Adam Garth

Lewis, Brisbois LLP

6385 South Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118

Re: Estate of Powell et al. v. Valley Health System LLC, et al.

Dear Mr. Garth:

As executive vice president with JS | Held, | have been retained to evaluate
economic losses claimed by plaintiffs in the above-captioned case. | have also
been retained to comment upon work product and/or testimony of plaintiffs’
retained damages experts. All opinions contained herein are made to a
reasonable degree of economic certainty.

| have been provided with the following documents:

1. Second Supplemental Responses to Defendant Valley Health System,
LLC's First Set of Interrogatories to Plaintiff Estate of Rebecca Powell
Through Brian Powell as Special Administrator, dated June 17, 2021;.

2. Plaintiffs’ Third Supplement to Initial Designation of Experts and Pre-Trial
List of Witnesses and Documents Pursuant to NRCP 16.1(A)(3), dated
June 18, 2021,

3. “Preliminary Report on Lifetime Earnings of Ms. Rebecca Powell,”
prepared by Terrence M. Clauretie, Ph.D, dated 6/18/2021.

| have also considered Nevada Revised Statute (NRS) 41.085.

Response to Report of Terrence M. Clauretie, Ph.D.:

The wrongful death statute in Nevada is NRS 41.085. It sets forth the
recoverable damages in a wrongful death lawsuit. Representatives on behalf of
the estate may only recover a) Any special damages, such as medical expenses,
which the decedent incurred or sustained before the decedent’s death, and
funeral expenses; and b) Any penalties, including, but not limited to, exemplary
or punitive damages, that the decedent would have recovered if the decedent
had lived.



Mr. Adam Garth
August 24, 2021
Page 2 of 3

An heir may be awarded pecuniary damages for the person’s grief or sorrow,
loss of probable support, companionship, society, comfort and consortium, and
damages for pain, suffering or disfigurement of the decedent.

| am unaware of any category of recoverable wrongful death damages that would
be measured based solely on a projection of the lifetime earnings of a decedent.
While “loss of probable support” is often related to the earnings of the decedent,
Dr. Clauretie’s report does not attempt to measure, not does it quantify the loss
of probable support to the heirs. Dr. Clauretie’s analysis does not differentiate
which part of those earnings, if any, would have gone towards the probable
support of the heirs, in accordance with the Nevada wrongful death statute. As
such, his conclusions do not provide any guidance as to the actual economic
damages, if any, suffered by the heirs of Ms. Powell. A finder of fact looking to
Dr. Clauretie’s report for numerical guidance in reaching a relevant determination
of the probable support that would have been provided to 3 adult heirs could
easily be misled by the current presentation.

Dr. Clauretie bases the lifetime earnings analysis on the assumption that Ms.
Powell was earning $5,000 per month, as indicated in Brian Powell's
interrogatory responses. Dr. Clauretie assumes that the decedent would have
continued to earn at a level commensurate with the initial assumption of $5,000
per month until the end of a worklife expectancy for a female “with a college
degree.” Dr. Clauretie does not cite any review or analysis of Ms. Powells’
historical income amounts from the customary sources relied upon by forensic
economists, including but not limited to: income tax documents, payroll records,
employment records, fringe benefit documentation, Social Security Earnings
History statement, etc., nor does it appear that Dr. Clauretie was in possession of
any of these materials in forming his opinions. These types of records are
important for consideration, as they can assist practitioners and finders of fact in
verifying the accuracy and the reasonableness of the claims being made. For
example, when an earnings stream is being projected at a certain level for 16-
plus years, it becomes important to look at the decedent’s earnings for an
extended period of time prior to death in order to assess whether the projection is
reasonably supported by the data. Without additional data and documentation
such as is mentioned above, one cannot verify the reliability or accuracy of Dr.
Clauretie’s projections.

Dr. Clauretie indicates that he based his worklife expectancy calculation on white
females with a college degree, based on tables from the Richards and
Donaldson 2" edition book, “Life and Worklife Expectancies.” The reference to
college degree is ambiguous, as there are several different college degree
categories, including Associates degree, Bachelor’s degree, etc. Generally, the
worklife expectancy for someone with an Associate degree is not the same as
the worklife expectancy for someone the same age with a Bachelor’'s degree. Dr.
Clauretie does not specify which worklife table and level of education he
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assumed in estimating a 16.4 year worklife expectancy for Ms. Powell. As such,

| am unable to opine on whether Dr. Clauretie’s worklife expectancy calculation is
accurate at this time. As additional information is received on this topic, | may
amend or augment my comments and opinions accordingly.

Although Dr. Clauretie’s report provides some interest rate data from June 4,
2021, and an Abstract from a 2014 journal article, his report does not address his
rationale for selecting an “offset” method (as opposed to any other method
utilized in the field of forensic economics) in this particular case. As such, | am
unable to provide meaningful commentary on Dr. Clauretie’s choice of the “offset
method at this time. As additional information is received on this topic, | may
amend or augment my comments and opinions accordingly.

Conclusion:

In conclusion, please note that all comments in this report are based on
information provided to date. As additional information is provided, | may amend
or augment my comments and opinions.

Please find enclosed copies of my CV, my list of testimonies, and a company fee
schedule.

If you have any questions, please do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,

Karl Erik Volk, M.A.

Enclosures
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AFFIDAVIT OF DR. SAMI HASHIM, M.D.

STATE OF NEW YORK }

COUNTY OF WESTCHESTER }

The undersigned affiant, Dr. Sami Hashim, M.D., being first duly sworn, hereby deposes and says:

1. Ihavereviewed the medical records pertaining to Rebecca Powell (Date of Birth: May 30, 1975/
Date of Death: May 11, 2017).

2. This affidavit is offered based upon my personal and professional knowledge. I am over the age of
eighteen and competent to testify to the matters set forth herein if called upon to do so.

3. Tam amedical doctor and senior attending physician in the Division of Endocrinology and
Metabolism at St. Luke’s Hospital/Medical Center at Mount Sinai in New York, New York. I have
been a Professor of Endocrinology, Internal Medicine, Metabolism & Nutritional Medicine at
Columbia University College of Physicians & Surgeons since the early 1070’s and was Chief of
Metabolic Research from 1971 to 1997. I have published over 200 papers in peer-reviewed journals
and am a recognized expert in the fields of internal medicine (including general medicine, which
includes cardiology, neurology, pulmonology and other specialties), endocrinology, metabolism
and nutrition. I have served on research review committees of the National Institute of Health. I
earned my MD degree from the State University of New York, with post graduate training at
Harvard University.

4. Thave worked as a senior attending physician and professor at St. Luke’s Hospital and Medical
Center, a Mount Sinai Medical Center affiliate hospital (previously affiliated with Columbia
University) for over 20 years. As a professor, I teach medical students, interns, residents all aspects
of internal and general medicine, in-patient and out-patient medical care. I complete medical
rounds each day sceing patients with and without medical students, interns, residents and I train
Fellows in many different specialties including Emergency Medicine, Cardiology, and Pulmonary
Medicine. I also attend to private patients at St. Luke’s.

5. Asasenior attending physician and Professor with decades of teaching and training medical students,
Interns, Residents and Fellows as well as attending to my own private patients, I can attest that
following Standard of Care (“SOC”) protocols is crucial and essential for proper diagnosis, treatment
and care management. Obviously, there are numerous SOC protocols, which begin from the time the
patient is first seen and examined at a hospital/medical center, post-admission, at time of discharge
and following discharge. Many of the protocols are basic, yet of critical importance to the patient’s
overall health welfare and ultimate recovery during the recuperation period following discharge. That
is why all hospitals/medical centers respect and adhere to strict guidelines and protocols described &

defined by each healthcare facility and even by federal law(s). Certainly, real-time information stated
1



and revealed in a patient’s medical records such as all chart notes, must be carefully evaluated and
considered as primary SOC as part of patient care management. Disregard of even basic protocols
can lead to catastrophic events and outcomes.

. I have reviewed the available medical records, summary reports and the HHS-Investigative Report
pertaining to Rebecca Powell. Evaluation of her medical records and reconstruction of an accurate
timeline was available in part (all records were requested, not all records were provided by Centennial
Hills Hospital & Medical Center). In my opinion, stated to a reasonable degree of medical
probability, the conduct of Centennial Hills Hospital & Medical Center (including its
hospitalists/nurses and other healthcare providers including Dr. Juliano Dionice, M.D., Dr. C.
Concio, M.D., Dr. Vishal Shah - presumed employees)—fell below the appropriate standards of care
that were owed to Rebecca Powell. The medical records and additional medical related information
I have reviewed reveal the following:

A. OnMay 3, 2017 at 3:27PDT, Rebecca Powell, a 41-year old adult female, was found by EMS
at home, unconscious with labored breathing and vomitus on her face. It was believed she
ingested an over-amount of Benadryl, Cymbalta and Ambien. EMS intubated Ms. Powell and
transported her to Centennial Hills Hospital—Emergency Department (ED). At ED, patient
was evaluated and diagnosed with:

e Respiratory Failure and low BP

e “Overdose on unknown amount of Benadryl, Cymbalta and ETOH”

e Review of Systems: “Within Normal Limits” (WNL)

o Sinus Tachycardia — no ectopy

e Lab results consistent with respiratory failure and over-dosage of suspected medications
o Acidosis

B. Notwithstanding clear evidence of intentional over-dosing of the substances mentioned, the
Death Certificate noted the only cause of death was due to: “Complications of Cymbalta
Intoxication.” Based on medical records, the patient did not and with high probability could
not have died from the cause of death stated in the Death Certificate. The patient died as a
direct consequence of respiratory failure directly due to below standard of care violations as
indicated by her medical records and reinforced by the Department of Health and Human
Services—Division of Health Quality and Compliance Investigative Report. Furthermore:

e After being admitted to Centennial Hills Hospital on 05/03/17, the patient’s health status
steadily improved over the course of almost a week.

e Patient was extubated in the ICU and moved to a medical floor.

e DPatient’s lab results improved daily.

e Pulmonologist consultation stated that the patient felt well enough and wanted to go
home. The specialist made no note to delay discharge.

e Healthcare providers told family members from out-of-town that the patient was doing
much better and “would be discharged soon.” Family returned to their homes out-of-state
based on the information they received.



e Metabolically, Cymbalta has a half-shelf life of approximately 12-24 hours, up to 48
hours if an over-amount is ingested. The patient didn’t have a downward health status
until 150 hours+ had transpired. Therefore, the possibility that she died from Cymbalta
intoxication or complication of, is not realistic.

e There was no medical evidence of the patient ingesting Ambien, Benadryl or ETOH, nor
did toxicology reports reveal any of those substances.

e On 05/04/17, the patient underwent a bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage. The
report stated, “There was no foreign material or deciduous matter evidenced.” Had the
patient aspirated vomitus, there would have been some endotracheal or bronchial
evidence of foreign or deciduous matter.

e From 05/07/17 — 05/11/17 — Over a period of nearly five days, medical records state the
patient steadily improved.

e 05/07/17- PROGRESS NOTES state “Patient alert and stable” and “Can upgrade diet
to Gl sofi.”

e 05/08/17 — “Patient vitals remain stable” and “No significant event during shifts.”
05/09/17 — PROGRESS NOTES (stating the patient had significantly improved and was
expected to be discharged)

e “Patient eager to go home. Denies any shortness of breath. No cough, shortness of
breath or sputum production.”

e Review of Systems — Normal

e Vitals — Normal

. Late on 05/10/17 and early hours of 05/11/17, the patient’s health status changed. Initially,
the changes were not even approaching critical by any stretch of consideration or concern.
However, the below standard of care related to inadequate and absent monitoring, lack of
diagnostic testing and improper treatment were directly related to the patient’s acutely
failing health status and ultimately her pronounced death at 6:57 AM on 05/11/17.

e On 05/10/17 at 2AM, patient started coughing and complained of SOB. Patient was
receiving O2-2L/NC

e At 10:51AM — Patient’s SO2 dropped to 92%
At 3:11PM — Patient complained of continued SOB and weakness

e At 4:11PM — Patient complaining of increased labor for breathing, states she feels like
she’s “drowning”

e Order for breathing treatment and Ativan IV Push ordered by Dr. Shah & administered
for anxiety with no improvement.

e Dr. Shah contacted who ordered STAT ABG and 2 view x-ray — Results showed
possible infiltrates or edema.

. On 05/11/17, the patient’s health status markedly declined.

e At2AM - A STAT CT scan of chest was ordered.

¢ At 2:20AM — Ativan IV Push (.5mg) was ordered by Dr. Concio & administered.

o At 2:40AM — CT Lab called to state patient was being returned to her room (701) and
CT could not be completed due to patient’s complaint of SOB and anxiety.

e (Note: At the very least, a portable x-ray should have been ordered when the
patient was returned to her room. It wasn’t.)

o At 3:27AM — Ativan IV Push was again ordered by Dr. Concio & administered.
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At 3:45AM - RT-Tech (Venessa) was called to assess the patient. Indicated that the
patient was not cooperative and kept removing the O2 mask. Also stated the patient
needed to be monitored with a “sitter.” Karen contacted House Supervisor David to
explain that a sitter was needed. He suggested placing the patient in wrist restraints.
When asked to closely monitor the patient, the camera monitor (John) noted that the
resolution of the camera/monitor did not allow him to see the patient enough to discern
when she attempted to remove the mask. He advised moving the patient to a room with
better video capability. The patient did not receive a “sitter” nor was she moved to
another room with adequate monitoring capability.

The patient was mis-diagnosed with ‘anxiety disorder’ by an unqualified healthcare
provider and there was no differential diagnosis presented by any physician at any time
on 05/11/17 when the patient was suffering from respiratory insufficiency.

Based on the administration of multiple doses of Ativan IV Push, the fact that the
patient had been receiving daily doses of Midazolam (another Benzodiazepine causing
respiratory depression), Acetylcysteine (can also cause respiratory symptoms), (at least
four other drugs with side effects of SOB, labored breathing and cough) and the period
of time from Ativan dosing to Code Blue was within less than 90 minutes. Given the
medication regimen the patient was on, it’s highly probable that administering the back
to back doses of Ativan IV Push to this patient (already in respiratory distress), the
inadequate and absent monitoring of the patient and other below standards of care as
verified in the Investigative Report, were all directly related to the patient’s acute
respiratory failure leading to the final cardiorespiratory event and death.

7. Dr. Dionice, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah, in my expert opinion, each one breached their duty.

A. Based on radiological reports as late as 05/10/17, stating there were no significant changes from
05/08/17, noting “possible infiltrates or edema.” This is extremely relevant in diagnosing and
treating the patient’s sudden respiratory change in health status late 05/10/17 and 05/11/17.

Since the patient was unable to undergo a CT scan due to “anxiety”, at the very least a
portable x-ray should have been ordered to determine if and what significant pulmonary
changes were present based on the presence of acute signs & symptoms. Each of the three
physicians aforementioned were aware of the patient’s acutely declining health status

and were responsible for not only ordering an alternative diagnostic imaging such as a
portable x-rav, but also obtaining & reporting the results to determine pulmonary
involvement based on her symptoms. Medical records do not reveal a portable x-ray
ordered when the CT scan was unable to be completed, nor any results of any x-ray
ordered after the attempted CT scan when the patient was returned to her room.

Based on the patient’s stable condition until late 05/10/17 and her acute decline in health
status on 05/11/17, an immediate differential diagnosis should have been made, which
absolutely should have included the possibility of side effect(s) and adverse reaction(s)

from _medications being administered. Given the nature of the sudden onset of the
patient’s symptoms, drug side effects and interactions should have been reviewed by each
of the three phyisicians aforementioned. The patient had been receiving six drugs,
including Ativan administered on 05/09/17 and 05/10/17, all having side effects directly




related to the symptoms and findings displayed by the patient at the time her health
acutely worsened on 05/10/17 & 05/11/17.

Without consideration of the probable drug side effects, adverse reactions and
interactions, which were most probably directly related to the patient’s acute symptoms,
the three physicians aforementioned, ignored even the possibility that her medications
might be the cause of her symptoms & declining health status. Consequently, not one of
the three phyvsicians aforementioned even placed drug(s) side effects/adverse reactions

on any differential diagnosis.

Instead of performing their professional duty related to prescribed and administered
medications. all three of the physicians aforementioned were aware of the decision to
administer even more Ativan IV-Push, multiple times in a short period of time to treat
the patient’s symptom of anxiery. It was the responsibility of each of the three physicians
to _have been aware and knowledeeable that administering Ativan to a respiratory
compromised_patient has sienificant risks related to serious pulmonary/respiratory

function. The FDA provides warnings with the use of benzodiazepines of such risk.

Interactions with other drugs (not only when used concomitantly with opiates) can
compound the seriousness of the risk(s).

Had any of the three physicians aforementioned, reviewed the patient’s drug regimen,
they would have realized that several of the drugs caused, shortness of breath (SOB) and
associated anxiety, cough, labored breathing, weakness and other related symptoms
exhibited by the patient. Had any of the three aforementioned physicians, reviewed the
side effects, Ativan (known to potentially cause and/or increase respiratory depression)
would not have been administered, especially not by IV-Push (the effects are much faster
and more dramatically pronounced).

8. Department of Health and Human Services—NV Bureau of Health Quality and Compliance
Investigative Report, not only reinforced my findings, but revealed many other below standard of
care violations, all related directly to the wrongful death of the patient. The information below,
provides examples of other below standard of care violations found in the medical records and as
part of the HHS—NYV Bureau’s Investigation:

There was no specific differential diagnosis shown in the records related to her
complaints and abnormal findings between 05/10/17 to 05/11/17.
The records stated numerous times that the patient needed to be elevated to a higher
level of care and required close monitoring. Neither were provided.
Respiratory Therapist — (““...the RT concluded the physician should have been
notified, the RRT activated and the level of care upgraded.”) The physician was not
notified, the RRT was not activated and the level of care was not elevated.
Registered Nurse — (“...RN explained normal vital signs were: B/P: 100/60, HR: no
more than 100 bpm, RR: 16-20 br/m and SPO2 no less than 92%. If a patient with a HR
of 130 bpm and RR of 30 br/m, the physician must be notified immediately and the RRT
activated.”) The patient had a HR of 130, SPO2 below 92% while receiving 3+
liters of oxygen and a respiratory rate of 30 bpm.. ) The physician was not notified.
The Legal 2000 Patient Frequency Observation Record — (““...they could not see the
incident on monitor and again advised to change the patient to room 832 (with working
camera). The record revealed at 6:10 AM, Code Blue was announced. The record
indicated the patient “last appeared to be sitting in close to upright position with fingers
5



possible in mouth for approximately one hour.”) IMPORTANT NOTE — The patient
was not changed to a different room as earlier advised. Hence, she was not being
adequately monitored, which was of critical importance. The last sentence in this
record reveals that for at least one hour the patient was in severe respiratory distress
and during that hour, no RN or CNA checked on the patient. This contradicts other
records and statements made by the RN and the CNA.

e Chief of Nursing Operations — (“'...the Chief of Nursing Operations (CNO) indicated
that the patient should have been monitored closely based on the vital signs and
condition. The CNQ acknowledged the Rapid Response Team (RRT) should have been
activated and the patient upgraded to a higher level of care.”’) The RRT was not
activated nor was the patient elevated to a higher level of care.

e Process Improvement Manager — (.. .the facility Process Improvement Manager
indicated the patient was not monitored by telemetry and the cardiac monitoring
documentation available for 05/11/17 was the EKG performed during the Code Blue.”)
The patient was already known to be in respiratory distress before she coded.
According to this record-note, the patient was not receiving any cardiac
monitoring and was only monitored during the code. (This is a shameful and gross
example of below standard of care. Any patient in respiratory distress needing a
re-breather mask and receiving the same medications for the present acute health
status, must be on telemetry to monitor cardiac status. In this patient’s case, it was
critically important given the fact she had been administered multiple IV PUSH
doses of ATIVAN, a drug known to depress the respiratory system.

¢ Respiratory Therapy Supervisor — (“...RT Supervisor confirmed according to the
vital signs documented in the record on 05/11/17 at 4:08 AM and 4:47 AM, the patient
was in respiratory distress and required an upgrade of the level of care.”’) On more
than one occasion during the same hour, the patient required being upgraded to a
higher level of care, but wasn’t upgraded. This note also indicates that during that
hour between 4:00 AM — 5 AM, no RN or CNA checked on the patient. This
contradicts other records and statements made by the RN and the CNA.

9. In my expert opinion, stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability, the failure to properly
diagnose the patient before she became acutely critical on 05/11/17, the failure of the healthcare
provider staff to adequately monitor the patient (also stated in the HHS-Investigative Report), the
failure to properly diagnose the patient, the failure to provide proper treatment (lacking review of the
patient’s medications) and administering the drug (Ativan) several times IV-Push in a respiratory
compromised patient, inclusively & directly led to the patient’s wrongful death. Additionally, there
were many other below Standard of Care violations as revealed and reported by the Department of
Health and Human Services. Nevada—Bureau of Health Care Quality and Compliance —
Investigation Report (Complaint Number - NV00049271) also related directly to Rebecca’s Powell’s
wrongful death.
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1 declare, under penalty of perjury, that the foregoing is true and comect fo the best of my knowledge
and belief. I reserve the right o change my opinions pending production and review of additional medical

records.
K dm/@%été &reliiva
Dr. Sami Hashim, MD.
Datet: __[[23 /207 4
A ¥
v
Swom tome beforethis /.5 day
W 2019.
Notary Public ¢~ O
BONNIE LEUNG

Notary Public - State af New York
MO, DILEG264261
Qualified in New York County
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My Commission Expires
.
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PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888 « Fax (702) 366-1940

O 0 3 S v bR W =

NN N NN N NN N e e e e e e e e e
(oo T o L & TS S =~ R v« B I ) S T R L 2 T )

COMP

PAULS. PADDA, ESQ. (NV Bar #10417)
Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com

JOSHUA Y. ANG, ESQ. (NV Bar #14026)
Email: ja@paulpaddalaw.com

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Blvd., Suite 300

Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL,
through BRIAN POWELL, as Special
Administrator; DARCI CREECY,
individually and as an Heir; TARYN
CREECY, individually and as an Heir;
ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as an
Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;

Plaintiffs,
vs.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC.,
a foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

Case No.

Dept No.

SUBJECT TO AUTOMATIC
ARBITRATION EXEMPTION -
1

2

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
2/4/2019 9:19 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERE OF THE COUE :I

A-19-788787-C

Department 14

COMPLAINT
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Pursuant To N.A.R. 3(A)-
Medical Malpractice

Amount In Controversy Exceeds
$50,000.00
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; |Initial here if requesting infon‘lnation from Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center.

releases of PHI for all reasons other than continued patient care.

AUTHORIZATION TO USE AND DISCLOSE PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

Nate: There will be/a charge of $.14 per page if source document is electronic or a charge of $.16 per page if source document is paper for

Initial here if requesting access to review original medical records.

Initial here if requesting patient record to be provided in electronic format (CD) or secure e-mail.

a $10 fee per CD.

will be subject to

Patients are entitled to one (1) free Compact Disc (CD) containing radiology images/films/recordings. Any requests for additional copies

teetxAchress : '
R NV Pise=o,

S

275-30 ~9)2Y

Szﬂc:ra]’s"é'ﬁi'L Numb
E '/'é' "GN

Email . ) ‘

|
action onthls.Authorlzatlon e ‘

_{This document authorizes |L,entenmal Hllls Hospital Medical Center to use and disclose Protected Health Information (PHI) as described below. Uses and
disclosures of PHI will be consistent wuth Nevada and Federal law concerning the privacy of PHI. Failure to provide all mformatlon requested will delay

tzate(sghstedsabovel i

| _HIVIAIDS
Mntal Healt

Xy R

5. fPIeasa lista0ateior eventa THRI
NOTICE OF RIGHTS AND OTHER" lNFORNTATION BaPRi

Drug and Alcohol Information
Informatio'n Sexually Transmitted Disease Information
poIntthis] :' !ﬁonzaﬂo’n wiﬂ,expprev(o olexceeagisyear)

=

3. Desgription einformationyineludedinUs . sclos re: ~Treatrentoat é’(s)"' ‘5_2 Sé @[2 to S‘ /
il o I ] D}/tory and P ysrca1 ergency Depadment

2% o
| PHl In Medical Record (Complete Chart Copy) QOperative Report Other (please specify):
; jology Image:s cD ! D},Ray Report ALL’K&Q?JSS TIMAGED MB’WLNC/M
Dlscharge Summary | Lab Reports/Pathology Reports o BT A'N
4E"§Byﬁsigmng my:;lm?fé'l?w"“‘l’iﬁ'ft,e;sp & A A AT idential, mfomat:on*"hmauthonzmg nnialdh HAD
Medical Centef#o release the mdlcated‘type‘of’mformationsnext'tofr;rmls purg“?%nt SethIS Anthorization from the treatment C»Q_p)/

- Genetic Information
Tuberculosis information

i

1. | understand that | have the right to revoke this authorization at any time. Such requests must be submitted in writing to the attention of Centennial
Hills Hospital Medical Center, Helalth Information Management Department at 6300 North Durango Boulevard, Las Vegas, Nevada, 89149. Phone:
(702){629-1300 Fax:|(702) 629-1645. Cancellation of my authorization will be effective when Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center receives my

signed request, but it will not apply to the information that was used or disclosed prior to that date.

2. |lunderstand that refulsal to sign this authorization will have no effect on my enroliment, eligibility for benefits, or the amount a third party payor pays for

the health services | receive.

3. | understand that the person or entity that receives this information may not be covered by the federal privacy regulations, in which case the

information above may be redlsclosed and no longer protected by these regulations. | also understand
disclose the information may recelve compensation for the use and/or disclosure.

that the person | am authorizing to use and/or

4. 1have a right to receive a copy of this authorization. | may inspect or obtain a copy of the protected health information that | am being asked to use or

disclose. i

,5/251_3_g sl noahdees

Bate

OtRSHENt.

@Ré’latlons_hj“

?‘ Date

Reason Patient Unable to Sign

_Evwin pick Up PHI
"I Mail PHI
2] please Fax PHI To Physician Indicated

0 Patient received copy of authorization Staff Initials:

BAR CODE Centennial Hills Hospital

A L Yt

AUTHOI}jZATION TO USE AND DISCLOSE
RI001 !
} (PMM# 78329158) (R 8115) (FOD)

TECTED HEALTH INFORMATION

PATIENT IDENTIFICATION



| Electronically Filed
05/25/2017 |

ORDR } ' .
CASSADY LAW OFFICES, P.C. Q@:.__,& e

Jasen E. Cassady Esq. CLERK OF THE COURT
Nevada Bar No. 8018 ) ‘
jasen(@cassadylawoffices.com
Brand: K. Cassady, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 12714
brandi@cassadylawoffices.com
Brendan M| McGraw, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11653 :
br=ndan@cassadylawofﬁces com
10799 West Twain Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
Phone (702) 650-4480

: (702)[650-5561
A tomeys for the Estate
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

O o0 N1 Gy kWD

In the Matter of the Estate of
' CASE NO.: P-17-091793-E

RECEIVED
MAY 25 2017
CLERK OF THE coyy
o

1 REBECCIA ANN POWELL a/k/a
12- REBECCA A. POWELL a/k/a DEPT NO.: PC-1
O REBECCA POWELL,
o 13 Deceased. Probate
N ,Q = .
Gk o9 14 ORDER TO RELEASE MEDICAL RECORDS
— O o D .
g = g Fi 15 THE COURT, having reviewed the Ex Parte Petition to Release Medical Records,;:and good
2854 . .
:1 =83 16| cause appearing,
28 17 IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the medical records for
% g 18] REBECCA ANN POWELL a/k/a REBECCA A. POWELL a/k/a REBECCA POWELL, held
<. : '
@) 19| withany andl all medical facilities, hospitals, clinics, physicians, rehabilitation facilities, acute care
20| facilities, nurse practitioners, and any other person or entity having medical records for the
- 21 Decedent, including, but not limited to:
CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL and its health care

' nssposamom&
L1 - Volurtary providers, nurses, doctors, staff, nurse practmoners, on-site

. om f:r?:ag:; pharmacy, and/or affiliates;
(bafof e/during
_}g;é,l a2 || shall release copies of said medical records to TARYN CREECY or her attomeys.
(statutory) Coe
Demsmios | DATED thiscA4 day of May, 2017. el
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- Stipulated 27 Submitted by: oo/ o
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Judgment : :
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} Electronically Filed
| : 05/25/2017
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CEgSADYi LAW OFFICES, P.C. Q@:_.‘_.& o AP
Jasen E. Cassady, Esq. CLERK OF THE COURT

Nevada Bar No. 8018
jasen(@cassadylawoffices.com
randi K. Cassady, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 12714
b_r;ﬁndi@cas‘sadvlawofﬁces.com
Brendan M| McGraw, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 11653
brendan@cassadylawoffices.com
10799 West Twain Avenue

Las Vegas, Nevada 89135
Phone: (702) 650-4480

Fax: (702)/650-5561

Attorneys for the Estate

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

In the Matter of the Estate of
REBECC‘A ANN POWELL a/k/a

CASENO.: P-17-091793-E

, BECC.‘A A.POWELL a/k/a DEPT NO.:  PC-1
BECCA POWELL,
| Deceased. : Probate

ORDER TO RELEASE MEDICAL RECORDS

THE COURT, having reviewed the Ex Parte Petition to Release ll!\'/Iedical Records,.and good
c+use appearing, v | : '

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED, ADJUDGED AND DECREED that the medical records for
REBECCA ANN POWELL a/k/a REBECCA A. POWELL a/k/a REBECCA POWELL, held

=

vith any and all medical facilities, hospitals, clinics, physicians, rehabilitation facilities, acute care

' f%cilities, nurse practitioners, and any other person or entity having medical records for the-

Decedent,|including, but not limited to:

CENTENNIAL HILLS HOSPITAL and its health care
providers, nurses, doctors, staff, nurse practitioners, on-site
| pharmacy, and/or affiliates;

hall release cdpies of said medical records to TARYN CREECY or her attorneys.
DATED thiscAY-day of May, 2017. |
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DISTRICT COURT JUDG
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Submittec;l by:

CASSAD:Y LAW OFFICES, P.C.

By: /éz—-/(\ /(/\'
Brendan M. McGraw, Esq.
_ Nevalda Bar No. 11653
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AUTHORIZATION TO USE AND DISCLOSE PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION
I:nmal here if ret#uestmg information from Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center.
Note: There will be a charge of $.14 per page if source document is electronic or a charge of $.16 per page if source document is paper for

! of PHI for all reasons other than continued patient care.

|
nitial here if req’uesting access to review original medical records. ‘

nitial here if requesting patient record to be provided in electronic format (CD) or secure e-mail. i

T
1
1
Patients are entitled to one (1) free Compact Disc (CD) containing radiology images/films/recordings. Any requests for addltlonal copies
will be subject to a $10 fee per CD. :

CREREUA Aud Do EL(L s/3./19737  23s=80-9/2Y

P.at‘lent_lwe;ame at Timé of Treatment | , Date of Birth Social Secu‘_‘g Number
£io. Rox 750 /3] g 216 7 9522

Street Address Home Phone Number
LAR VELAS NV 93 —0/2/ |

City * State Zip Code Work Phone Number

Email

action o

_[This document authorizes|Centenniat Hills Hospital Medical Center to use and disclose Protected Heaith Information (PHI) as described below. Uses and
disclosures of PHI will be Eonsistent with Nevada and Federal law concerning the privacy of PHI. ‘Failure to provide all information requested will delay

n this Authorization.

1. Person(s)/Organization(s) authorized to W’: (i Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center

. Purpose ofRequested Use or DisclGsure:

.3. Des

’ ptlon of the information included in Use or Disclosl?'_/ Treatment date(s): / 3 / /Zo JF o S f// / 2912
llng Record ‘ istory and Physical ?nergency Department
Other (please specify):

| PHI In Medlcal Record (Complete Chart Copy) QOperative Report
%@o‘ fogy Image CD ?Ray Report ALL 'R@?—JSS ¥ TMAGSD A/\‘Bmwm
Dlscharge Sum ary Lab Reports/Pathology Reports
4. By stgmng my initials next to the spec:f' c category of highly confidential information, | am authorlzmg Centennial Hills Hospltal
Medlgal Center to release the indicated type of information next to my initials pursuant to this Authonzatlon from the treatment
date(s) listed above.

T BoFT A

HARS
cod)

| HIV/IAIDS ICDrug and Alcohol Information i Genetic Information
"T{1_Mental Health Information Sexually Transmitted Disease Information 'Tuberculosis Information
5. Please list a date or event at which point this Authorization will expire (not to exceed 1 year): i
NOTICE OF RIGHTS AND OTHER INFORMATION:

Hills

Hospital Medical|Center, Heélth Information Management Department at 6900 North Durango Boulevard, Las' Vegas, Nevada, 89149. Phone:

1. 1 understand that | haTe the right {o revoke this authorization at any time. Such requests must be submitted in writing to the attention of Centennial

(702) 629-1300 Fax: (702) 629-1 645 Cancellation of my autherization will be effective when Centennial Hills Hospltal Medical Center receives my
signed request, but it \Llll not applyito the information that was used or disclosed prior to that date.

2. lund
the hi
3. fund

alth services | receive. !

;rstand that refusal to sign this authorization will have no effect on my enroliment, eligibility for benefits, or'the amount a third party payor pays for
erstand that the person or ent ty that receives this information may not be covered by the federal privacy regulatiéns, in which case the

information above may be redisclosed and no longer protected by these regulations. 1 also understand that the person | am authon‘zing to use and/or
disclose the information may receive compensation for the use and/or disclosure. :
4. | have a right to receive a copy of t'us authorization. | may inspect or obtain a copy of the protected health information that | am being asked to use or

disclose. ;
_Signature of Patient ‘ Date ; ]
el i .
e e “Taey () QCee,Qq B8/ 13 roghte—
Signature of Legal Representative : Print Name + Date Relationship To Patient
Witness Date’
1 witi Pick Up PHI
[ mait PHI
Reason Patient Unable tg Sign [ Please Fax PHI To Physician indicated
Q Patien:t received copy,of authorization Staff Initials:
BAR CODE PATIENT IDENTIFICATION
Centennial Hills Hospital |

. MEDICAL CENTER
AUTHORIZATION TO USE AND DISCLOSE
RI1001 PROTECTED HEALTH INFORMATION _
2

(PM’I\.E#J_S‘SZS.‘I 58) (R 8/15) (FOD)
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MRO
1000 Madison Avenue, Suite 100
Norristown, PA 19403

17117315
June 07, 2017

Verification Needed

O MRO

Phone: {610) 994-7500
Fax: (610)962-8421

Reference ID:

Taryn Creecy
P.0O. Box 750131
Las Vegas, NV 89136

MRO Request ID:17117315
MRO Online Tracking Number: TVHS7ABJBYXFG

On 5/25/2017 the following healthcare provider received your request for copies of medical records:

Centennial Hills Hospital
6900 North Durango Drive
Las Vegas, NV 89149

You requested records for: REBECCA POWELL

VERIFICATION NEEDED

MRO processes requests for copies of medical records on behalf of your
healthcare provider.

Your request for medical records has yieldetll65 pages of records. In
order to process your request in compliance with HIPAA, we need to verify that
you requested these records and that the address listed above is correct. (See 45
CFR § 164.514).

To verify your request information, please pay the balance due. Federal and

state laws permit healthcare providers and companies like MRO to charge
patients a "reasonable, cost-based fee" for copies of their medical records. (See 45
CFR § 164.524(c)(4)). You may pay the balance on the invoice by check by

sending payment to MRO, P.O. Box 6410, ,

Southeastern, PA 19398-6410 or online using a credit card at www.roilog.com.

If you have any questions, please call MRO at (610) 994-7500.

If you want to modify your request, please check the modification option on

the next page and submit a revised request that is more specific as to which parts
(e.g., tests, progress notes, etc.) or dates of service you would like to have sent to
you along with this form by fax to (610) 962-8421, via email at
Requestinformation@MROCorp.com, or by U.S. mail to MRO,

1000 Madison Avenue Suite 100, Norristown, PA 19403.

Fees
Search and Retrieval Fee: $0.00
Number of Pages: 1165
Tier 1: 593_20
Tier 2: $0.00
Tier 3: $0.00
Media pages/materials: (4]
Media Fee: $0.00
Certification Fee: $0.00
Adjustments: $0.00
Postage: $1.19
Sales Tax: $7.69
TOTAL: $102.08
Paid at Facility: ( $0.00)
Paid to MRO: ( $0.00)
BALANCE DUE: $102.08
PAYMENT:
You may pay this invoice online at:
www.roilog.com
You can send a check to:
MRO

P.O. Box 6410,
Southeastern, PA 19398-6410

MRO Tax ID (EIN): 01-0661910
Please write the Request # on the check

or return this invoice with the payment

If you want to cancel your request, please check off the cancellation option below and send this form to MRO by fax to

(610) 962-8421 or email Requestinformation@MROCorp.com, or by U.S. mail to MRO, 1000 Madison Avenue Suite 100, Norristown, PA 19403.

By payingthis invoice, you are representing that you have reviewed and approved the charges and have agreed to paythem.

Any dispute relating to this invoice must be presented before payingthis invoice. Any dispute not so presented iswaived.
All disputes must be resolved by arbitration under the Federal Arbitration Act through one or more neutral arbitrators

before the American Arbitration Association. Class arbitrations are not permitted. Disputes must be brought only inthe
claimant's individual capacity and not as a representative of a member or class. An arbitrator may not consolidate more

than one person's claims nor preside over any form of class proceeding.

Please contact MRO at (610) 994-7500 for any questions regarding this invoice.

MRO is the medical copy request processor for:
Centennial Hills Hospital
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CC Payment Receipt

Transaction Status: Approved

Transaction Date and Time: 6/12/2017 3:44:19 PM
Transaction Reference No.: 961989

Approval Code: 0000932555

Order Number: 17117315

Charge Amount: $102.08

Credit Card Number: XXXXXXXXXXXX2733

Credit Card Holder: Brian M. Powell
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Electronically Filed
2/16/2022 2:18 PM
Steven D. Grierson

CLERK OF THE COU
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PAUL S. PADDA, ESQ. (NV Bar #10417)
Email: psp@paulpaddalaw.com
SRILATA SHAH, ESQ. (NV Bar #6820)
Email: sri@paulpaddalaw.com

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC

4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103

Tele: (702) 366-1888

Fax: (702) 366-1940

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir;| Case No. A-19-788787-C
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an
Heir; ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as | Dept. No. XXX (30)
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;

Plaintiffs, NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER AND
DECISION REGARDING VALLEY

Vs. HEALTH SYSTEM’S MOTION FOR
FEES AND COUNTERMOTION FOR
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing FEES AND COSTS

business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center”), a foreign limited liability company;
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC,, a
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S.
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;

Defendants.

1

Estate of Rebecca Powell v. Valley Health System. LLC.. et. al.
Eighth Judicial District Court, Case No. A-19-788787-C (Dept. 30)
Notice Of Entry Of Order And Decision Regarding Valley Health System’s Motion For Fees
PPL #201297-15-06

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
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4560 South Decatur Boulevard, Suite 300

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
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Notice is hereby provided that the Court filed an Order and Decision pertaining to
Valley Health System’s Motion for Fees and the Countermotion for Fees and Costs. A copy of

that Order and Decision is attached hereto as Exhibit A.

Respectfully submitted,

Is! Poard S. Padda

Paul S. Padda, Esq.

Srilata Shah, Esq.

PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC
4560 South Decatur Blvd., #300
Las Vegas, Nevada 89103
Tele: (702) 366-1888

Counsel for Plaintiffs

Dated: February 16, 2022
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

Pursuant to the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure, the undersigned hereby certifies that
on this day, February 16, 2022, a copy of the foregoing NOTICE OF ENTRY OF ORDER
AND DECISION REGARDING VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM’S MOTION FOR FEES
AND COUNTERMOTION FOR FEES AND COSTS was filed and served through the
Court’s electronic filing system upon all parties and counsel identified on the Court’s master e-
service list.

/s/ Shellpi Sehrrom

Shelbi Schram, Litigation Assistant
PAUL PADDA LAW
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DISTRICT COURT CLERK OF THE
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA
-000-

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator;
DARCI CREECY, individually and as an Heir;
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an Heir;
ISATAH KHOSROF, individually and as an
Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually,

CASE NO.: A-19-788787-C
DEPT. NO.: XXX

Plaintiffs,
VvS.

VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing
Business as “Centennial Hills Hospital

Medical Center”), a foreign limited liability
Company; UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES,
INC., a foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE

S. JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR.
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an individual;
DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an individual;
DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z,

Defendants.

ORDER RE: VALLEY
HEALTH SYSTEM’S
MOTION FOR FEES
AND COUNTERMOTION
FOR FEES AND COSTS

e i T e e o L AN L S N LS W L W L WP R L

INTRODUCTION

The above-referenced matter is scheduled for a hearing on 2/18/22, with regard
to Defendant, Valley Health System (Centennial Hospital’s) Motion for Attorneys’ Fees
and Countermotion for Fees and Costs. Pursuant to the Administrative Orders of the
Court, as well as EDCR 2.23, these matters may be decided with or without oral
argument. This Court has determined that it would be appropriate to decide these
matters on the pleadings, and consequently, this Order issues.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On May 3, 2017, Rebecca Powell (“Plaintiff”) was taken to Centennial Hills
Hospital, a hospital owned and operated by Valley Health System, LLC (“Defendant”)
by EMS services after she was discovered with labored breathing and vomit on her face.
Plaintiff remained in Defendant’s care for a week, and her condition improved.

Case Number: A-19-788787-C
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However, on May 10, 2017, her condition began to deteriorate and on May 11, 2017, she
suffered an acute respiratory failure, resulting in her death.

Plaintiffs brought suit on February 4, 2019 alleging negligence/medical
malpractice, wrongful death pursuant to NRS 41.085, and negligent infliction of
emotional distress. Defendants filed Motions to Dismiss and for Summary Judgment,
which this Court denied. After a recent remand from the Nevada Supreme Court, on
11/19/21, the Court entered an Order Vacating Prior Order Denying Defendant Valley
Health System, LL.C DBA Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center’s Motion for
Summary Judgment and Granting Said Defendant’s Motion for Summary Judgment
Per Mandamus of Nevada Supreme Court. A Notice of Entry of Order was entered that
same day. On 11/22/21, Defendant Valley Health Systems filed a Motion for Attorneys
Fee and Verified Memorandum of Costs. On 12/3/21, Plaintiffs filed a Motion to
Extend Time to Respond to Defendants' Valley Health Systems, Dr. Dionice S. Juliano,
Dr. Conrado Concio, and Dr. Vishal Shah’s Memorandums of Costs. Plaintiffs received
an Order Shortening Time on 12/10/21. Following briefing, the Court entered an Order
denying Plaintiffs’ Motion to Extend Time to Respond, because of a lack of diligence on
part of the Plaintiffs. On 12/20/21, Valley filed an Opposition to Plaintiffs Motion to
Extend Time to Retax Costs, and Countermotion for Fees and Costs.

SUMMARY OF LEGAL AND FACTUAL ARGUMENTS

Defendant Valley Health System, LLC d/b/a Centennial Hills Hospital Medical
Center (CHH) seeks attorneys’ fees pursuant to NRCP 68(f) and NRS 17.117(10). CHH
argues that it is entitled to an award of attorneys’ fees because Plaintiffs rejected CHH’s
Offer of Judgment and then failed to obtain a more favorable judgment. See Albios v.
Horizon Cmtys., Inc., 122 Nev. 409, 417, 132 P.3d 1022 (2006); Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev.
260, 268, 350 P.3d 1139 (2015).

CHH states that it served an Offer of Judgment on Plaintiffs for a waiver of any
presently or potentially recoverable costs, in full and final settlement of the Plaintiff's
claims. Plaintiffs rejected this Offer of Judgment by failing to accept it within 14 days.
N.RC.P. 68(e) and N.R.S. 17.117(6). As this Court was directed by the Supreme Court to
vacate its order denying summary judgment to CHH and instead issue an order
granting CHH’s summary judgment motion, Plaintiffs failed to obtain more a favorable
judgment than the one offered to them in CHH’s Offer of Judgment. Thus, pursuant to
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N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.117, this Court has discretion to award CHH its attorneys’
fees.

CHH cites to Schowweiler v. Yancey Co., for the proposition that a Court must
consider the following factors in in exercising its discretion to award fees: (1) whether
the offeree brought his claims in good faith; (2) whether the offeror’s offer of judgment
was also brought in good faith in both timing and amount; (3) whether the offeree’s
decision to reject the offer of judgment was in bad faith or grossly unreasonable; and
(4) whether the amount of offeror’s requested fees is reasonable and justified.
Schouweiler, 101 Nev. 827, 833, 917 P.2d 786 (1985). CHH argues that all of the
Schouweiler factors weigh in favor of CHH.

As to the first factor, CHH notes that the Supreme Court determined Plaintiffs
were on notice of any alleged malpractice in this case, in possession of records long
before the statute of limitations expired, and knowingly initiated complaints to State
agencies manifesting definitive knowledge and belief of malpractice. Nevertheless,
CHH argues, Plaintiffs chose to initiate a lawsuit “which was dead on arrival,
continued to maintain it even after irrefutable evidence demonstrated its untenability,
and then used every opportunity to prevent the expenditure of additional resources in
order to prove the impropriety of the lawsuit.” Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ claims were not
brought in good faith.

With regard to the second factor, CHH argues that its Offer of Judgment was
brought in good faith in both timing and amount. At the time of the Offer, CHH had
incurred over $58,000.00 in costs defending Plaintiffs’ claims. The Offer was served
several days prior to CHH’s Motion for Summary Judgment and about one and a half
years after the lawsuit’s commencement. Before the Motion for Summary Judgment
was filed, Plaintiffs were in possession of documents that demonstrated irrefutable
evidence of inquiry notice. Plaintiffs were on notice of the statute of limitations issues
as early as July 2019 when CHH’s prior counsel filed a Motion to Dismiss. Therefore,
given Plaintiffs’ likelihood of losing on merits, the offered waiver of the right to seek
reimbursement of costs was reasonable in both timing and amount,

For similar reasons, CHH argues that Plaintiffs’ decision to reject the offer of
judgment was in bad faith and grossly unreasonable. Instead of abandoning their
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untimely filed action, Plaintiffs’ decision to pursue an untenable case caused CHH to
incur substantial legal costs and expenses to seek dismissal.

CHH argues that the fourth factor regarding the reasonableness of CHH’s
requested attorneys’ fees also weighs in favor of CHH. Pursuant to NRCP 68, CHH may
recover their attorneys’ fees from the date of service of the Offer of Judgment to the end
of the matter. In this case, CHH served an Offer of Judgment on 8/28/20 that expired
on 9/11/20. CHH states it incurred a total of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees alone (not
inclusive of expenses) from 8/28/20 to the present billing cycle (which does not
include all fees incurred in October 2021). Additionally, CHH incurred $31,401.10 in
disbursements including expert fees and other expenses since 8/28/20.

CHH argues that the amount of its bills is reasonable, given the amount of time
and energy needed to defend this case, engage in extensive written discovery, extensive
motions and appeals practice, and, expert time and expenses, due to Plaintiffs’ refusal
to stipulate to stay the litigation while the summary judgment issue made its way
through the court system. Additionally, medical malpractice cases are complex, involve
substantial amounts of expert testimony, and require a great deal of preparation. CHH
states that documents are available for in camera review by this Court, but were not
attached to the Motion in order to preserve attorney-client privilege and protect
information contained within the descriptions of the attorney billing.

With regard to the Brunzell vs. Golden Gate analysis, CHH indicates that
attorneys Mr. Garth and Mr. Vogel are experienced litigators that focus exclusively on
medical malpractice. Both have practiced many years and are partners at Lewis
Brisbois. They both billed $225/hour on this matter. Where appropriate, work was also
assigned to associate attorneys ($193.50/hour) and paralegals ($90/hour).

CHH notes that medical malpractice cases are complex and require an in-depth
understanding of both unique legal issues as well as the medical care and course that is
at issue. Plaintiffs claimed that they were entitled to $105,000,000.00 in damages
including $172,728.04 billed by CHH as a recoverable expense, plus a loss of earning
capacity of $1,348,596.

There were multiple highly skilled expert witnesses presented by both parties.
Further, nearly 14 months have passed since CHH’s Offer of Judgment expired,
including the participation in motion practice regarding a motion for summary
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judgment, two motions to stay proceedings (one in this Court and one in Supreme
Court), a writ petition to the Nevada Supreme Court, as well as extensive written'
discovery. CHH argues that its requested attorneys’ fees are well below the amounts
Nevada courts have found reasonable. Defendants are only requesting attorneys’ fees at
a rate of $225 and $193.50 per hour, and a paralegal rate of $90 per hour. CHH argues
that a consideration of the Brunzell factors shows that the recovery of the entire billed
amount of fees from August 28, 2020 to present is entirely appropriate. Brunzell, 85
Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).

In addition to all NRCP Rule 68 post offer fees and costs, CHH requests that
sanctions be imposed against Plaintiffs’ counsel for all pre-NRCP Rule 68 costs and fees
totaling $58,514.36 in accordance with NRS 7.085. CHH cites to EDCR 7.60, which
provides a further avenue of deterrence to attorneys, like Plaintiffs’ counsel who engage
in these unnecessary and flagrantly frivolous lawsuits, which are dead before they are
even filed. Accordingly, CHH argues that an award of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per
N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. §§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and
expenses pursuant to N.R.S. §§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60, is justified. CHH
argues that it is entitled to an award of his attorney’s fees and costs under NRS
§18.010(2)(b), as Plaintiffs maintained the lawsuit without reasonable grounds or to
harass the Defendants.

CHH’s separately filed a Verified Memorandum of Costs indicates that it seeks
costs, pursuant to NRS 18.005 and 18.020, as well as NRCP 68 and NRS 17.117, in the
amount of $42,492.03. A majority of the costs requested ($41,724.10) are for expert
fees. CHH argues that the experts all meet the factors set forth in Frazier v. Drake.

In Opposition, Plaintiffs argue that the medical malpractice, wrongful death, and
negligent infliction of emotional distress claims on behalf of the estate and surviving
children of Rebecca Powell were not frivolous, and the claims for wrongful
death/medical malpractice and negligent infliction of emotional distress were brought
in good faith. Because this Court denied several dispositive motions before the Nevada
Supreme Court ultimately directed this Court to vacate its Order denying CHH’s
Motion for Summary Judgment and enter judgment in favor of all the Defendants,
CHH did not “win” this matter on the merits.
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Plaintiffs argue that the dismissal of the case on an incorrect interpretation of
the facts and application of inquiry notice to all the named Plaintiffs by the Supreme
Court does not make the claims of Plaintiffs any less meritorious. Further, pursuant to
NRCP 68, and NRS 17.117(10), a party is not entitled to attorney’s fees simply because it
served an offer of judgment on the opposing party and that party failed to achieve a
more favorable verdict. The purpose of NRCP 68 is to encourage settlement; it is not to
force Plaintiffs' unfairly to forego legitimate claims. See Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev.
579, 668 P.2d 268 (1983).

Plaintiffs argue that their claims were brought in good faith, as HHS determined
that there were deficiencies in Ms. Powell’s care and the death certificate was
inaccurate. Additionally, this Court repeatedly found merit in Plaintiffs' Complaint and
their causes of action for wrongful death, medical malpractice, and negligent infliction
of emotional harm.

Plaintiffs argue that Defendant’s Offer of Judgment, to waive costs and fees, of
$58,514.36 was not reasonable and nor was it in good faith considering Plaintiffs'
causes of action for medical malpractice, wrongful death, and negligent infliction of
emotional harm. Plaintiffs lost their mother, who was only 41 years old at the time of
her death. It was reasonable for Plaintiffs to reject Defendants' Offer of Judgment, as
the terms of the Offer of Judgment did not provide for any monetary recovery to
Plaintiffs to compensate them for the loss of their mother. CHH indicated at the time it
had incurred $53,389.90 in fees and $5,124.46 in costs, but no supporting documents
were provided. Moreover, this Court denied the Motion for Summary Judgment.
Therefore, CHH incorrectly states that given the likelihood of losing on this issue, the
offered waiver of right to seek reimbursement of costs was reasonable in both timing
and amount. Further, Plaintiffs contend that their decision to reject the Offer of
Judgment was not grossly unreasonable nor in bad faith because no amount was being
offered in damages to the Plaintiffs.

With regard to the fees sought, Plaintiffs argue that CHH won on a technicality
at the Supreme Court, and not on the merits or by way of a jury verdict in favor of
Defendants. Plaintiffs argue that CHH incurred so much in fees because it continued
filing motions based on the same statute of limitations theory. Thus, CHH’s fees are
unreasonable and unjustified. Plaintiffs also claim they are unable to properly evaluate
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the reasonableness of CHH's attorney's fees because Defendant only presented a
surmmary of the fees that were incurred.

Plaintiffs argue that it is absurd for CHH to suggest that the provisions of NRS
7.085 even apply to the facts of this case, and that Plaintiffs’ attorneys violated NRS
18.010(2), NRCP 11 or EDCR 7.60. Plaintiffs further argue that CHH has not provided
factnal support to support the request for pre-NRCP 68 costs and fees pursuant to NRS
7.085. Plaintiffs ask that this Court deny the application for fees and costs as the
Plaintiffs did not submit frivolous or vexatious claims and did not over burden the
limited judicial resources nor did it hinder the timely resolution of meritorious claims.
Similarly, Plaintiffs contend that CHH has not provided any factual support for its
request for attorneys’ fees pursuant to EDCR 7.60 or 18.010(2).

In Reply, CHH argues that Plaintiffs’ entire opposition is predicated on the false
assertion that they possessed a viable case in the first instance. CHH argues that,
“Plaintiffs’ entire argument is that because this Court repeatedly denied dismissal
attempts by the respective defendants despite clear, convincing, and irrefutable
evidence of inquiry notice which each and every plaintiff possessed, they are somehow
absolved from either their malpractice or unethical practice of pursuing a case which
was dead on arrival when filed.”

CHH argues that the Nevada Supreme Court held that the “district court
manifestly abused its discretion when it denied summary judgment.” CHH argues that
this matter should have been dismissed a year ago at the latest.

FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

With regard to the requested costs, in Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 357 P.3d
365 (NV.Ct.of App., 2015), the Court noted that NRS 18.005(5) provides for the
recovery of “reasonable fees of not more than five expert witnesses in an amount of not
more than $1,500 for each witness unless the court allows a larger fee after
determining that the circumstances surrounding the expert’s testimony were of such
necessity as to require the larger fee.” Id., at 644. The Court went on to state the
following:

. . . . we conclude that any award of expert witness fees in excess of $1,500
per expert under NRS 18.005(5) must be supported by an express,
careful, and preferably written explanation of the court's analysis of
factors pertinent to determining the reasonableness of the requested fees
and whether “the circumstances surrounding the expert's testimony were

]




10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

of such necessity as to require the larger fee.” See NRS 18.005(5); cf.
Young v. Johnny Ribeiro Bldg., Inc., 106 Nev. 88, 93, 787 P.2d 777, 780
(1990) (requiring an “express, careful and preferably written explanation”
of the district court's analysis of factors pertinent to determining whether
a dismissal with prejudice is an appropriate discovery sanction). In
evaluating requests for such awards, district courts should
consider the importance of the expert's testimony to the
party's case; the degree to which the expert's opinion aided
the trier of fact in deciding the case; whether the expert's
reports or testimony were repetitive of other expert witnesses;
the extent and nature of the work performed by the expert;
whether the expert had to conduct independent investigations
or testing; the amount of time the expert spent in court,
preparing a report, and preparing for trial; the expert's area
of expertise; the expert's education and training; the fee
actually charged to the party who retained the expert; the fees
traditionally charged by the expert on related matters;
comparable experts’ fees charged in similar cases; and, {fan
expert is retained from outside the area where the trial is held,
the fees and costs that would have been incurred to hirea
comparable expert where the trial was held.

Id., at 650-651.

The Defendant, CHH, argues the importance of the testimony of each of the
witnesses, and how their respective opinions were necessary for the Defendant’s case.
CHH argues that the medical experts expended “many hours,” and “prepared two
written reports.” There was no discussion in the briefing about repetitiveness, whether
they had to conduct independent investigations or testing, the amount of time spent in
court, preparing reports, or preparing for trial, the fees charged to the Defendant, and
the fees traditionally charged, and what they charge compared to other experts, etc.
Consequently, the Court could allow the expert fee of $1,500.00, for up to 5 expert
witnesses, if the Court were able to find that the experts were relevant and the fees
incurred, but the Court cannot allow expert fees in excess of $1,500.00 without a
Frazier analysis.

Additionally, the Court notes that any costs awarded need to be itemized and
documented. The Nevada Supreme Court has stated that without “itemization or
justifying documentation,” the Court is “unable to ascertain whether such costs were
accurately assessed.” Bobby Berosini, Ltd. V. People for the Ethical Treatment of
Animals, 114 Nev. 1348, 1353, 971 P.2d 383 (1998). Further, when the “memorandum
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of costs is completely void of any specific itemization,” and a “lack of supporting
documentation,” it is an abuse of discretion on the part of the Court if it awards the
requested costs. Id. The Supreme Court has further indicated that “’justifying
documentation’ must mean something more than a memorandum of costs.” Cadle Co.
v. Woods & Erickson, LLP, 131 Nev. 114, 121, 345 P.3d 1049 (2015). The Court has
further indicated that “Without evidence to determine whether a cost was reasonable
and necessary, a district court may not award costs.” Id., citing Peta, 114 Nev. at 1353,
971 P.2d at 386. In this case, Defendant produced a “Disbursement Diary,” but based
on the above-referenced cases, this is insufficient to support the requested costs. There
is insufficient evidence submitted for the Court to determine whether the requested
costs were reasonable and necessary, there was no specific itemization, other than the
Disbursement Diary, and there were no supporting documents.

Based upon the foregoing, the Court cannot award costs.

NRCP 68 provides in pertinent part as follows:

Rule 68. Offers of Judgment

(a) TheOffer. At any time more than 21 days before trial, any party
may serve an offer in writing to allow judgment to be taken in accordance
with its terms and conditions. Unless otherwise specified, an offer made
under this rule is an offer to resolve all claims in the action between the
parties to the date of the offer, including costs, expenses, interest, and if
attorney fees are permitted by law or contract, attorney fees.

(d) Acceptance of the Offer and Dismissal or Entry of Judgment.

(1) Within 14 days after service of the offer, the offeree may accept
the offer by serving written notice that the offer is accepted.

(2) Within 21 days after service of written notice that the offer is
accepted, the obligated party may pay the amount of the offer and obtain
dismissal of the claims, rather than entry of a judgment.

(3) If the claims are not dismissed, at any time after 21 days after
service of written notice that the offer is accepted, either party may file
the offer and notice of acceptance together with proof of service. The clerk
must then enter judgment accordingly. The court must allow costs in
accordance with NRS 18.110 unless the terms of the offer preclude a
separate award of costs. Any judgment entered under this section must be
expressly designated a compromise settlement.

(e) Failure to Accept Offer. If the offer is not accepted within 14
days after service, it will be considered rejected by the offeree and deemed
withdrawn by the offeror. . . . .Any offeree who fails to accept the offer
may be subject to the penalties of this rule.

(f) Penalties for Rejection of Offer.
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(1) InGeneral. If the offeree rejects an offer and fails to obtaina
more favorable judgment:

(A) the offeree cannot recover any costs, expenses, or attorney
fees and may not recover interest for the period after the service of the
offer and before the judgment; and

(B) the offeree must pay the offeror’s post-offer costs and
expenses, including a reasonable sum to cover any expenses incurred by
the offeror for each expert witness whose services were reasonably
necessary to prepare for and conduect the trial of the case, applicable
interest on the judgment from the time of the offer to the time of entry of
the judgment and reasonable attorney fees, if any be allowed, actually
incurred by the offeror from the time of the offer. If the offeror’s attorney
is collecting a contingent fee, the amount of any attorney fees awarded to
the party for whom the offer is made must be deducted from that
contingent fee.

NRCP 68.

NRCP 68 provides that the Defendant would be entitled to “reasonable attorney
fees, if any be allowed.” The language of the Rule specifically provides that Court with
“discretion,” as it relates to attorney’s fees, and the Court’s discretion will not be
disturbed absent a clear abuse of such discretion. Armstrong v. Riggi, 92 Nev. 280,
549 P.2d 753 (1976); Schouwseiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 712 P.2d 786 (1985);
Bidart v. American Title Ins. Co., 103 Nev. 175, 734 P.3d 732 (1987).

In evaluating whether to grant an award of attorney’s fees, pursuant to
Schouweiler v. Yancey Co., 101 Nev. 827, 712 P.2d 786 (1985), the Court must
consider: “(1) whether plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith; (2) whether
defendant's offer of judgment was brought in good faith in both its timing and amount;
(3) whether plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly
unreasonable or in bad faith; and (4) whether fees sought by the offeror are reasonable
and justified in amount.” Schouweiler at 833, citing Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579,
588, 668 P.2d 268 (1983)(the “Beattie Factors”).

In analyzing whether to award attorneys’ fees, the factors which need to be
considered pursuant to Brunzell, include the following: (1) the qualities of the advocate:
his ability, training, education, experience, professional standing and skill; (2) the
character of the work to be done: its difficulty, intricacy, importance, the time and skill
required, the responsibility imposed and the prominence and character of the parties
when they affect the importance of the litigation; (3) the work actually performed by

the lawyer: the skill, time and attention given to the work; and (4) the result: whether
10
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the attorney was successful and what benefits were derived. Schouweiler at 833-834,
citing to Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31 (1969)
(quoting Schwartz v. Schwerin, 85 Ariz. 242, 336 P.2d 144, 146 (1959)).

With regard to the attorney’s fees requested, this Motion is different from the
Motion for Fees filed by Drs. Concio and Shaw, in that CHH contends that it incurred
$110,930.85 in attorney’s fees since 8/28/20 (roughly twice the fees incurred by Drs.
Concio and Shaw). In considering the Beattie factors, the Court finds and concludes
that the plaintiff's claim was brought in good faith. The Court finds and concludes that
Defendant's offer of judgment, in the amount of $0.00, (offering to waive
approximately $58,500.00 in fees and costs), was brought in good faith in both its
timing and amount. The Court acknowledges that the parties disagree about this issue,
but as much as the Plaintiffs believed they had a valid case, the Defendants disputed

‘any liability. The Court further finds and concludes that Plaintiff's decision to reject the

offer and proceed to trial was not grossly unreasonable or in bad faith, Plaintiffs
believed they had a valid claim, and the Court cannot find that wanting some recovery,
as opposed to $0.00, to be “grossly unreasonable” or in “bad faith. With regard to a
determination of whether the fees sought by the Defendants are reasonable and
justified in amount, a Brunzell analysis is required. Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579,
588, 668 P.2d 268 (1983).

In determining the reasonableness of the fees requested, the Court has analyzed
the Brunzell factors, as follows: The Court finds that the qualities of defense counsel,
his ability, training, education, experience, professional standing and skill, favor an
award of fees. When considering the character of the work to be done - its difficulty,
intricacy, importance, the time and skill required, (when dealing with a professional
negligence/medical malpractice case), and finding that the character or prominence of
the parties was unremarkable, the complexity of the case warrants an award of fees.
The Court cannot evaluate the work actually performed by the lawyers, in this case, and
the skill, time and attention given to the work, without a detailed billing statement,
Although the Defendant has offered to submit a billing ledger to the Court in camera, it
would have been necessary for the Defendant to have submitted such ledger, and
disclosed it to the Plaintiff so that the reasonableness could have been addressed by all
parties, and by the Court. Finally, in considering the result, the Court notes that

i1
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although the Court found insufficient evidence to establish irrefutably that the statute
of limitations had expired, Defense counsel was successful in convincing the Supreme
Court of that, and consequently, Defendants prevailed. Brunzell v. Golden Gate Nat'l
Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 349, 455 P.2d 31 (1969). Based upon this NRCP 68 analysis, with
the exception of being able to analyze the reasonableness of the fees allegedly incurred,
the Court would likely have awarded at least some fees to the Defendant, at least for the
period of time after rejection of the Offer of Judgment. Without any evidence of the
fees actually accrued, and based on the amount requested, the Court cannot make a
finding as to the reasonableness of such fees, and consequently, the Court has no choice
under Brunzell and Beattie, to deny the request for Fees.
CONCLUSION/ORDER

Based upon the foregoing, and good cause appearing,

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Defendants’ Motion for Fees and Costs is
DENIED.

The Court requests that Plaintiff’s counsel prepare and process a Notice of Entry
with regard to this Order. |

Because this matter has been decided on the pleadings, the hearing scheduled
for 2/18/22 will be taken off calendar, and consequently, there is no need for any

parties or attorneys to appear.

Dated this 1_§tj‘| day of February, 2022

99B B52 25DC 68DD
Jerry A. Wiese
District Court Judge
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DISTRICT COURT

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

Estate of Rebecca Powell,
Plaintiff(s)
Vs,

Valley Health System, LLC,
Defendant(s)

CASE NO: A-19-788787-C

DEPT. NO. Department 30

|

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District
Court. The foregoing Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system to all
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Jessica Pincombe
John Cotton

Brad Shipley
Tony Abbatangelo
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Paul Padda
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LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH Lip

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071
TELEPHONE (213) 250-1800

UHS of Delaware, Inc.

367 South Gulph Road
King of Prussia, PA 19406

Attn: Richard Kim
Manager- Claims

Re: Estate of Rebecca Powell v. Centennial Hills

Our File No.: 28094-190
Court CLAR
Court Case No. A-19-788787-C

Current Fees through 05/31/20
Total Current Charges

LAWYERS
SUITE 4000
633 W. FIFTH STREET

FEDERAL I.D. NO 95-3720522

June 11, 2020
Invoice No.

$

*** Please return this page with your payment. ***

All Charges in US Dollars

DISBURSEMENTS MADE FOR YOUR ACCOUNT, FOR WHICH BILLS HAVE NOT YET BEEN RECEIVED,
WILL APPEAR ON A LATER STATEMENT

2677924

725.00
725.00
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LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH Lip

LAWYERS
SUITE 4000
633 W. FIFTH STREET
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071

TELEPHONE (213) 250-1800
FEDERAL I.D. NO 95-3720522

File 28094-190 UHS of Delaware, Inc. o 6/11/20
Number Estate of Rebecca Powell v. Centennial Hills 2677924
SBV1 Page 1
Date Atty Description of Services Rendered Hours
5/27/20 SBV Fact Investigation/Development: Communicate (Other Outside Counsel): Telephone
conference with transferring counsel regarding case status and history in Powell v. Centennial
Hills 5
5/27/20 SBV Fact Investigation/Development: Research: Research regarding plaintiff's expert Sami
Hashim, MD in Powell v. Centennial Hills 7
5/27/20 SBV Fact Investigation/Development: Research: Online search regarding co-defendant Dr.
Juliano, Dr. Concio and Dr. Shah 9
5/27/20 SBV Pleadings: Review/Analyze: Analyze Complaint in Powell v. Centennial Hills Hospital 5
5/27/20 SBV Fact Investigation/Development: Review/Analyze: Analyze court docket in Powell v.
Centennial Hills regarding case history 3
Effective
Recap of Services Hours Rate Fees
S. Brent Vogel 2.9 250.00 725.00
Total 2.9 725.00
Total Fees 725.00
Total Current Charges $ 725.00

DISBURSEMENTS MADE FOR YOUR ACCOUNT, FOR WHICH BILLS HAVE NOT YET BEEN RECEIVED,
WILL APPEAR ON A LATER STATEMENT

003



LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH Lip

LAWYERS
SUITE 4000
633 W. FIFTH STREET
LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071

TELEPHONE (213) 250-1800
FEDERAL I.D. NO 95-3720522

July 14, 2020
UHS of Delaware, Inc. Invoice No. 2701173

367 South Gulph Road
King of Prussia, PA 19406

Attn: Richard Kim
Manager- Claims

Re: Estate of Rebecca Powell v. Centennial Hills
Our File No.: 28094-190

Court CLAR
Court Case No. A-19-788787-C

Current Fees through 06/30/20 3,510.00

Current Disbursements through 06/30/20 27.43
Total Current Charges $ 3,5637.43

*** Please return this page with your payment. ***

All Charges in US Dollars

DISBURSEMENTS MADE FOR YOUR ACCOUNT, FOR WHICH BILLS HAVE NOT YET BEEN RECEIVED,
WILL APPEAR ON A LATER STATEMENT 004



LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH Lip

LOS ANGELES, CALIFORNIA 90071
TELEPHONE (213) 250-1800

UHS of Delaware, Inc.

367 South Gulph Road
King of Prussia, PA 19406

Attn: Richard Kim
Manager- Claims

Re: Estate of Rebecca Powell v. Centennial Hills

Our File No.: 28094-190
Court CLAR
Court Case No. A-19-788787-C

Current Fees through 06/30/20

Current Disbursements through 06/30/20
Total Current Charges

LAWYERS
SUITE 4000
633 W. FIFTH STREET

FEDERAL I.D. NO 95-3720522

July 14, 2020
Invoice No.

$

All Charges in US Dollars

DISBURSEMENTS MADE FOR YOUR ACCOUNT, FOR <ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>